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INTRODUCTION TO VOLUME TWELVE

the second book dealing with “ The Giant

Raft” The first part, “ Eight Hundred

& Leagues on the Amazon,” had been, as its

name suggests, mainly a geographical tale.

Readers were this time conducted through the tropical for-
ests and across the boundless prairies of Peru and Brazil.

In “ The Cryptogram,” however, the geographical inter-
est is almost entirely subordinate to the story. The solving
of the cryptogram becomes the central feature, in working
out which our author shows a skill scarce inferior to that of
Poe himself. Here, for the first time in the body of his
works, Verne takes express care to state his fondness for and
indebtedness to the work of Poe, whom he denominates
“that great analytical genius.” He points to Poe’s ©“ Gold
Bug” as the source of his own tale, calling the earlier story
a masterpiece “ never to be forgotten.” The handling and
appreciation of cipher writings in “The Cryptogram’ arve as
different from the superficial explanation of the cipher in
Verne’s earlier «“ Center of the Earth,” as is the appreciation
of a master from that of the most idle amateur.

In addition to his admiration of Poe, Verne in another
book expresses equal admiration and indebtedness toward
Dickens. He was also an enthusiastic devotee of Victor
Hugo and of F. Fenimove Cooper. Surely a sufficiently
cosmopolitan grouping of names! Yet it is worth noting
that the four men whom Verne turned to, whom he thus per-
haps unconsciously grouped together, are the four most ex-

reme of romantic writers who hold yet a grasp on realism.
It is to this group that Verne himself belongs.

“The Steam House” is again a two book story belonging

among the “Voyages Extraordinaives” In this case the
1
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E INTRODUCTION

country selected for depiction is India, and the characters,
except for the French traveler Maucler, are once more Eng-
lishmen. Thus, in a way, Verne had gone back to his first
love. His own practical qualities endeared to him this
calmly practical race. He was a Breton, a race quite as
much English as French in its characteristics. Indeed,
Verne himself was called among his confréres “ a half Eng-
lishman”” Certainly the characters of “ The Steam
House” are appreciatively and even affectionately drawn,
especially those of the hunter Captain Hood and his servant
Foax.

The events of the great “ Indian Mutiny” of 1857 which
supply the story of the book, are described with impartiality
toward both sides. This warm denunciation of the suffer-
ngs and wrongs of Hindoos as well as Englishmen, has
brought forth more than one protest from British sources.

As for the selection of India as the seat of the story,
Verne himself explained that his purpose was to cover, one
by ome, each of the countries of the globe, more especially
those little known, so as to make of his completed works a
sort of universal geography. Traveling under his guidance,
he meant that we should travel everywhere.

The mechanical invention of the steam house itself is in
no way impossible.  Such a construction was rather beyond
the skill of thirty years ago when the book was written; but
almost any good engineering firm to-day would contract to
build you such a “ steam-house ™ if you cared to afford the
expense. In fact our automobiles have already quite out-
done this somewhat clumsy giant steam-engine, both in
power and in speed.

Mainly then “ The Steam House,”and more especially its
second book, ““ Tigers and Traitors,” will be remembered as
a thrilling hunting story. “ Big game” incidents of the
most exciting yet most natural character, such as the in-
vasion of the naturalist’s kraal, throng its busy pages.




The Giant Raft

BOOK TWO

The Cryptogram

CHAPTER 1
THE FIRST MOMENTS

CARCELY had the pirogue which bore off
Joam Garral, or rather Joam Dacosta—for it
is more convenient that he should resume his
real name—disappeared, than Benito stepped
up to Manoel.

“ What is it you know ? "’ he asked.

“I know that your father is innocent! Yes, innocent!”
replied Manoel, “ and that he was sentenced to death three-
and-twenty years ago for a crime which he never com-
mitted !

“He has told you all about it, Manoel? ”’

“ All about it,” replied the young man. “ The noble
fazender did not wish that any part of his past life should
be hidden from him who, when he marries his daughter,
is to be his second son.”

“And the proof of his innocence my father can one
day produce?”

“That proof, Benito, lies wholly in the three-and-twenty
years of an honorable and honored life, lies entirely in the
bearing of Joam Dacosta, who comes forward to say to
justice, ‘ Here am I! I do not care for this false existence
any more. I do not care to hide under a name which is not
my true one! You have condemned an innocent man! Con-
fess your errbr and set matters right.” ”

“ And when my father spoke like that, you did not hesitate
for a moment to believe him? ”

“Not for an instant,” repl%ed Manoel.
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The hands of the two young fellows closed in a long
and cordial grasp. Then Benito went up to Padre Passanha.
“Padre,” he said, ““take my mother and sister away to
their rooms. Do not leave them all day. No one here
doubts my father’s innocence—not one, you know that!
To-morrow my mother and I will seek out the chief of
police. They will not refuse us permission to visit the prison.
No! that would be too cruel. We will see my father again,
and decide what steps shall be taken to procure his vindi-
cation.”

Yaquita was almost helpless, but the brave woman, though
nearly crushed by the sudden blow, arose. With Yaquita
Dacosta it was as with Yaquita Garral. She had not a
doubt as to the innocence of her husband. The idea even
never occurred to her that Joam Dacosta had been to blame
in marrying her under a name which was not his own. She
only thought of the life of happiness she had led with the
noble man who had been injured so unjustly. Yes! On
the morrow she would go to the gate of the prison, and
never leave it until it was opened! Padre Passanha took
her and her daughter, who could not restrain her tears, and
the three entered the house.

The two young fellows found themselves alone. “ And
now,” said Benito, “ T ought to know all that my father has
told you.”

“1 have nothing to hide from you.”

“Why did Torres come on board the jangada?”

“To sell to Joam Dacosta the secret of his past life.”

““And so, when we first met Torres in the forest of
Iquitos, his plan had already been formed to enter into
communication with my father? ”

“ There cannot be a doubt of it,” replied Manoel. “ The
scoundrel was on his way to the fazenda with the idea of
consummating a vile scheme of extortion which he had
been preparing for a long time.”

“ And when he learned from us that my father and his
whole family were about to pass the frontier, he suddenly
changed his line of conduct?”

“Yes. Because Joam Dacosta once in Brazilian territory
became more at his mercy than while within the frontiers
of Peru. That is why we found Torres at Tabatinga, where
he was waiting in expectation of our arrival.”
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“ And it was I who offered him a passage on the raft!”
exclaimed Benito, with a gesture of despair.

“ Brother,” said Manoel, “ you need not reproach your-
self. Torres would have joined us sooner or later. He was
not the man to abandon such a trail. Had we lost him at
Tabatinga, we should have found him at Manaos.”

“ Yes, Manoel, you are right. But we are not concerned
with the past now. We must think of the present. An end
to useless recriminations! Let us see!” And while speak-
ing, Benito, passing his hand across his forehead, endeavored
to grasp the details of this strange affair.

“How,” he asked, “ did Torres ascertain that my father
had been sentenced three-and-twenty years back for this
abominable crime at Tijuco?”

“I do not know,” answered Manoel, “and everything
leads me to think that your father did not know that.”

“ But Torres knew that Garral was the name under which
Joam Dacosta was living? ”

“ Evidently.”

“ And he knew that it was in Peru, at Iquitos, that for
so many years my father had taken refuge?”

“He knew it,”” said Manoel, “ but how he came to know
it I do not understand.”

“One more question,” continued Benito. ‘ What was
the proposition that Torres made to my father during the
short interview which preceded his expulsion? ”

“ He threatened to denounce Joam Garral as being Joam
Dacosta, if he declined to purchase his silence.”

“ And at what price? ”

““ At the price of his daughter’s hand!”” answered Manoel,
unhesitatingly, but pale with anger.

“ This scoundrel dared to do that!” exclaimed Benito.

“To this infamous request, Benito, you saw the reply
that your father gave.”

“Yes, Manoel, yes! The indignant reply of an honest
man. He kicked Torres off the raft. But it is not enough
to have kicked him out. No! That will not do for me. It
was on Torres’ information that they came here and ar-
rested my father; is not that so?”

“Yes, on his denunciation.”

“Very well,” continued Benito, shaking his fist toward
the left bank of the river, “I must find out Torres. I must
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know how he became master of the secret. He must tell
me if he knows the real author of this crime.- He shall
speak out. And if he does not speak out, I know what I
shall have to do.”

“ What you will have to do is for me to do as well!”
added Manoel, more coolly, but not less resolutely.

“ No, Manoel, no, to me alone!”

“We are brothers, Benito,” replied Manoel. “ The right
of demanding an explanation belongs to us both.”

Benito made no reply. Evidently on that subject his
decision was irrevocable.

At this moment the pilot Araujo, who had been observ-
ing the state of the river, came up to them.

‘““ Have you decided,” he asked, “ if the raft is to remain
at her moorings at the Isle of Muras, or to go on to the
port of Manaos?” The question had to be decided before
nightfall, and the sooner it was settled the better.

In fact, the news of the arrest of Joam Dacosta ought
already to have spread through the town. That it was of
a nature to excite the interest of the population of Manaos
could scarcely be doubted. But would it provoke more than
curiosity against the condemned man, who was the principal
author of the crime of Tijuco, which had formerly ereated
such a sensation? Qught they not fear that some popular
movement might be directed against the prisoner?

In the face of this hypothesis was it not better to leave
the jangada moored near the Isle of Muras on the right
bank of the river at a few miles from Manaos?

“No!” at length exclaimed Benito; ‘“to remain here
would look as though we were abandoning my father and
doubting his innocence—as though we were afraid to make
common cause with him. We must go to Manaos, and
without delay!”

“You are right,” replied Manoel. ““Let us go!”

Araujo, with an approving nod, began his preparations
for leaving the island. The maneuver necessitated a good
deal of care. They had to work the raft slantingly across
the current of the Amazon, here doubled in force by that
of the Rio Negro, and to make for the embouchure of the
tributary about a dozen miles down on the left bank.

The ropes were cast off from the island. The jangada,
again started on the river, began to drift off ' diagonally.
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Araujo, cleverly profiting by the bendings of the current,
which were due to the projections of the banks, and assisted
by the long poles of his crew, succeeded in working the
immense raft in the desired direction.

In two hours the jangada was on the other side of the
Amazon a little above the mouth of the Rio Negro, and
fairly in the current which was to take it to the lower bank
of the vast bay which opened on the left side of the
stream.

At five o’clock in the evening it was strongly moored
alongside this bank, not in the port of Manaos itself, which
it could not enter without stemming a rather powerful cur-
rent, but a short mile below it.

The raft was then in the black waters of the Rio Negro,
near rather a high bluff covered with cecropias with buds
of reddish brown, and palisaded with stiff-stalked reeds
called froxas, of which the Indians made some of their
weapons.

A few citizens were strolling along the bank. A feeling
of curiosity had doubtless attracted them to the anchorage
of the raft. The news of the arrest of Joam Dacosta had
soon spread about, but the curiosity of the Manaens did not
outrun their discretion, and they were very quiet.

Benito’s intention had been to land that evening, but
Manoel dissuaded him. ‘ Wait till to-morrow,” he said,
“night is approaching, and there is no necessity for us to
leave the raft.”

“So be it! To-morrow,” answered Benito.

And here Yaquita, followed by her daughter and Padre
Passanha, came out of the house. Minha was still weeping,
but her mother’s face was tearless, and she had that look
of calm resolution which showed that the wife was now
ready for all things, either to do her duty or to insist on
her rights.

Yaquita slowly advanced toward Manoel. ‘‘ Manoel,”
she said, “listen to what I have to say, for my conscience
commands me to speak as I am about to do.”

“I am listening,” replied Manoel.

Yaquita, looking him straight in the face, continued:
“Yesterday, after the interview you had with Joam Da-
cesta, my husband, you came to me and called me—mother!
You took Minha’s hand, and called her—your wife! You

b
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then knew everything, and the past life of Joam Dacosta
had been then disclosed to you.”

“Yes,” answered Manoel, ““ and Heaven forbid I should
have any hesitation in doing so!”

“ Perhaps so,” replied Yaquita; “ but then Joam Dacosta
had not been arrested. The position is not now the same.
However innocent he may be, my husband is in the hands
of justice; his past life has been publicly proclaimed. Minha
is a convict’s daughter.”

“ Minha Dacosta or Minha Garral, what matters it to
me? " exclaimed Manoel, who could keep silent no longer.

“ Manoel! ” murmured Minha.

And she would certainly have fallen, had not Lina’s arm
supported her.

“ Mother, if you do not wish to kill her,” said Manoel,
“call me your son!”

“My son! my child!”

It was all Yaquita could say, and the tears, which she
restrained with difficulty, filled her eyes. y

And then they all entered the house. But during the
long night not an hour’s sleep fell to the lot of the unfor-
tunate family who were so cruelly tried.

CHAPTER 1I
RETROSPECTIVE

Joam Dacosta had relied entirely on Judge Ribeiro, and
his death was most unfortunate.

Before he was judge at Manaos, and chief magistrate in
the province, Ribeiro had known the young clerk at the
time he was being prosecuted for the murder in the diamond
arrayal. He was then an advocate at Villa Rica, and he
it was who defended the prisoner at the trial. He took
the cause to heart and made it his own, and from an exami-
nation of the papers and detailed information, and not
from the simple fact of his position in the matter, he came
to the conclusion that his client was wrongfully accused,
and that he had taken not the slightest part in the murder
of the escort of the diamonds—in a word, that Joam Da-
costa was innocent,

But, notwithstanding this conviction, notwithstanding his
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talent and zeal, Ribeiro was unable to persuade the jury to
take the same view of the matter. How could he remove
so strong a presumption? If it was not Joam Dacosta, who
had every facility for informing the scoundrels of the con-
voy’s departure, who was it? The official who accompanied
the escort had perished with the greater part of the soldiers,
and suspicion could not point against him. Everything
agreed in distinguishing Dacosta as the true and only author
of the crime.

Ribeiro defended him with great warmth and with all
his powers, but he could not succeed in saving him. The
verdict of the jury was affirmative on all the questions.
Joam Dacosta, convicted of aggravated and premeditated
murder, did not even obtain the benefit of extenuating cir-
cumstances, and heard himself condemned to death.

There was no hope left for the accused. No commuta-
tion of the sentence was possible, for the crime was com-
mitted in the diamond arrayal. The condemned man was
lost. But during the night which preceded his execution,
and when the gallows was already erected, Joam Dacosta
managed to escape from the prison at Villa Rica. We know
the rest.

Twenty years later Ribeiro the advocate became the chief
justice of Manaos. In the depths of his retreat the fazender
of Iquitos heard of the change, and in it saw a favorable
opportunity for bringing forward the revision of the former
proceedings against him, with some chance of success. He
knew that the old convictions of the advocate would be still
unshaken in the mind of the judge. He therefore resolved
to try and rehabilitate himself. Had it not been for Ri-
beiro’s nomination to the chief justiceship in the province
of Amazones, he might perhaps have hesitated, for he had
no new material proof of his innocence to bring forward.
Although the honest man suffered acutely, he might still
have remained hidden in exile at Iquitos, and still have
asked for time to smother the remembrances of the horrible
occurrence, but something was urging him to act in the
matter without delay.

In fact, before Yaquita had spoken to him, Joam Dacosta
had noticed that Manoel was in love with his daughter.

The union of the young army doctor and his daughter
was in every respect a suitable one. It was evident to Joam
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that some day or other he would be asked for her hand in
marriage, and he did not wish to be obliged to refuse.

But then the thought that his daughter would have to
marry under a name which did not belong to her, that
Manoel Valdez, thinking he was entering the family of
Garral, would enter that of Dacosta, the head of which was
under sentence of death, was intolerable to him. No! The
wedding should not take place unless under proper condi-
tions! Never!

Let us recall what had happened up to this time. Four
years after the young clerk who eventually became the part-
ner of Magalhaes, had arrived at Iquitos, the old Portu-
guese had been taken back to the farm mortally injured.
A few days only were left for him to live. He was alarmed
at the thought that his daughter would be left alone and
unprotected ; but knowing that Joam and Yaquita were in
love with each other, he desired their union without delay.

Joam at first refused. He offered to remain the protector
or the servant of Yaquita without becoming her husband.
The wish of the dying Magalhaes was so urgent that re-
sistance became impossible. Yaquita put her hand into the
hand of Joam, and Joam did not withdraw it.

Yes! It was a serious matter! Joam Dacosta ought to
have confessed all, or to have fled forever from the house
in which he had been so hospitably received, from the estab-
lishment of which he had built up the prosperity! Yes!
To confess everything rather than to give to the daughter
of his benefactor a name which was not his, instead of the
name of a felon condemned to death for murder, innocent
though he might be!

But the case was pressing, the old fazender was on the
point of death, his hands were stretched out toward the
young people! Joam was silent, the marriage took place,
and the remainder of his life was devoted to the happiness
of the girl he had made his wife.

“The day when I confess everything,” Joam repeated,
“Yaquita will pardon everything! She will not doubt me
for an instant! But if I ought not to have deceived her,
I certainly will not deceive the honest fellow who wishes
to enter our family by marrying Minha! No! I would
rather give myself up and have done with this life!”

Many times had Joam thought of telling his wife about
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his past life. Yes! the avowal was on his lips whenever
she asked him to take her into Brazil, and with her and
her daughter descend the beautiful Amazon River. He
knew sufficient of Yaquita to be sure that her affection for
him would not thereby be diminished in the least. But
courage failed him!

And this is easily intelligible in the face of the happiness
of the family which increased on every side. This happi-
ness was his work. and it might be destroyed forever by his
return.

Such had been his life for those long years; such had
been the continuous source of his sufferings, of which he
had kept the secret so well; such had been the existence of
this man, who had no action to be ashamed of, and whom a
great injustice compelled to hide!

But at length the day arrived when there could no longer
remain a doubt as to the affection which Manoel bore to
Minha, when he could see that a year would not go by
before he was asked to give his consent to her marriage,
and after a short delay he no longer hesitated to proceed
in the matter.

A letter from him, addressed to Judge Ribeiro, acquaint-
ed the chief justice with the secret of the existence of Joam
Dacosta, with the name under which he was concealed, with
the place where he lived with his family, and at the same
time with his formal intention of delivering himself up to
justice, and taking steps to procure the revision of the pro-
ceedings, which would either result in his rehabilitation or
in the execution of the iniquitous judgment delivered at
Villa Rica. j

What were the feelings which agitated the heart of the
worthy magistrate? We can easily divine them. It was
no longer to the advocate that the accused applied, it was
to the chief justice of the province that the convict appealed.
Joam Dacosta gave himself over to him entirely, and did
not even ask him to keep the secret.

Judge Ribeiro was at first troubled about this unexpected
revelation, but he soon recovered himself, and scrupulously
considered the duties which the position imposed on him.
It was his place to pursue criminals, and here was one who
delivered himself into his hands. This criminal, it was
true, he had defended; he had never doubted but that he
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had been unjustly condemned; his joy had been extreme
when he saw him escape by flight from the last penalty; he
had even instigated and facilitated his flight! But what the
advocate had done in the past could the magistrate do in
the present?

“Well, yes!” had the judge said, “ my conscience tells
me not to abandon that just man. The step he is taking
is a fresh proof of his innocence, a moral proof, even if
he brings me others, which may be the most convincing of
all. No! I will not abandon him!”

From this day forward a secret correspondence took place
between the magistrate and Joam Dacosta. Ribeiro at the
outset cautioned his client against compromising himself by
his imprudence. He had again to work up the matter,
again to read over the papers, again to look through the
inquiries. He had to find out if any new facts had come
to light in the diamond province referring to so serious a
case. Had any of the accomplices of the crime, of the
smugglers who had attacked the convoy, been arrested
since the attempt? Had any confessions or half-con-
fessions been brought forward? Joam Dacosta had done
nothing but protest his innocence from the very first.
But that was not enough, and Judge Ribeiro was de-
sirous of finding in the case itself the clue to the real
culprit.

Joam Dacosta had accordingly been prudent. He had
promised to be so. But in all his trials it was an immense
consolation for him to find his old advocate, though now
a chief justice, so firmly convinced that he was not guilty.
Yes! Joam Dacosta, in spite of his condemnation, was a
victim, a martyr, an honest man to whom society owed a
signal reparation! And when the magistrate knew the past
career of the fazender of Iquitos since his sentence, the
position of his family, all that life of devotion, of work,
employed unceasingly for the happiness of those belonging
to him, he was not only more convinced but more affected,
and determined to do all he could to procure the rehabilita-
tion of the felon of Tijuco.

For six months a correspondence had passed between
these two men.

One day, the case being pressing, Joam Dacosta wrote to
Judge Ribeiro: :
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“In two months I will be with yeu, in the power of the
chief justice of the province!”

“ Come, then,” replied Ribeiro.

The jangada was then ready to go down the river. Joam
Dacosta embarked on it with all his people. During the
voyage, to the great astonishment of his wife and son, he
landed but rarely, as we know. More often he remained
shut up in his room, writing, working, not at his trade
accounts, but, without saying anything about it, at a kind
of memoir, which he called “ The History of My Life,”
and which was meant to be used in the revision of the legal
proceedings.

Eight days before his new arrest, made on account of
information given by Torres, which forestalled and per-
haps would ruin his prospects, he intrusted to an Indian
on the Amazon a letter, in which he warned Judge Ribeiro
of his approaching arrival.

The letter was sent and delivered as addressed, and the
magistrate only waited for Joam Dacosta to commence on
the serious undertaking which he hoped to bring to a suc-
cessful issue.

During the night before the arrival of the raft at Ma-
naos, Judge Ribeiro was seized with an attack of apoplexy.
But the denunciation of Torres, whose scheme of extortion
had collapsed in face of the noble anger of his victim, had
produced its effect. Joam Dacosta was arrested in the
bosom of his family, and his old advocate was zo longer
in this world to defend him.

Yes! the blow was terrible indeed. His lot was cast,
whatever his fate might be; there was no going back for
him! And Joam Dacosta rose from beneath the blow
which had so unexpectedly struck him! It was not only
his own honor which was in question, but the honor of all
who belonged to him!



CHAPTER III
MORAL PROOFS

THE warrant against Joam Dacosta, alias Joam Garral,
had been issued by the assistant of Judge Ribeiro, who
filled the position of magistrate in the province of Amazones,
until the nomination of the successor of the late justice.

This assistant bore the name of Vicente Jarriquez. He
was a surly little fellow, whom forty years’ practice in
criminal procedure had not rendered particularly friendly
toward those who came before him. He had had so many
cases of this sort, and tried and sentenced so many rascals,
that a prisoner’s innocence seemed to him a@ priori inad-
missible. To be sure, he did not come to a decision un-
conscientiously; but his conscience was strongly fortified,
and was not easily affected by the circumstances of the
examination or the arguments for the defense. Like a good
many judges, he thought but little of the indulgence of the
jury, and when a prisoner was brought before him, after
having passed through the sieve of inquest, inquiry, and
examination, there was every presumption in his eyes that
the man was quite ten times guilty.

Jarriquez, however, was not a bad man. Nervous,
fidgety, talkative, keen, crafty, he had a curious look about
him, with his big head on his little body; his ruffled hair,
which would not have disgraced the judge’s wig of the past;
his piercing, gimletlike eyes, with their expression of sur-
prising acuteness; his prominent nose, with which he would
assuredly have gesticulated had it been movable; his ears
wide open, so as to better catch all that was said, even
when it was out of range of ordinary auditory apparatus;
his fingers unceasingly tapping the table in front of him,
like those of a pianist practising on the mute; and his body
so long and his legs so short, and his feet perpetually cross-
ing and recrossing, as he sat in state in his magistrate’s
chair.

In private life, Jarriquez, who was a confirmed old
bachelor, never left his law books but for the table, which
he did not despise; for chess, of which he was a past master;
and above all things for Chinese puzzles, enigmas, charades,
rebuses, anagrams, riddles, and such things, with which,
like more than one Europeag justice—thorough sphinxes

1
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by taste as well as by profession—he principally passed his
leisure.

It will be seen that he was an original, and it will be
seen also how much Joam Dacosta had lost by the death
of Judge Ribeiro, inasmuch as his case would come before
this not very agreeable judge.

Moreover, the task of Jarriquez was in a way very simple.
He had neither to inquire nor to rule; he had not even to
regulate a discussion nor to obtain a verdict, neither to
apply the articles of the penal code, nor to pronounce a
sentence. Unfortunately for the fazender, such formalities
were no longer necessary; Joam Dacosta had been arrested,
convicted, and sentenced three-and-twenty years ago for
the crime at Tijuco; no limitation had yet affected his
sentence. No demand in commutation of the penalty could
be introduced, and no appeal for mercy could be received.
It was only necessary then to establish his identity, and
as soon as the order arrived from Rio Janeiro justice would
have taken its course.

But in the nature of things Joam Dacosta would protest
his innocence; he would say he had been unjustly con-
demned. The magistrate’s duty, notwithstanding the opin-
ions he held, would be to listen to him. The question would
be, what proofs could the convict offer to make good his
assertions? And if he was not able to produce them when
he appeared before his first judges, was he able to do so
now?

Herein consisted all the interest of the examination.
There would have to be admitted the fact of a defaulter,
prosperous and safe in a foreign country, leaving his re-
fuge of his own free will to face the justice which his past
life should have taught him to dread, and herein would be
one of those rare and curious cases which ought to interest
even a magistrate hardened with all the surroundings of
forensic strife. Was it impudent folly on the part of the
doomed man of Tijuco, who was tired of his life, or was
it the impulse of a conscience which would at all risks have
wrong set right? The problem was a strange one, it must
be acknowledged.

On the morrow of Joam Dacosta’s arrest, Judge Jar-
riquez made his way to the prison in God-the-Son Street,
where the convict had been placed. The prison was an old
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missionary convent, situated on the bank of one of the
principal inguarapes of the town. To the voluntary pris-
oners of former times there had succeeded in this build-
ing, which was but little adapted for the purpose, the com-
pulsory prisoners of to-day. The room occupied by Joam
Dacosta was nothing like one of those sad little cells which
form part of our modern penitentiary system; but an old
monk’s room, with a barred window without shutters, open-
ing on to an uncultivated space, a bench in one corner, and
a kind of pallet in the other.

It was from this apartment that Joam Dacosta, on this
25th of August, about eleven o’clock in the morning, was
taken and brought into the judge’s room, which was the old
common hall of the convent.

Judge Jarriquez was there in front of his desk, perched
on his high chair, his back turned toward the window, so
that his face was in shadow while that of the accused re-
mained in full daylight. His clerk, with the indifference
which characterizes these legal folks, had taken his seat at
the end of the table, his pen behind his ear, ready to record
the questions and answers.

Joam Dacosta was introduced into the room, and at a
sign from the judge the guards who had brought him
withdrew.

Judge Jarriquez looked at the accused for some time.
The latter, leaning slightly forward and maintaining a be-
coming attitude, neither careless nor humble, waited with
dignity for the questions to which he was expected to
reply.

“Your name? ” said Judge Jarriquez.

“ Joam Dacosta.”

“Your age?”

“ Fifty-two.”

“ Where do you live? ”

“In Peru, at the village of Iquitos.”

“ Under what name?”

“Under that of Garral, which is that of my mother.”

“ And why do you bear that name? ”

“ Because for three-and-twenty years I wished to hide
myself from the pursuit of Brazilian justice.”

The answers were so exact, and seemed to show that
Joam Dacosta had made up his mind to confess everything
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concerning his past life, that Judge Jarriquez, little accus-
tomed to such a course, cocked up his nose more than was
usual to him.

“ And why,” he continued, “should Brazilian justice
pursue you? ”’

‘“ Because I was sentenced to death in 1826 in the diamond
affair at Tijuco.”

“You confess then that you are Joam Dacosta? ”

“I am Joam Dacosta.”

All this was said with great calmness, and as simply as
possible. The little eyes of Judge Jarriquez, hidden by their
lids, seemed to say:

“ Never came across anything like this before.”

He had put the invariable question which had hitherto
brought the invariable reply from culprits of every category
protesting their innocence. The fingers of the judge began
to beat a gentle tattoo on the table.

“ Joam Dacosta,” he asked, “ what were you doing at
Iquitos? ”

“I was a fazender, and engaged in managing a farm-
ing establishment of considerable size.”

“ It was prospering?

“ Greatly prospering.”

“ How long ago did you leave your fazenda?”

“ About nine weeks.”

[{4 Why? ”

“As to that, sir,” answered Dacosta, “I invented a
pretext, but in reality I had a motive.”

“ What was the pretext?”

“ The responsibility of taking into Para a large raft, and
a cargo of different products of the Amazon.”

“ Ah! and what was the real motive of your departure? ”

And in asking this question Jarriquez said to himself:

“Now we shall get into denials and falsehoods.”

“The real motive,” replied Joam Dacosta, in a firm
voice, ““was the resolution I had taken to give myself up
to the justice of my country.”

“You give yourself up!” exclaimed the judge, rising
fron; ,his stool. ‘“ You give yourself up of your own free
will? ”

“Of my own free will.”

“ And why?”

V XII Verne
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“ Because I had had enough of this lying life, this obli-
gation to live under a false name, of this impossibility to
be able to restore to my wife and children that which be-
longs to them; in short, sir, because #

“ Because? ”

“1 was innocent! ”

“ That is what I was waiting for!” said Judge Jarri-
quez aside.

And while his fingers tattoed a slightly more audible
march, he made a sign with his head to Dacosta, which sig-
nified as clearly as possible: “ Go on! Tell me your his-
tory! I know it, but I do not wish to interrupt you in
telling it in your own way.”

Joam Dacosta, who did not disregard the magistrate’s
far from encouraging attitude, could not but see this, and
he told the history of his whole life. He spdke quietly
without departing from the calm he had imposed upon him-
self, without omitting any circumstances which had preceded
or succeeded his condemnation. In the same tone he in-
sisted on the honored and honorable life he had led since
his escape, and his duties as head of his family, as husband
and father, which he had so worthily fulfilled. He laid
stress only on one circumstance—that which had brought
him to Manaos to urge on the revision of the proceedings
against him, to procure his rehabilitation—and that he was
compelled to do.

Judge Jarriquez, who was naturally prepossessed against
all criminals, did not interrupt him. He contented himself
with opening and shutting his eyes like a man who heard
the story told for the hundredth time; and when Joam
Dacosta laid on the table the memoir which he had drawn
up, he made no movement to take it.

“You have finished? ” he said.

“Yes, sir.”

“ And you persist in asserting that you only left Iquitos
to procure the revision of the judgment against you? ”

“T had no other intention.”

“ What is there to prove that? Who can prove, that
without the denunciation which brought about your arrest,
you would have given yourself up?”

“This memoir in the first place.”

“ That memoir was in your possession, and there is noth-
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ing to show that had you not been arrested you would have
put it to the use you say you intended.”

“ At the least, sir, there was one thing that was not in
my possession, and of the authenticity of which there can
be no doubt.”

“What?”

“ The letter I wrote to your predecessor, Judge Ribeiro,
the letter which gave him notice of my early arrival.”

“ Ah! you wrote? ”

“Yes. And the letter which ought to have arrived at its
destination should have been handed over to you.”

“Really!” answered Judge Jarriquez, in a slightly in-
credulous tone. “ You wrote to Judge Ribeiro.”

“ Before he was a judge in this province,” answered Joam
Dacosta, “he was an advocate at Villa Rica. He it was
who defended me in the trial at Tijuco. He never doubted
the justice of my cause. He did all he could to save me.
Twenty years later, when he had become chief justice at
Manaos, I let him know who I was, where I was, and what
I wished to attempt. His opinion about me had not changed,
and it was at his advice I left the fazenda, and came in
person to proceed with my rehabilitation. But death un-
fortunately struck him, and maybe I shall be lost,
sir, if in Judge Jarriquez I do not find another Judge
Ribeiro.”

The magistrate, appealed to so directly, was about to
start up in defiance of all the traditions of the judicial
bench, but he managed to restrain himself, and was con-
tented with muttering, “ Very strong, indeed ; very strong!”

Judge Jarriquez was evidently hard of heart, and proof
against all surprise.

At this moment a guard entered the room, and handed
a sealed package to the magistrate.

He broke the seal and drew a letter from the envelope.
He opened it and read it, not without a certain contraction
of the eyebrows, and then said, “I have no reason for
hiding from you, Joam Dacosta, that this is the letter you
have been speaking about, addressed by you to Judge Ri-
beiro and sent on to me. I have, therefore, no reason to
doubt what you have said on the subject.”

“Not only on that subject,” answered Dacosta, “ but on
the subject of all the circumstances of my life which I have
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brought to your knowledge, and which are none of them
open to question.” )

“Eh! Joam Dacosta,” quickly replied Judge Jarriquez.
“ You protest your innocence ; but all prisoners do as much!
After all, you only offer moral presumptions. Have you
any material proof?”

“ Perhaps I have,” answered Joam Dacosta.

At these words, Judge Jarriquez left his chair. This was
too much for him, and he had to take two or three circuits
of the room to recover himself.

CHAPTER IV
MATERIAL PROOFS

WHEN the magistrate had again taken his place, like a
man who considered he was perfectly master of himself,
he leaned back in his chair, and with his head raised and
his eyes looking straight in front, as though not even notic-
ing the accused, remarked in a tone of the most perfect
indifference: “ Go on.”

Joam Dacosta reflected for a minute, as if hesitating to
resume the order of his thoughts, and then answered as
follows:

“Up to the present, sir, I have only given you moral
presumptions of my innocence grounded on the dignity,
propriety, and honesty of the whole of my life. I should
have thought that such proofs were those most worthy of
being brought forward in matters of justice.”

Judge Jarriquez could not restrain a movement of his
shoulders, showing that such was not his opinion.

“ Since they are not enough, I proceed with the ma-
terial proofs which I shall perhaps be able to produce,”
continued Dacosta; “I say perhaps, for I do not yet
know what credit to attach to them. And, sir, I
have never spoken of these things to my wife or
children, not wishing to raise a hope which might be de-
stroyed.”

“To the point,” answered Jarriquez.

“I have every reason to believe, sir, that my arrest on
the eve of the arrival of the raft at Manaos is due to in-
formation given to the chief of the police? ”
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“ You are not mistaken, Joam Dacosta, but I ought to
tell you that the information is anonymous.”

“Tt matters little, for I know that it could only come
from a scoundrel called Torres.”

“ And what right have you to speak in such a way of this
—informer?”

“ A scoundrel! Yes, sir!” replied Joam, quickly. “ This
man, whom I received with hospitality, only came to me to
propose that I should purchase his silence, to offer me an
odious bargain that I shall never regret having refused,
whatever may be the consequences of his denunciation!”

“ Always this method!” thought Judge Jarriquez; “ ac-
cusing others to clear himself.”

But he none the less listened with extreme attention to
Joam’s recital of his relations with the adventurer up to
the moment when Torres let him know that he knew and
could reveal the name of the true author of the crime of
Tijuco.

“ And what is the name of the guilty man?” asked Jar-
riquez, shaken in his indifference.

“I do not know,” answered Joam Dacosta. ‘ Torres
was too cautious to let it out.”

“ And the culprit is living?”

“He is dead.”

The fingers of Judge Jarriquez tattooed more quickly,
and he could not avoid exclaiming: “ The man who can
furnish the proof of a prisoner’s innocence is always dead.”

“1f the real culprit is dead, sir,” replied Dacosta, “ Tor-
res at least is living, and the proof, written throughout in
the handwriting of the author of the crime, he has assured
me is in his hands! He offered to sell it to me!”

“Eh! Joam Dacosta!” answered Judge Jarriquez, “ that
would not have been dear at the cost of your whole for-
tune!”

“If Torres had only asked my fortune, I would have
given it to him, and not one of my people would have
demurred! Yes, you are right, sir; a man cannot pay
too dearly for the redemption of his honor! But this
scoundrel, knowing that I was at his mercy, required more
than my fortune!”

“How so?”

“ My daughter’s hand was to be the cost of the bargain!
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I refused; he denounced me; and that is why I am now
before you!” ,

“ And if Torres had not informed against you,” asked
Judge Jarriquez—* if Torres had not met with you on
your voyage, what would you have done on learning on
your arrival of the death of Judge Ribeiro? Would you
then have delivered yourself into the hands of justice? ”

“ Without the slightest hesitation,” replied Joam, in a
firm voice; “ for, I repeat it, I had no other object in leav-
ing Iquitos to come to Manaos.”

This was said in such a tone of truthfulness, that Judge
Jarriquez experienced a kind of feeling making its way to
that corner of the heart where convictions are formed, but
he did not give in.

He could scarcely help being astonished. A judge en-
gaged merely in this examination, he knew nothing of what
is known by those who have followed this history, and
who cannot doubt but that Torres held in his hands the
material proof of Joam Dacosta’s innocence. They know
that the document existed ; that it contained this evidence;
and perhaps they may be led to think that Judge Jarriquez
was pitilessly incredulous. But they should remember that
Judge Jarriquez was not in their position; that he was
accustomed to the invariable protestations of the culprits
who came before him. The document which Joam Dacosta
appealed to was not produced; he did not really know if
it actually existed; and to conclude, he had before him a
man whose guilt had for him the certainty of a settled
thing.

However, he wished, perhaps through curiosity, to drive
Joam Dacosta behind his last entrenchments.

“And so,” he said, “all your hope now rests on the
declaration which has been made to you by Torres.”

“Yes, sir, if my whole life does not plead for me.”

“ Where do you think Torres really is? ”

“T think in Manaos.”

“ And you hope that he will speak—that he will consent
good-naturedly to hand over to you the document for
which you have declined to pay the price he asked? ”

“I hope so, sir,” replied Joam Dacosta; “ the situation
now is not the same for Torres; he has denounced me, and
consequently he cannot retain any hope of resuming his
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bargaining under the previous conditions. But this docu-
ment might still be worth a fortune if, supposing I am
acquitted or executed, it should ever escape him. Hence
his interest is to sell me the document, which cannot thus
injure him in any way, and I think he will act according
to his interest.”

The reasoning of Joam Dacosta was unanswerable, and
Judge Jarriquez felt it to be so. He made the only pos-
sible objection.

“ The interest of Torres is doubtless to sell you the docu-
ment—if the document exists.”

“If it does not exist,” answered Joam Dacosta, in a
penetrating voice, “in trusting to the justice of men, I
must put my trust only in God!”

At these words Judge Jarriquez rose, and, in not quite
such an indifferent tone, said, “ Joam Dacosta, in examining
you here, in allowing you to relate the particulars of your
past life and to protest your innocence, I have gone further
than my instructions allow me. An information has already
been laid in this affair, and you have appeared before the
jury at Villa Rica, whose verdict was given unanimously
and without even the addition of extenuating circumstances.
You have been found guilty of the instigation of, and com-
plicity in, the murder of the soldiers and the robbery of the
diamonds at Tijuco, the capital sentence was pronounced on
you, and it was only by flight that you escaped execution.
But that you came here to deliver yourself over, or not, to
the hands of justice three-and-twenty years afterward, you
would never have been retaken. For the last time, you
admit that you are Joam Dacosta, the condemned man of
the diamond arrayal?”

“I am Joam Dacosta!”

“You are ready to sign this declaration? ”

“I am ready.”

And with a hand without a tremble Joam Dacosta put
his name to the foot of the declaration and the report which
Judge Jarriquez had made his clerk draw up.

“'The report, addressed to the minister of justice, is to
be sent off to Rio Janeiro,” said the magistrate. “ Many
days will elapse before we receive orders to carry out your
sentence. If then, as you say, Torres possesses the proof
of your innocence, do all you can yourself—do all you can
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through your friends—do everything, so that that proof
can be produced in time. Once the order arrives no delay
will be possible, and justice must take its course.”

Joam Dacosta bowed slightly.

“ Shall I be allowed in the meantime to see my wife and
children? " he asked.

“ After to-day, if you wish,” answered Judge Jarriquez;
“you are no longer in close confinement, and they can be
brought to you as soon as they apply.”

The magistrate then rang the bell. The guards entered
the room, and took away Joam Dacosta.

Judge Jarriquez watched him as he went out, and shook
his head, and muttered, “ Well, ‘well! This is a much
stranger affair than I ever thought it would be!”

CHAPTER V
THE LAST BLOW

WHILE Joam Dacosta was undergoing this examination,
Yaquita, from an inquiry made by Manoel, ascertained that
she and her children would be permitted to see the prisoner
that very day about four o’clock in the afternoon.

Yaquita had not left her room since the evening before.
Minha and Lina kept near her, waiting for the time when
she would be admitted to see her husband. Yaquita Garral
or Yaquita Dacosta, he would still find her the devoted
wife and brave companion he had ever known. her
to be.

About eleven o’clock in the morning Benito joined Manoel
and Fragoso, who were talking in the bow of the jangada.
“ Manoel,” said he, “ I have a favor to ask you.”

“What is it?”

“ And you, too, Fragoso.”

“T am at your service, Mr. Benito,” answered the barber.

“What is the matter?” asked Manoel, looking at his
friend, whose expression was that of a man who had come
to some unalterable resolution.

“ You never doubt my father’s innocence? Is that so?”
said Benito.

“ Ah!” exclaimed Fragoso, ‘‘rather I think it was I
who committed the crime.”
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“ Well, we must now commence on the project I thought
of yesterday.”

“ To find out Torres? ” asked Manoel.

“ Yes, and know from him how he found out my father’s
retreat. There is something inexplicable about it. Did he
know it before? I cannot understand it, for my father
never left Iquitos for more than twenty years, and this
scoundrel is hardly thirty! But the day will not close be-
fore I know it; or, woe to Torres!”

Benito’s resolution admitted of no discussion ; and besides,
neither Manoel nor Fragoso had the slightest thought of
dissuading him.

“1 will ask, then,” continued Benito, “ for both of you
to accompany me. We shall start in a minute or two. It
will not do to wait till Torres has left Manaos. He has no
longer got his silence to sell, and the idea might occur to
him. Let us be off!” And so all three of them landed on
the bank of the Rio Negro and started for the town.

Manaos was not so considerable that it could not be
searched in a few hours. They had made up their minds
to go from house to house, if necessary, to look for Torres,
but their better plan seemed to be to apply in the first in-
stance to the keepers of the taverns and lojas, where the
adventurer was likely to put up. There could hardly be a
doubt that the ex-captain of the woods would not have
given his name; he might have personal reasons for avoid-
ing all communication with the police. Nevertheless, unless
he had left Manaos it was almost impossible for him to
escape the young fellows’ search. In any case, there would
be no use in applying to the police, for it was very probable
—in fact, we know that it actually was so—that the infor-
mation given to them had been anonymous.

For an hour Benito, Manoel, and Fragoso walked along
the principal streets of the town, inquiring of tradesmen
in their shops, the tavern-keepers in their cabarets, and even
the bystanders, without any one being able to recognize the
individual whose description they so accurately gave. Had
Torres left Manaos? Would they have to give up all hope
of coming across him?

In vain Manoel tried to calm Benito, whose head seemed
on fire. Cost what it might, he must get at Torres!

Chance at last favored them, and it was Fragoso who
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put them on the right track. In a tavern in Holy Ghost
Street, from the description which the people received of
the adventurer, they replied that the individual in question
had put up at the loja the evening before.

“Did he sleep here?” asked Fragoso.

“Yes,” answered the tavern-keeper.

“Is he here now?”

“No. He has gone out.”

“But he has settled his bill, as a man would who has
gone for good?”

“ By no means; he left his room about an hour ago, and
he will doubtless come back to supper.”

“Do you know what road he took when he went out? ”

“ We saw him turning toward the Amazon, going through
the lower town, and you will probably meet him on that
side.”

Fragoso did not want any more. A few seconds after-
ward he rejoined the young fellows, and said, “I am on
the track.”

“He is there!” exclaimed Benito.

“No; he has just gone out, and they have seen him
walking across to the bank of the Amazon.”

“Come on!” replied Benito.

They had to go back toward the river, and the shortest
way was for them to take the left bank of the Rio Negro,
down to its mouth.

They soon left the last houses of the town behind, and
followed the bank, making a slight detour so as not to be
observed from the jangada. The plain was at this time
deserted. Far away the view extended across the flat, where
cultivated fields had replaced the former forests.

‘Benito did not speak; he could not utter a word. Manoel
and Fragoso respected his silence. And so the three of
them went along and looked about on all sides as they
traversed the space between the bank of the Rio Negro
and that of the Amazon. Three-quarters of an hour after
leaving Manaos, and still they had seen nothing!

Once or twice Indians working in the fields were met
with. Manoel questioned them, and one of them at length
told him that a man, such as he described, had just passed
in the direction of the angle formed by the two rivers at
their confluence.
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Without waiting for more, Benito, by an irresistible move-
ment, strode to the front, and his two companions had to
hurry on to avoid being left behind.

The left bank of the Amazon was then about a quarter
of a mile off. A sort of cliff appeared ahead, hiding a part
of the horizon, and bounding the view a few hundred paces
in advance. Benito, hurrying on, soon disappeared behind
one of the sandy knolls.

“Quicker! quicker!” said Manoel to Fragoso. “We
must not leave him alone for an instant.” And they were
dashing along when a shot struck on their ears. Had
Benito caught sight of Torres? What had he seen? Had
Benito and Torres already met?

Manoel and Fragoso, fifty paces farther on, after swiftly
running round the bank, saw two men standing face to face.
They were Torres and Benito.

In an instant Manoel and Fragoso had hurried up to
them. It might have been supposed that in Benito’s state
of excitement he would be unable to restrain himself when
he found himself once again in the presence of the ad-
venturer. It was not so.

As soon as the young man saw Torres, and was certain
that he could not escape, a complete change took place in
his manner, his coolness returned, and he became once more
master of himself. The two men looked at one another for
a few moments without a word. Torres first broke silence,
and in the impudent tone habitual to him, remarked, “ Ah!
How goes it, Mr. Benito Garral?”

“No, Benito Dacosta!” answered the young man.

“ Quite so,” continued Torres. ‘“ Mr. Benito Dacosta,
accompanied by Mr. Manoel Valdez and my friend Fra-
goso!”’

At the irritating qualification thus accorded him by the
adventurer, Fragoso, who was by no means loth to do him
some damage, was about to rush to the attack, when Benito,
quite unmoved, held him back.

“ What is the matter with you, my lad? ” exclaimed Tor-
res, retreating for a few steps. “1I think I had better put
myself on guard.”

And as he spoke he drew from beneath his poncho his
manchetta, the weapon, adapted at will for offense or de-
fense, which a Brazilian is never without. And then,
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slightly stooping, and planted firmly on his feet, he waited
for what was to follow.

“ T have come to look for you, Torres,” sald Benito, who
had not stirred in the least at this threatening attitude.

“To look for me? ” answered the adventurer. “ It is not
very difficult to find me. And why have you come to look
for me?”

“ To know from your own lips what you appear to know
of the past life of my father.”

“Really!”

“Yes. I want to know how you recognized him, why
you were prowling about our fazenda in the forest of Iqui-
tos, and why you were waiting for us at Tabatinga? ”

“ Well! it seems to me nothing could be clearer!” an-
swered Torres, with a grin. “I was waiting to get a pas-
sage on the jangada, and I went on board with the intention
of making him a very simple proposition—which possibly
he was wrong in rejecting.”

At these words Manoel could stand it no longer. With
pale face and eye of fire he strode up to Torres.

Benito, wishing to exhaust every means of conciliation,
thrust himself between them.

“ Calm yourself, Manoel!” he said. “I am calm—even
I'” And then continuing, ““ Quite so, Torres; I know the
reason of your coming on board the raft. Possessed of a
secret which was doubtless given to you, you wanted to
make it a means of extortion. But that is not what I want
to know at present.”

‘“ What is it, then? ”

“I want to know how you recognized Joam Dacosta in
the fazender of Iquitos?”

“How I recognized him?” replied Torres. “ That is
my business, and I see no reason why I should tell you.
The important fact is, that I was not mistaken when I
denounced in him the real author of the crime of Tijuco!”

“You say that to me!” exclaimed Benito, who began to
lose his self-possession.

“T will tell you nothing,” returned Torres; “ Joam Da-
costa declined my propositions! He refused to admit me
into his family! Well! now that his secret is known,
now that he is a prisoner, it is I who refuse to enter
his family, the family of a thief, of a murderer, of

)
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a condemned felon, for whom the gallows now waits!”

“ Scoundrel!” exclaimed Benito, who drew his man-
chetta from his belt and put himself in position.

Manoel and Fragoso, by a similar movement, quickly
drew their weapons.

“ Three against one!” said Torres.

“No! one against one!” answered Benito.

“Really! I should have thought an assassination would
have better suited an assassin’s son!”

“Torres!” exclaimed Benito, “defend yourself, or I
will kill you like a mad dog!”

“Mad! so be it!” answered Torres, “but I bite, Benito
Dacosta, and beware of the wounds!” And then again
grasping his manchetta, he put himself on guard and ready
to attack his enemy.

Benito had stepped back a few paces. * Torres,” he said,
regaining all his coolness, which for a moment he had lost,
“you were the guest of my father, you threatened him,
you betrayed him, you denounced him, you accused an in-
nocent man, and with God’s help I am going to kill you!”

Torres replied with the most insolent smile imaginable.
Perhaps at the moment the scoundrel had an idea of stop-
ping any struggle between Benito and him, and he could
have done so. In fact, he had seen that Joam Dacosta had
said nothing about the document which formed the material
proof of his innocence.

Had he revealed to Benito that he, Torres, possessed
this proof, Benito would have been that instant disarmed.
But his desire to wait till the very last moment, so as to
get the very best price for the document he possessed, the
recollection of the young man’s insulting words, and the
hate which he bore to all that belonged to him, made him
forget his own interest.

In addition to being thoroughly accustomed to the man-
chetta, which he often had had occasion to use, the advent-
urer was strong, active, and artful, so that against an ad-
versary who was scarcely twenty, who could have neither
his strength vor his dexterity, the chances were greatly in
his favor.

Manoel by a last effort wished to insist on fighting him
instead of Benito.

“No, Manoel,” was the cool reply, “it is for me alone
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to avenge my father, and as everything here ought to be
in order, you shall be my second.”

“ Benito!”

“ As for you, Fragoso, you will not refuse if I ask you
to act as second for that man?”

“So be it,” answered Fragoso, ‘though it is not an
office of honor! Without the least ceremony,” he added,
“I would have killed him like a wild beast!”

The place where the duel was about to take place was a
level bank about fifty paces long, on the top of a cliff
rising perpendicularly some fifty feet above the Amazon.
The river slowly flowed at the foot, and bathed the clumps
of reeds which bristled round its base.

There was, therefore, none too much room, and the com-
batant who was the first to give way would quickly be driven
over into the abyss.

The signal was given by Manoel, and Torres and Benito
stepped forward. Benito had complete command over him-
self. The defender of a sacred cause, his coolness was
unruffled, much more so than that of Torres, whose con-
science, insensible and hardened as it was, was bound at
the moment to trouble him.

The two met, and the first blow came from Benito. Tor-
res parried it. They then jumped back, but almost at the
same instant they rushed together, and with their left hands
seized each other by the shoulders—never to leave go again.

Torres, who was the strongest, struck a side blow with
his manchetta which Benito could not quite parry. His
left side was touched, and his poncho was reddened with
his blood. But he quickly replied, and slightly wounded
Torres in the hand.

Several blows were then interchanged, but nothing de-
cisive was done. The ever silent gaze of Benito pierced
the eyes of Torres like a sword-blade thrust to his very
heart. Visibly, the scoundrel began to quail. He recoiled
little by little, pressed back by his implacable foe, who was
more determined on taking the life of his father’s denouncer
than in defending his own. To strike was all that Benito
longed for; to parry was all that the other now attempted
to do.

Soon Torres saw himself thrust to the very edge of the
bank, at a spot where, slightly scooped away, it overhung
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the river. He perceived the danger; he tried to retake the
offensive and regain the lost ground. His agitation in-
creased, his looks grew livid. At length he was obliged to
stoop beneath the arm which threatened him.

“Die, then!” exclaimed Benito.

The blow was struck full on the chest, but the point of
the manchetta was stopped by a hard substance hidden be-
neath the poncho of the adventurer.

Benito renewed his attack, and Torres, whose return
thrust did not touch his adversary, felt himself lost. He
was again obliged to retreat. Then he would have shouted
—shouted that the life of Joam Dacosta depended on his
own! He had not time!

A second thrust of the manchetta pierced his heart. He
fell backward, and the ground suddenly failing him, he was
precipitated down the cliff. As a last effort his hands con-
vulsively clutched at a clump of reeds, but they could not
stop him, and he disappeared beneath the waters of the
river.

Benito was supported on Manoel’s shoulder; Fragoso
grasped his hands. He would not even give his companions
time to dress his wound, which was very slight.

“To the jangada!” he said, “ to the jangada!”

Manoel and Fragoso with deep emotion followed him
without speaking a word.

A quarter of an hour afterward the three reached the
bank to which the raft was moored. Benito and Manoel
rushed into the room where were Yaquita and Minha, and
told them all that had passed.

“My son!” “My brother!”

The words were uttered at the same moment.

“ To the prison!” said Benito.

“Yes! Come! come!” replied Yaquita.

Benito, followed by Manoel, hurried along his mother,
and half an hour later they arrived before the prison.

Owing to the order previously given by Judge Jarriquez
they were immediately admitted, and conducted to the
chamber occupied by the prisoner. The door opened. Joam
Dacosta saw his wife, his son, and Manoel enter the room.

““ Ah! Joam, my Joam!” exclaimed Yaquita.

“ Yaquita! my wife! my children!” replied the prisoner,
who opened his arms and pressed them to his heart.
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“ My Joam, innocent!”

“ Innocent and avenged !’ said Benito.

“ Avenged? What do you mean?”

“ Torres is dead, father; killed by my hand!”

“ Dead !—Torres!—Dead! ” gasped Joam Dacosta. “‘ My
son! You have ruined me!”

CHAPTER VI
RESOLUTIONS

A FEW hours later the whole family had returned to the
raft, and were assembled in the large room. All were there,
except the prisoner, on whom the last blow had just fallen.
Benito was quite overwhelmed, and accused himself of hav-
ing destroyed his father, and had it not been for the en-
treaties of Yaquita, of his sister, or Padre Passanha, and
of Manoel, the distracted youth would in the first moments
of despair have probably made away with himself. But
he was never allowed to get out of sight, he was never left
alone. And besides, how could he have acted otherwise?
Ah! why had not Joam Dacosta told him all before he left
the jangada? Why had he refrained from speaking, except
before a judge, of this material proof of his innocence?
Why, in his interview with Manoel after the expulsion of
Torres, had he been silent about the document which the
adventurer pretended to hold in his hands? But, after all,
what faith ought he to place in what Torres had said?
Could he be certain that such a document was in the rascal’s
possession?

Whatever might be the reason, the family now knew
everything, and that from the lips of Joam Dacosta himself.
They knew that Torres had declared that the proof of the
innocence of the convict of Tijuco actually existed; that
the document had been written by the very hand of the
author of the attack; that the criminal, seized by remorse
at the moment of his death, had intrusted it to his com-
panion, Torres; and that he, instead of fulfilling the wishes
of the dying man, had made the handing over of the docu-
ment an excuse for extortion. But they knew also that
Torres had just been killed, and that his body was
engulfed in the waters of the Amazon, and that he
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died without even mentioning the name of the guilty man.

Unless he was saved by a miracle, Joam Dacosta might
now be considered as irrevocably lost. The death of Judge
Ribeiro on the one hand, the death of Torres on the other,
were blows from which he could not recover! It should
here be said that public opinion at Manaos, unreasoning as
it always is, was all against the prisoner. The unexpected
arrest of Joam Dacosta had revived the memory of the
terrible crime of Tijuco, which had lain forgotten for three-
and-twenty years. The trial of the young clerk at the
mines of the diamond arrayal, his capital sentence, his escape
a few hours before his intended execution—all were re-
membered, analyzed, and commented on. An article which
had just appeared in the O Diario d’o Grand Para, the most
widely circulated journal in these parts, after giving a his-
tory of the circumstances of the crime, showed itself de-
cidedly hostile to the prisoner. Why should these people
believe in Joam Dacosta’s innocence, when they were igno-
rant of all that his friends knew—of what they alone knew ?

And so the people of Manaos became excited. A mob
of Indians and negroes hurried, in their blind folly, to sur-
round the prison and roar forth tumultuous shouts of death.
In this part of the two Americas, where executions under
Lynch law are of frequent occurrence, the mob soon sur-
renders itself to its cruel instincts, and it was feared that
on this occasion it would do justice with its own hands.

What a night it was for the passengers from the jangada!
Masters and servants had been affected by the blow! Were
not the servants of the fazenda members of one family?
Every one of them would watch over the safety of Yaquita
and her people! On the bank of the Rio Negro there was
a constant coming and going of the natives, evidently ex-
cited by the arrest of Joam Dacosta, and who could say
to what excesses these half-barbarous men might be led?

The time, however, passed without any demonstration
against the jangada.

On the morrow, the 26th of August, as soon as the sun
rose, Manoel and Fragoso, who had never left Benito for
an instant during this terrible night, attempted to distract
his attention. After taking him aside they made him under-
stand that there was no time to be lost—that they must

make up their minds to act.
V. XII Verne
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“ Benito,” said Manoel, “ pull yourself together! Be a
man again! Be a son again!”

“ My father!” exclaimed Benito, “I have killed him!”

“No!” replied Manoel. “ With heaven’s help it is pos-
sible that all may not be lost!”

“ Listen to us, Mr. Benito,” said Fragoso.

The young man, passing his hands over his eyes, made
a violent effort to collect himself.

“ Benito,” continued Manoel, “ Torres never gave a hint
to put us on the track of his past life. We therefore cannot
tell who was the author of the crime of Tijuco, or under
what conditions it was committed. To try in that direc-
tion is to lose our time!”

“ And time presses!” added Fragoso.

“ Besides,” said Manoel, “ suppose we do find out who
this companion of Torres was, he is dead, and he could
not testify in any way to the innocence of Joam Dacosta.
But it is none the less certain that the proof of this in-
nocence exists, and there is no room to doubt the existence
of a document which Torres was anxious to make the sub-
ject of a bargain. He told us so himself. The document
1s a complete avowal written in the handwriting of the
culprit, which relates the attack in its smallest detail, and
which clears our father! Yes! a hundred times, yes! The
document exists!”

“ But Torres does not exist!”’ groaned Benito, ““ and the
document has perished with him!”

“ Wait, and don’t despair yet!” answered Manoel. “ You
remember under what circumstances we made the acquaint-
ance of Torres? It was in the depths of the forest of
Iquitos. He was in pursuit of a monkey which had stolen
a metal case, which it so strangely kept, and the chase had
lasted a couple of hours when the monkey fell to our guns.
Now, do you think it was for the few pieces of gold con-
tained in the case that Torres was in such a fury to
recover it? and do you not remember the extraordinary sat-
isfaction which he displayed when we gave him back the
case which he had taken out of the monkey’s paw? ”

“Yes! yes!” answered Benito. * This case which I held
—which T gave back to him! Perhaps it contained—"

“It is more than probable! It is certain!” replied
Manoel. :
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“ And I beg to add,” said Fragoso, “ for now the fact
recurs to my memory, that during the time you were at Ega
I remained on board, at Lina’s advice, to keep an eye on
Torres, and I saw him—yes, I saw him—reading, and again
reading, an old, faded paper, and muttering words which
I could not understand!”’

“That was the document!” exclaimed Benito, who
snatched at the hope—the only one that was left. “But
this document ; had he not put it in some place of security? ”’

“No,” answered Manoel, “no; it was too precious for
Torres to dream of parting with it. He was bound to carry
it always about with him, and doubtless in that very case!”

“ Wait! wait, Manoel!” exclaimed Benito; “I remem-
ber—yes, I remember. During the struggle, at the first
blow I struck Torres in his chest, my manchetta was stopped
by some hard substance under his poncho, like a plate of
metal—"’

“ That was the case!” said Fragoso.

“Yes,” replied Manoel; “ doubt is impossible! That was
the case; it was in his breast-pocket.”

“But the corpse of Torres?”

“We will recover it!”

“ But the paper! The water will have stained it, perhaps
destroyed it, or rendered it indecipherable!”

“ Why,” answered Manoel, “ if the metal case which held
it was water-tight? ”

“ Manoel,” replied Benito, who seized on the last hope,
“you are right! The corpse of Torres must be recovered!
We will ransack the whole of this part of the river, if
necessary, but we will recover it!”

The pilot Araujo was then summoned and informed of
what they were going to do.

“Good!” replied he; “I know all the eddies and cur-
rents where the Rio Negro and the Amazon join, and we
shall succeed in recovering the body. Let us take two
pirogues, two ubas, a dozen of our Indians, and make a
start.”

Padre Passanha was then coming out of Yaquita’s room.
Benito went to him, and in a few words told him what they
were going to do to get possession of the document. * Say
nothing to my mother or my sister,” he added; “if this
last hope fails it will kill them!”



36 THE CRYPTOGRAM

“ Go, my lad, go,” replied Passanha, “ and may God help
you in your search!”

Five minutes afterward the four boats started from the
raft. After descending the Rio Negro they arrived near
the bank of the Amazon, at the very place where Torres,
mortally wounded, had disappeared beneath the waters of
the stream.

CHAPTER VII
THE FIRST SEARCH

THE search had to commence at once, and that for two
weighty reasons.

The first of these was—and this was a question of life or
death—that this proof of Joam Dacosta’s innocence must
be produced before the arrival of the order from Rio
Janeiro. Once the identity of the prisoner was established,
it was impossible that such an order could be other than
the order for his execution.

The second was that the body of Torres should be got -
out of the water as quickly as possible so as to regain un-
damaged the metal case and the paper it ought to contain.

At this juncture Araujo displayed not only zeal and in-
telligence, but also a perfect knowledge of the state of the
river at its confluence with the Rio Negro.

“If Torres,” he said to the young men, ‘“ had been from
the first carried away by the current, we should have to
drag the river throughout a large area, for we shall have
a good many days to wait for his-body to reappear on the
surface through the effects of decomposition.”

“We cannot do that,” replied Manoel. “ This very day
we ought to succeed.”

“1If, on the contrary,” continued the pilot, ‘“ the corpse
has got stuck among the reeds and vegetation at the foot
of the bank, we shall not be an hour before we find 1t

“To work, then!” answered Benito.

There was but one way of working. The boats ap-
proached the bank, and the Indians, furnished with long
poles, began to sound every part of the river at the base
of the bluff which had served for the scene of combat.

The place had been easily recognized. A track of blood

’
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stained the declivity in its chalky part, and ran perpendic-
ularly down it into the water; and there many a clot scat-
tered on the reeds indicated the very spot where the corpse
had disappeared.

About fifty feet down stream a point jutted out from the
river-side and kept back the waters in a kind of eddy, as
in a large basin. There was no current whatever near the
shore, and the reeds shot up out of the river unbent. Every
hope then existed that Torres’ body had not been carried
away by the main stream. Where the bed of the river
showed sufficient slope, it was perhaps possible for the
corpse to have rolled several feet along the ridge, and even
there no effect of the current could be traced.

The ubas and the pirogues, dividing the work among
them, limited the field of their researches to the extreme
edge of the eddy, and from the circumference to the center
the crew’s long poles left not a single point unexplored. But
no amount of sounding discovered the body of the advent-
urer, neither among the clumps of reeds nor on the bottom
of the river, whose slope was then carefully examined.

Two hours after the work had begun they had been led
to think that the body, having probably struck against the
declivity, had fallen off obliquely and rolled beyond the
limits of this eddy, where the action of the current com-
menced to be felt.

“But that is no reason why we should despair,” said
Manoel, “ still less why we should give up our search.”

“ Will it be necessary,” exclaimed Benito, “ to search the
river throughout its breadth and its length?”

‘“ Throughout its breadth, perhaps,” answered Araujo,
“ throughout its length, no, fortunately.” ‘

“ And why?”’ asked Manoel.

“ Because the Amazon, about a mile away from its junc-
tion with the Rio Negro, makes a sudden bend, and at
the same time its bed rises, so that there is a kind of natural
barrier, well known to sailors as the Bar of Frias, which
things floating near the surface are alone able to clear. In
short, the currents are ponded back, and they cannot pos-
sibly have any effect over this depression.”

This was fortunate, it must be admitted. But was
Araujo mistaken? The old pilot of the Amazon could be
relied on. For the thirty years that he had followed his
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profession the crossing of the Bar of Frias, where the
current was increased in force by its decrease in depth, had
often given him trouble. The narrowness of the channel
and the elevation of the bed made the passage exceedingly
difficult, and many a raft had there come to grief.

And so Araujo was right in declaring that if the corpse
of Torres was still retained by its weight on the sandy bed
of the river, it could not have been dragged over the bar.
It is true that, later on, when, on account of the expansion
of the gases, it would again rise to the surface, the current
would bear it away, and it would be irrecoverably lost down
the stream, a long way beyond the obstruction. But this
purely physical effect would not take place for several days.

They could not have applied to a man who was more
skillful or more conversant with the locality than Araujo,
and when he affirmed that the body could not have been
borne out of the narrow channel for more than a mile or
so, they were sure to recover it if they thoroughly sounded
that portion of the river.

Not an island, not an inlet, checked the course of the
Amazon in these parts. Hence, when the foot of the two
banks had been visited up to the bar, it was in the bed
itself, about five hundred feet in width, that more careful
investigations had to be commenced.

The way the work was conducted was this: The boats
taking the right and left of the Amazon lay alongside the
banks. The reeds and vegetation were tried with the poles.
Of the smallest ledges in the banks in which a body could
rest, not one escaped the scrutiny of Araujo and his Indians.

But all this labor produced no result, and half the day
had elapsed without the body being brought to the surface
of the stream.

An hour’s rest was given to the Indians. During this
time they partook of some refreshment, and then they re-
turned to their task.

Four of the boats, in charge of the pilot, Benito, Fra-
goso, and Manoel, divided the river between the Rio Negro
and the Bar of Frias into four portions. They set to work
to explore its very bed. In certain places fhe poles proved
insufficient to thoroughly search among the deeps, and hence
a few dredges—or rather harrows, made of stones and old
iron, bound round with a solid bar—were taken on board,
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and when the boats had pushed off these rakes were thrown
in and the river bottom stirred up in every direction.

It was in this difficult task that Benito and his com-
panions were employed till the evening. The ubas and
pirogues, worked by the oars, traversed the whole surface
of the river up to the Bar of Frias.

There had beén moments of excitement during this spell
of work, when the harrows, catching in something at the
bottom, offered some slight resistance. They were then
hauled up, but in place of the body so eagerly searched for,
there would appear only heavy stones or tufts of herbage
which they had dragged from their sandy bed. No one,
however, had an idea of giving up the enterprise. They
none of them thought of themselves in this work of salva-
tion. Benito, Manoel, Araujo had not even to stir up the
Indians or to encourage them. The gallant fellows knew
that they were working for the fazender of Iquitos—for
the man whom they loved, for the chief of the excellent
family who treated their servants so well.

Yes; and so they would have passed the night in dragging
the river. Of every minute lost all knew the value.

A little before the sun disappeared, Araujo, finding it
useless to continue his operations in the gloom, gave the
signal for the boats to join company and return together to
the confluence of the Rio Negro and regain the jangada.

The work so carefully and intelligently conducted was
not, however, at an end.

Manoel and Fragoso, as they came back, dared not men-
tion their ill-success before Benito. They feared that the
disappointment would only force him to some act of
despair.

But neither courage nor coolness deserted the young fel-
low ; he was determined to follow to the end this supreme
effort to save the honor and the life of his father, and
" he it was who addressed his companions, and said: “ To-
morrow we will try again, and under better conditions if
possible.”

“Yes,” answered Manoel; “ you are right, Benito. We
can do better. We cannot pretend to have entirely explored
the river along the whole of the banks and over the whole
of its bed.”

“No; we cannot have done that,” replied Araujo; “and
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I maintain what I said—that the body of Torres is there,
and that it is there because it has not been carried away,
because it will take many days before it rises to the surface
and floats down the stream. Yes, it is there, and not a
demijohn of tafia will pass my lips until I find it!”

This affirmation from the pilot was worth a good deal,
and was of a hope-inspiring nature.

However, Benito, who did not care so much for words
as he did for things, thought proper to reply: “ Yes, Araujo;
the body of Torres is in the river, and we shall find it
if_”

“If?” said the pilot.

“If it has not become the prey of the alligators!”

Manoel and Fragoso waited anxiously for Araujo’s
reply.

The pilot was silent for a few moments; they felt that
he was reflecting before he spoke. “Mr. Benito,” he said,
at length, “I am not in the habit of speaking lightly. I
had the same idea as you; but listen. During the ten hours
we have been at work have you seen a single cayman in the
river? ”

“ Not one!” said Fragoso.

“If you have not seen one,” continued the pilot, “ it was
because there were none to see, for these animals have
nothing to keep them in the white waters when, a quarter
of a mile off, there are large stretches of the black waters,
which they so greatly prefer. When the raft was attacked
by some of these creatures it was in a part where there was
no place for them to flee to. Here it is quite different.
Go to the Rio Negro, and there you will see caymans by
the score. Had Torres’ body fallen into that tributary there
might be no chance of recovering it. But it was in the
Amazon that it was lost, and in the Amazon it will be
found!”

Benito, relieved from his fears, took the pilot’s hand and
shook it, and contented himself with the reply: “ To-mor-
row, my friends!”

Ten minutes later they were all on board the jangada.
During the day Yaquita had passed some hours with her
husband. But before she started, and when she saw neither
the pilot, nor Manoel, nor Benito, nor the boats, she had
guessed the search on which they had gone, but she said
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nothing to Joam Dacosta, as she hoped that in the morning
she would be able to inform him of their success.

But when Benito set foot on the raft she perceived that
their search had been frtiitless. However, she advanced
toward him. “ Nothing?” she asked.

“ Nothing,” replied Benito. ‘ But the morrow is left to
us.”

The members of the family retired to their rooms, and
nothing more was said as to what had passed.

Manoel tried to make Benito lie down so as to take a
few hours’ rest.

“What is the good of that?” asked Benito. “ Do you
think I could sleep?”

CHAPTER VIII
THE SECOND ATTEMPT

On the morrow, the 27th of August, Benito took Manoel
apart, before the sun had risen, and said to him: “ Our
yesterday’s search was vain. If we begin again under the
same conditions, we may be just as unlucky.”

“We must do so, however,” replied Manoel.

“Yes,” continued Benito; “ but suppose we do not find
the body, can you tell me how long it will be before it will
rise to the surface? ”

“If Torres,” answeréed Manoel, “ had fallen into the
water living, and not mortally wounded, it would take
five or six days; but if he had only disappeared after being
so wounded, perhaps two or three days would be enough
to bring him up again.”

This answer of Manoel, which was quite correct, requires
some explanation. Every human body which falls into the
water will float if equilibrium is established between its
density and that of its liquid bed. This is well known to
be the fact, even when a person does not know how to
swim. Under such circumstances, if you are entirely sub-
merged, and only keep your mouth and nose away from the
water, you are sure to float. But this is not generally done.
The first movement of a drowning man is to try and hold
as much as he can of himself above water; he holds up his
head and lifts up his arms, and these parts of his body,
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being no longer supported by the liquid, do not lose that
amount of weight which they would do if completely im-
mersed. Hence an excess of weight, and eventually entire
submersion, for the water makes its way to the lungs
through the mouth, takes the place of the air which fills
them, and the body sinks to the bottom.

. On the other hand, when the man who. falls into the
water is already dead, the conditions are different, and more
favorable for his floating, for then the movements of which
we have spoken are checked, and the liquid does not make
its way to the lungs so copiously, as there is no attempt to
respire, and he is consequently more likely to promptly re-
appear. Manoel then was right in drawing the distinction
between the man who falls into the water living and the
man who falls into it dead. In the one case the return to
the surface takes much longer than in the other.

The reappearance of the body after an immersion more
or less prolonged, is always determined by the decomposi-
tion, which causes the gases to form. These bring about
the expansion of the cellular tissues, the volume augments
and the weight decreases, and then, weighing less than the
water it displaces, the body attains the proper conditions for
floating.

“ And thus,” continued Manoel, ““supposing the condi-
tions continue favorable, and Torres did not live after he
fell into the water, if the decomposition is not modified by
circumstances which we cannot foresee, he will not reap-
pear before three days.”

“ We have not got three days,” answered Benito. “ We
cannot wait, you know; we must try again, and in some
new way.”

“What can you do?” asked Manoel.

“Plunge down myself beneath the waters,” replied
Benito, “ and search with my eyes—with my hands.”

“Plunge in a hundred times—a thousand times!” ex-
claimed Manoel. “ So be it. I think, like you, that we
ought to go straight at what we want, and not struggle on
with poles and drag like a blind man, who only works by
touch. I also think that we cannot wait three days. But
to jump in, come up again, and go down again will give
only a short period for the exploration. Noj; it will never
do and we shall only risk a second failure.”

R ———————
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““Have you no other plan to propose, Manoel?” asked
Benito, looking earnestly at his friend. .

“ Well, listen. There is what would seem to be a Provi-
dential circumstance that may be of use to us.”

“What is that?”

“ Yesterday, as we hurried through Manaos, I noticed
that they were repairing one of the quays on the bank of
the Rio Negro. The submarine works were being carried
on with the aid of a diving-dress. Let us borrow, or hire,
or buy, at any price, this apparatus, and then we may re-
sume our researches under more favorable conditions.”

“Tell Araujo, Fragoso, and our men, and let us be off,”
was the instant reply of Benito.

The pilot and the barber were informed of the decision
with regard to Manoel’'s project. Both were ordered to
go with the four boats and the Indians to the basin of
Frias, and thence to wait for the two young men.

Manoel and Benito started off without losing a moment,
and reached the quay at Manaos. There they offered the
contractor such a price that he put the apparatus at their
service for the whole day.

“ Will you not have one of my men,” he asked, “ to help
you?”

“ Give us your foreman and one of his mates to work
the air-pump,” replied Manoel.

“But who is going to wear the diving-dress?”

“T am,” answered Benito.

“You!” exclaimed Manoel.

“T intend to do so.”

It was useless to resist.

An hour afterward the raft and all the instruments neces-
sary for the enterprise had drifted down to the bank where
the boats were waiting.

The diving-dress is well known. By its means men can
descend beneath the waters and remain there a certain time
without the action of the lungs being in any way injured.
The diver is clothed in a waterproof suit of india rubber,
and his feet are attached to leaden shoes, which allow him
to retain his upright position beneath the surface. At the
collar of the dress, and about the height of the neck, there
is fitted a collar of copper, on which is screwed a metal globe
with a glass front. In this globe the diver places his head,
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which he can move about at ease. To the globe are attached
two pipes; one used for carrying off the air ejected from
the lungs, and the other in communication with a pump
worked on the raft, and bringing in the fresh air. When
the diver is at work the raft remains immovable above him;
when the diver moves about on the bottom of the river
the raft follows his movements, or he follows those of the
raft, according to his convenience.

These diving-dresses are now much improved, and are
less dangerous than formerly. The man beneath the liquid
mass can easily bear the additional pressure, and if anything
was to be feared below the waters it was rather some cay-
man who might there be met with. But, as had been ob-
served by Araujo, not one of these amphibians had been
seen, and they are well known to prefer the black waters
of the tributaries of the Amazon. Besides, in case of dan-
ger, the diver has always his check-string fastened to the
raft, and at the least warning can be quickly hauled to the
surface.

Benito, invariably very cool once his resolution was taken,
commenced to put his idea into execution, and got into the
diving-dress. His head disappeared in the metal globe,
his hand grasped a sort of iron spar with which to stir up
the vegetation and detritus accumulated in the river-bed,
and on his giving the signal he was lowered into the stream.

"The men on the raft immediately commenced to work
the air pump, while four Indians from the jangada, under
the orders of Araujo, gently propelled it with their long
poles in the desired direction.

The two pirogues, commanded one by Fragoso, the other
by Manoel, escorted the raft, and held themselves ready
to start in any direction, should Benito find the corpse of
Torres and again bring it to the surface of the Amazon.

CHAPTER IX
A CANNON SHOT

BenrTO then had disappeared beneath the vast sheet which
still covered the corpse of the adventurer. Ah! if he had
had the power to divert the waters of the river, to turn
them into vapor, or to turn them off—if he could have made
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the Frias basin dry down stream, from the bar up to the
influx of the Rio Negro, the case hidden in Torres’ clothes
would already have been in his hands! His father’s inno-
cence would have been recognized! Joam Dacosta, restored
to liberty, would have again started on the descent of the
river, and what terrible trials would have been avoided!

Benito had reached the bottom. His heavy shoes made
the gravel on the beach crunch beneath them. He was in
some ten or fifteen feet of water, at the base of the cliff,
which was here very steep, and at the very spot where
Torres had disappeared.

Near him was a tangled mass of reeds and twigs and
aquatic plants, all laced together, which assuredly during
the researches of the previous day no pole could have pene-
trated. It was consequently possible that the body was
entangled among the submarine shrubs, and still in the place
where it had originally fallen.

Hereabouts, thanks to the eddy produced by the pro-
longation of one of the spurs running out into the stream,
the current was absolutely nil. Benito guided his move-
ments by those of the raft, which the long poles of the
Indians kept just over his head.

The light penetrated deep through the clear waters, and
the magnificent sun, shining in a cloudless sky, shot its
rays down into them unchecked. Under ordinary condi-
tions, at a depth of some twenty feet in water, the view
becomes exceedingly blurred, but here the waters seemed
to be impregnated with a luminous fluid, and Benito was
able to descend still lower without the darkness concealing
the river bed.

The young man slowly made his way along the bank.
With his iron-shod spear he probed the plants and rubbish
accumulated along its foot. Flocks of fish, if we can use
such an expression, escaped on all sides from the dense
thickets like flocks of birds. It seemed as though the thou-
sand pieces of a broken mirror glimmered through the
waters. At the same time scores of crustaceans scampered
over the sand, like huge ants hurrying from their hills.

Notwithstanding that Benito did not leave a single point
of the river unexplored, he never caught sight of the object
of his search. He noticed, however, that the slope of the
river-bed was very abrupt, and he concluded that Torres
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had rolled beyond the eddy toward the centre of the stream.
If so, he would probably still recover the body, for the
current could hardly touch it at the depth which was already
great, and seemed sensibly to increase. Benito then re-
solved to pursue his investigations on the side where he had
begun to probe the vegetation. This was why he continued
to advance in that direction, and the raft had to follow him
during a quarter of an hour, as had been previously ar-
ranged. ,

The quarter of an hour had elapsed, and Benito had
found nothing. He felt the need of .ascending to the sur-
face, so as to once more experience those physiological con-
ditions in which he could recoup his strength. In certain
spots, where the depth of the river necessitated it, he had
had to descend about thirty feet. He had thus to support
a pressure almost equal to an atmosphere, with the result
of the physical fatigue and mental agitation which attack
those who are not used to this kind of work. Benito then
pulled the communication cord, and the men on the raft
commenced to haul him in, but they worked slowly, taking
a minute to draw him up two or three feet, so as not to
produce in his internal organs the dreadful effects of de-
compression.

As soon as the young man had set foot on the raft, the
metallic sphere of the diving-dress was raised, and he took
a long breath and sat down to rest.

The pirogues immediately rowed alongside. Manoel,
Fragoso and Araujo came close to him, waiting for him
to speak.

*“Well? ” asked Manoel.

“ Still nothing! Nothing!”

“ Have you not seen a trace?”

“Not one!”

“ Shall T go down now?”

“No, Manoel,” answered Benito; “I have begun; I
know where to go. Let me do it!”

Benito then explained to the pilot that his intention was
to visit the lower part of the bank up to the Bar of Frias,
for there the slope had perhaps stopped the corpse, if, float-
ing between the two streams, it had in the least degree
been affected by the current. But first he wanted to skirt
the bank and carefully explore a sort of hole formed in the
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slope of the bed, to the bottom of which the poles had not
been able to penetrate. Araujo approved of the plan, and
made the necessary preparations.

Manoel gave Benito a little advice. “ As you want to
pursue your search on that side,” he said, “the raft will
have to go over there obliquely; but mind what you are
doing, Benito. That is much deeper than where you have
been yet: it may be fifty or sixty feet, and you will have
to support a pressure of quite two atmospheres. Only ven-
ture with extreme caution, or you may lose your presence
of mind, and no longer know where you are or what to do.
If your head feels as if in a vise, and your ears tingle, do
not hesitate to give us the signal, and we will at once haul
you up. You can then begin again if you like, as you will
have got accustomed to move about in the deeper parts of
the river.”

Benito promised to attend to these hints, of which he
recognized the importance. He was particularly struck
with the fact that his presence of mind might abandon him
at the very moment he wanted it most.

Benito shook hands with Manoel; the sphere of the div-
ing-dress was again screwed to his neck, the pump began
to work, and the diver once more disappeared beneath the
stream.

The raft was then taken about forty feet along the left
bank, but as it moved toward the center of the river the
current increased in strength, the ubas was moored, and
the rowers kept it from drifting, so as only to allow it to
advance with extreme slowness.

Benito descended very gently, and again found himself
on the firm sand. When his heels touched the ground it
could be seen, by the length of the haulage cord, that he
was at a depth of some sixty-five or seventy feet. He was
therefore in a considerable hole, excavated far below the
ordinary level.

The liquid medium was more obscure, but the limpidity
of these transparent waters still allowed the light to pene-
trate sufficiently for Benito to distinguish the objects scat-
tered on the bed of the river, and to approach them with
some safety. Besides, the sand, sprinkled with mica flakes,
seemed to form a sort of reflector, and the very grains could
be counted glittering like luminous dust.
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Benito moved on, examining and sounding the smallest
cavities with his spear. He continued to advance very
slowly; the communication cord was paid out, and as the
pipes which served for the inlet and outlet of the air were
never tightened, the pump was worked under the proper
conditions.

Benito turned off so as to reach the middle of the bed
of the Amazon, where there was the greatest depression.
Sometimes profound obscurity thickened around him, and
then he could see nothing, so feeble was the light; but this
was a purely passing phenomenon, and due to the raft,
which, floating above his head, intercepted the solar rays,
and made the night replace the day. An instant afterward
the huge shadow would be dissipated, and the reflection of
the sands appear again in full force.

All the time Benito was going deeper. He felt the in-
crease of the pressure with which his body was wrapped by
the liquid mass. His respiration became less easy; his or-
gans no longer worked with as much ease as in the midst
of an atmosphere more conveniently adapted for them. And
so he found himself under the action of physiological effects
to which he was unaccustomed. The rumbling grew louder
in his ears, but as his thought was always lucid, as he felt
that the action of his brain was quite clear—even a little
more so than usual—he delayed giving the signal for return,
and continued to go down deeper still.

Suddenly, in the subdued light which surrounded him, his
attention was attracted by a confused mass. It seemed to
take the form of a corpse, entangled beneath a clump of
aquatic plants. Intense excitement seized him. He stepped
toward the mass; with his spear he felt it. It was the car-
cass of a huge cayman, already reduced to a skeleton, and
which the current of the Rio Negro had swept into the bed
of the Amazon. Benito recoiled, and, in spite of the asser-
tions of the pilot, the thought recurred to him that some
living cayman might even then be met with in the deeps
near the Bar of Frias!

But he repelled the idea, and continued his progress, so
as to reach the very bottom of the depression.

And now he had arrived at a depth of from eighty to a
hundred feet, and consequently was experiencing a
pressure of three atmospheres. If, then, this cavity was
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also drawn blank, he would have to suspend his researches.

Experience has shown that the extreme limit for such
submarine explorations lies between a hundred and twenty
and a hundred and thirty feet, and that below this there
is great danger, the human organism not only being hin-
dered from performing its functions under such a pressure,
but the apparatus failing to keep up a sufficient supply of air
with the desirable regularity.

But Benito was resolved to go as far as his mental powers
and physical energies would let him. By some strange pre-
sentiment he was drawn toward this abyss; it seemed to
him as though the corpse was very likely to have rolled
to the bottom of the hole, and that Torres, if he had any
heavy things about him, such as a belt containing either
money or arms, would have sunk to the very lowest point.
Of a sudden, in a deep hollow, he saw a body through the
gloom! Yes! A corpse, still clothed, stretched out like a
man asleep, with his arms folded under his head.

Was that Torres? In the obscurity, then very dense, he
found it difficult to see; but it was a human body that lay
there, less than ten paces off, and perfectly motionless.

A sharp pang shot through Benito. His heart, for an
instant, ceased to beat. He thought he was going to lose
consciousness. By a supreme effort he recovered himself.
He stepped toward the corpse.

Suddenly a shock as violent as unexpected made his
whole frame vibrate! A long whip seemed to twine round
his body, and in spite of the thick diving-dress he felt him-
self lashed again and again.

“ A gymnotus!” he said.

It was the only word that passed his lips.

In fact, it was a puraque, the name given by the Brazil-
ians to the gymnotus, or electric snake, which had just at-
tacked him.

It is well known that the gymnotus is a kind of eel, with
a blackish, slimy skin, furnished along the back and tail
with an apparatus composed of plates joined by vertical
lamellee, and acted on by nerves of considerable power.
This apparatus is endowed with singular electrical proper-
ties, and is apt to produce very formidable results. Some
of these gymnotuses are about the length of a common

snake, others are about ten feet long, while others which
V XII Verne
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however, are rare, even reach fifteen or twenty feet, and
are from eight to ten inches in diameter.

Gymnotuses are plentiful enough both in the Amazon and
its tributaries; and it was one of these living coils, about
ten feet long, which, after uncurving itself like a bow,
again attacked the diver.

Benito knew what he had to fear from this formidable
animal. His clothes were powerless to protect him. The
discharges of the gymnotus, at first somewhat weak, be-
came more and more violent, and there would come a time
when, exhausted by the shocks, he would be rendered
powerless.

Benito, unable to resist the blows, half dropped upon the
sand. His limbs were becoming paralyzed little by little
under the electric influences of the gymnotus, which lightly
touched his body as it wrapped him in its folds. His arms
even he could not lift, and soon his spear escaped him, and
his hand had not strength enough left to pull the cord and
give the signal.

Benito felt that he was lost. Neither Manoel nor his
companions could suspect the horrible combat which was
going on beneath them between the formidable puraque and
the unhappy diver, who only fought to suffer, without any
power of defending himself.

And that at the moment when a body—the body of Tor-
res without a doubt!—had just met his view.

By a supreme instinct of self-preservation Benito uttered
a cry. His voice was lost in the metallic sphere from which
not a sound could escape!

And now the puraque redoubled its attacks; it gave forth
shock after shock, which made Benito writhe on the sand
like the sections of a divided worm, and his muscles were
wrenched again and again beneath the living lash!

Benito thought that all was over; his eyes grew dim, his
limbs began to stiffen. ‘

But before he quite Iost his power of sight and reason he
became the witness of a phenomenon, unexpected, inexplic-
able, and marvelous in the extreme.

A deadened roar resounded through the liquid depths. It
was like a thunder-clap, the reverberations of which rolled
along the river-bed, then violently agitated by the electrical
discharges of the gymnotus. Benito felt himself bathed as;
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it were in the dreadful booming which found an echo in the
very deepest of the river deeps.

And then a last cry escaped him, for fearful was the
vision which appeared before his eyes!

The corpse of the drowned man which had been stretched
on the sand arose! The undulations of the water lifted up
the arms, and they swayed about as if with some peculiar
animation. Convulsive throbs made the movement of the
corpse still more alarming.

It was indeed the body of Torres. One of the sun’s rays
shot down to it through the liquid mass, and Benito recog-
nized the bloated, ashy features of the scoundrel who fell
by his own hand, and whose last breath had left him beneath
the waters.

And while Benito could not make a single movement with
his paralyzed limbs, while his heavy shoes kept him down
as if he had been nailed to the sand, the corpse straightened
itself up, the head swayed to and fro, and disentangling
itself from the hole in which it had been kept by a mass
of aquatic weeds, it slowly ascended to the surface of the
Amazon.

CHAPTER X
THE CONTENTS OF THE CASE

WHAT was it that had happened? A purely physical phe-
nomenon, of which the following is an explanation.

The gunboat Santa Ana, bound for Manaos, had come up
the river and passed the bar at Frias. Just before she
reached the embouchure of the Rio Negro she hoisted her
colors and saluted the Brazilian flag.

At the report vibrations were produced along the surface
of the stream, and these vibrations making their way down
to the bottom of the river, had been sufficient to raise the
corpse of Torres, already lightened by the commencement
of its decomposition and the distention of its cellular sys-
tem. The body of the drowned man had in the ordinary
course risen to the surface of the water.

This well-known phenomenon explains the reappearance
of the corpse, but it must be admitted that the arrival of
the Santa Ana was a fortunate coincidence.
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By a shout from Manoel, repeated by all his companions,
one of the pirogues was immediately steered for-the body
while the diver was at the same time hauled up to the raft.

Great was Manoel’s emotion when Benito, drawn on to
the platform, was laid there in a state of complete inertia,
not a single exterior movement betraying that he still lived.
Was not this a second corpse which the waters of the Ama-
zon had given up?

As quickly as possible the diving-dress was taken off him.
Benito had entirely lost consciousness beneath the violent
shocks of the gymnotus.

Manoel, distracted, called to him, breathed into him, and
endeavored to recover the heart’s pulsation. “It beats!
It beats!” he exclaimed.

Yes! Benito’s heart did still beat, and in a few minutes
Manoel’s efforts restored him to life.

“The body! the body!” Such were the first words, the
only ones which escaped from Benito’s lips.

“There it is!” answered Fragoso, pointing to a pirogue
then coming up to the raft with the corpse.

“ But what has been the matter, Benito? ”’ asked Manoel.
“Has it been the want of air?”

“No!” said Benito; ‘“a puraque attacked me! But the
noise? the detonation?”

“ A cannon shot!” replied Manoel. “ It was the cannon
shot which brought the corpse to the surface.”

At this moment the pirogue came up to the raft with the
body of Torres, which had been taken on board by the
Indians. His sojourn in the water had not disfigured him
very much. He was easily recognizable, and there was no
doubt as to his identity.

Fragoso, kneeling down in the pirogue, had already be-
gun to undo the clothes of the drowned man, which came
away in fragments. At the moment, Torres’ right arm,
which was now left bare, attracted his attention. On it ap-
peared the distinct scar of an old wound produced by a blow
from a knife. ‘ That scar!” exclaimed Fragoso. * But—
that is good! I remember now i

“What?” demanded Manoel.

“ A quarrel! Yes! a quarrel I witnessed in the province
of Madeira three years ago. How could I have for-
gotten it. This Torres was then a captain of the woods.
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‘Ah! I know now where I had seen him, the scoundrel!”

“ That does not matter to us now!” cried Benito. ““The
case! the case! Has he still got that?” and Benito was
about to tear away the last coverings of the corpse to get
at it.

Manoel stopped him. “ One moment, Benito,” he said;
and then, turning to the men on the raft who did not belong
to the jangada, and whose evidence could not be suspected
at any future time, ““ Just take note, my friends,” he said,
“ of what we are doing here, so that you can relate before
the magistrate what has passed.”

The men came up to the pirogue.

Fragoso undid the belt which encircled the body of Tor-
res underneath the torn poncho, and feeling his breast-
pocket, exclaimed, ““ The case!”

A cry of joy escaped from Benito. He stretched for-
ward to seize the case, to make sure that it contained

“No!” again interrupted Manoel, whose coolness did not
forsake him. “ It is necessary that not the slightest possible
doubt should exist in the mind of the magistrate! It is
better that disinterested witnesses should affirm that this
case was really found on the corpse of Torres!”

“You are right,” replied Benito.

“My friend,” said Manoel to the foreman of the raft,
“ just feel in the pocket of the waistcoat.”

The foreman obeyed. He drew forth a metal case, with
the cover screwed on, and which seemed to have suffered
in no way from its sojourn in the water.

“The paper! Is the paper still inside?” exclaimed
Benito, who could not contain himself.

“It is for the magistrate to open this case!” answered
Manoel. “To him belongs the duty of verifying that the
document was found within it.”

“Yes, yes. Again you are right, Manoel,” said Benito.
“ To Manaos, my friends—to Manaos!”

Benito, Manoel, Fragoso, and the foreman, who held the
case, immediately jumped into one of the pirogues,
and were starting off, when Fragoso said, “ And the
corpse? ”

The pirogue stopped. In fact, the Indians had already
thrown back the body into the water, and it was drifting
away down the river.




54 THE CRYPTOGRAM

“ Torres was only a scoundrel,” said Benito. *If I had
to fight him, it was God that struck him, and his body
ought not to go unburied!” And so orders were given to
the second pirogue to recover the corpse, and take it to
the bank to await its burial.

But at the same moment a flock of birds of prey, which
skimmed along the surface of the stream, pounced on the
floating body. They were urubus, a kind of small vulture,
with naked necks and long claws, and black as crows. In
South America they are known as gallinazos, and their
voracity is unparalleled. = The body, torn open by their
beaks, gave forth the gases which inflated it, its density
increased, it sank down little by little, and for the last time
what remained of Torres disappeared beneath the waters of
the Amazon.

Ten minutes afterward the pirogue arrived at Manaos.
Benito and his companions jumped ashore, and hurried
through the streets of the town. In a few minutes they
had reached the dwelling of Judge Jarriquez, and informed
him, through one of his servants, that they wished to see
him immediately. The judge ordered them to be shown
into his study.

There Manoel recounted all that had passed, from the
moment when Torres had been killed until the moment
when the case had been found on his corpse, and taken from
his breast-pocket by the foreman.

Although this recital was of a nature to corroborate all
that Joam Dacosta had said on the subject of Torres, and
of the bargain which he had endeavored to make, Judge
Jarriquez could not restrain a smile of incredulity.

“ There is the case, sir,” said Manoel. “ For not a single
instant has it been in our hands, and the man who gives it
to you is he who took it from the body of Torres.”

The magistrate took the case and examined it with care,
turning it over and over as though it were made of some
precious material. Then he shook it, and a few coins inside
sounded with a metallic ring. Did not, then, the case con-
tain the document which had been so much sought after—
the document written in the very hand of the true author
of the crime of Tijuco, and which Torres had wished to
sell at such an ignoble price to Joam Dacosta? Was this

material proof of the convict’s innocence irrecoverably lost 2
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We can easily imagine the violent agitation which had
seized upon the spectators of this scene. Benito could
scarcely utter a word; he felt his heart ready to burst.
“QOpen it, sir! open the case!” he at last exclaimed, in a
broken voice.

Judge Jarriquez began to unscrew the lid; then, when
the cover was removed, he turned up the case, and from it
a few pieces of gold dropped out and rolled on the table.

“ But the paper! the paper!” again gasped Benito, who
clutched hold of the table to save himself from falling.

The magistrate put his fingers into the case and drew out,
not without difficulty, a faded paper, folded with care, and
which the water did not seem to have touched.

“The document! that is the document!” shouted Fra-
goso; ‘“that is the very paper I saw in the hands of
Torres!”

Judge Jarriquez unfolded the paper and cast his eyes over
it, and then he turned it over so as to examine it on the
back and the front, which were both covered with writing.
“ A document it really is!” said he; “there is no doubt
of that. It is indeed a document!”

“Yes,” replied Benito; “ and that is the document which
proves my father’s innocence!”

“I do not know that,” replied Judge Jarriquez; “and I
am afraid it will be very difficult to know it.”

“Why?” exclaimed Benito, who became pale as death.

“ Because this document is a cryptogram, and %

“Well?”

“ We have not got the key!”

CHAPTER XI
THE DOCUMENT

THi1s was a contingency which neither Joam Dacosta nor
his people could have anticipated. In fact, as those who
have not forgotten the first scene in this story are aware,
the document was written in a disguised form in one of the
numerous systems used in cryptography.

But which of them? To discover this would require all
the ingenuity of which the human brain was capable.

Before dismissing Benito and his companions, Judge Jar-
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riquez had an exact copy made of the document, and, keep-
ing the original, handed the copy to them after due com-
parison, so that they could communicate with the prisoner.

Then, making an appointment for the morrow, they re-
tired, and, not wishing to lose an instant in seeing Joam
Dacosta, they hastened on to the prison; and there, in a
short interview, informed him of all that had passed.

Joam Dacosta took the document and carefully examined
it. Shaking his head, he handed it back to his son. ‘ Per-
haps,” he said, “there is therein written the proof I shall
never be able to produce. But if that proof escapes me, if
the whole tenor of my life does not plead for me, I have
nothing more to expect from the justice of men, and my
fate is in the hands of God!”

And all felt it to be so. If the document remained
indecipherable, the position of the convict was a desperate
one.

“We shall find it, father!” exclaimed Benito. ‘ There
never was a document of this sort yet which could stand
examination. Have confidence—yes, confidence! Heaven
has, so to speak, miraculously given us the paper which
vindicates you, and, after guiding our hands to recover it,
it will not refuse to direct our brains to unravel it.”

Joam Dacosta shook hands with Benito and Manoel, and
then the three young men, much agitated, retired to the
jangada, where Yaquita was awaiting them.

Yaquita was soon informed of what had happened since
the evening—the reappearance of the body of Torres, the
discovery of the document, and the strange form under
which the real culprit, the companion of the adventurer,
had thought proper to write his confession—doubtless, so
that it should not compromise him if it fell into strange
hands.

Naturally, Lina was informed of this unexpected com-
plication, and of the discovery made by Fragoso, that Tor-
res was an old captain of the woods belonging to the gang
who were employed about the mouths of the Madeira.

“But under what circumstances did you meet him?”
asked the young mulatto.

“It was during one of my runs across the province of
Amazones,” replied Fragoso, “ when I was going from vil-
lage to village, working at my trade.”
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“ And the scar?”

“ What happened was this: One day I arrived at the mis-
sion of Aranas at the moment that Torres, whom I had
never before seen, had picked a quarrel with one of his
comrades—and a bad lot they are! and this quarrel ended
with a stab from a knife, which entered the arm of the cap-
tain of the woods. There was no doctor there, and so I
took charge of the wound, and that is how I made his
acquaintance.”

“ What does it matter, after all,” replied the young girl,
“ that we know what Torres had been? He was not the
author of the crime, and it does not help us in the least.”

“No, it does not,” answered Fragoso;  for we shall
end by reading this document, and then the innocence of
Joam Dacosta will be palpable to the eyes of all.”

This was likewise the hope of Yaquita, of Benito, of
Manoel, and of Minha, and, shut up in the house, they
passed long hours in endeavoring to decipher the writ-
ing.

But if it was their hope—and there is no need to insist
on that point—it was none the less that of Judge Jarriquez.
After having drawn up his report at the end of his exam-
ination establishing the identity of Joam Dacosta, the mag-
istrate had sent it off to headquarters, and therewith he
thought he had finished with the affair so far as he was
concerned. It could not well be otherwise.

On the discovery of the document, Jarriquez suddenly
found himself face to face with the study of which he was
a master. He, the seeker after numerical combinations, the
solver of amusing problems, the answerer of charades,
rebuses, logogryphs, and such things, was at last in his true
element.

At the thought that the document might perhaps contain
the justification of Joam Dacosta, he felt all the instinct
of an analyst aroused. Here, before his very eyes, was a
cryptogram! And so from that moment he thought of
nothing but how to discover its meaning, and it is scarcely
necessary to say that he made up his mind to work at it
continuously, even if he forgot to eat or to drink.

After the departure of the young people, Judge Jarriquez
installed himself in his study. His door, barred against
every one, assured him of several hours of perfect solitude.
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His spectacles were on his nose, his snuff-box on the table.
He took a good pinch so as to develop the finesse and
sagacity of his mind. He picked up the document and
became absorbed in meditation, which soon became materi-
alized in the shape of a monologue. The worthy justice
was one of those unreserved men who think more
casily aloud than to themselves. “Let us proceed with
method,” he said. “ No method, no logic; no logic, no
success.”

Then, taking the document, he ran through it from be-
ginning to end, without understanding it in the least.

The document contained a hundred lines, which were
divided into half a dozen paragraphs.

“Hum!” said the judge, after a little reflection; “to
try every paragraph, one after the other, would be to lose
precious time, and be of no use. I had better select one of
these paragraphs, and take the one which is likely to prove
the most interesting. Which of them would do this better
than the last, where the recital of the whole affair is prob-
ably summed up? Proper names might put me on the track,
among others that of Joam Dacosta; and if he has anything
to do with this document, his name will evidently not be
absent from its concluding paragraph.”

The magistrate’s reasoning was logical, and he was de-
cidedly right in bringing all his resources to bear in the
first place on the gist of the cryptogram as contained in its
last paragraph.

Here is the paragraph, for it is necessary to again bring
it before the eyes of the reader so as to show how an analyst
set to work to discover its meaning:

“Phyjslyddgqfdzxgasgzzqqehxgkfn
drxujugiocytdxvksbrxhhuypohdvyry
mhuhpuydkjoxphetozsletnpmuvffovpdp
ajxhynojyggaymeqgynfuglnmuvlyfgsu
zmqiztlbggyugsqgeubovnrcredgruzblyr
mxyuhqghpzdrrgcrohepgrufivvrplph
onthvddgfhgsntzhhhnfepmqogkyunuexk
togzgkyuumfovijdgqdpzjgsykrplarhzq
rymovklohhhotozvdksppsuvjihd”
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At the outset, Judge Jarriquez noticed that the lines of
the document were not divided either into words or phrases,
and that there was a complete absence of punctuation. This
fact could but render the reading of the document more
difficult.

“Let me see, however,” he said, “if there is not some
assemblage of the letters which appears to form a word—
I mean a pronounceable word, whose number of consonants
is in proportion to its vowels. And at the beginning I see
the word phy; farther on the word gas. Hallo! ujugi. Does
this mean the African town on the banks of Tanganyika!
What has this got to do with all this? Farther on
here is the word ypo. Is it Greek, then? Close by here
are rym and puy, and jox, and phetoz, and jyggay,
and mv, and gqruz. And before that we had got
red and let. That is good! those are two English words.
Then ohe—syk; then rym once more, and then the word
oto.”

Judge Jarriquez let the paper drop, and thought for a
few minutes.

‘ All the words I see in this thing seem queer!” he said.
“In fact, there is nothing to give a clue to their origin.
Some look like Greek, some like Dutch; some have an
English twist, and some look like nothing at all! To
say nothing of these series of consonants which are
not wanted in any human pronunciation. Most assuredly
it would not be very easy to find the key to this crypto-
gram.”

The magistrate’s fingers commenced to beat a tattoo on
his desk—a kind of reveille to arouse his dormant facul-
ties.

“Let us see,” he said, “ how many letters there are in
the paragraph.”

He then counted them, pen in hand.

“Two hundred and seventy-six!” he said. ‘‘ Well, now
let us try what proportion these different letters bear to
each other.”

This occupied him for some time. The judge took up
the document, and, with his pen in his hand, he noted each
letter in alphabetical order.

bIIn a quarter of an hour he had obtained the following
table :—
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e= 9 —
ti= 4 — ]
0—=12 —
u=17 —
y=19 —
Total . . . 64 vowels.

“ And thus there are in this paragraph, after we have
done our subtraction, sixty-four vowels and two hundred
and twelve consonants. Good! that is the normal propor-
tion. That is about a fifth, as in the alphabet, where there
are six vowels among twenty-five letters. It is possible,
therefore, that the document is written in the language of
our country, and that only the signification of each letter
is changed. If it has been modified in regular order, and
a b is always represented by an/, ano byav,ag by ak, an
u by an 7, etc., I will give up my judgeship if I do not read
it. What can I do better than follow the method of that
great analytical genius, Edgar Allan Poe?”

Judge Jarriquez herein alluded to a story by the great
American romancer, which is a masterpiece. Who has not
read the “Gold Bug”? In this novel a cryptogram, com-
posed of ciphers, letters, algebraic signs, asterisks, full-stops,
and commas, is submitted to a truly mathematical analysis,
and is deciphered under extraordinary conditions, which the
admirers of that strange genius can never forget. On the
reading of the American document depended only a treas-
ure, while on that of this one depended a man’s life. Its
solution was consequently all the more interesting.

The magistrate, who had often read and re-read his
“Gold Bug,” was perfectly acquainted with the steps in
the analysis so minutely described by Edgar Poe, and he
resolved to proceed in the same way on this occasion. In
doing so he was certain, as he had said, that if the value
or signification of each letter remained constant, he would,
sooner or later, arrive at the solution of the document.

“What did Edgar Poe do? ” he repeated. “ First of all
he began by finding out the sign—here there are only let-
ters, let us say the letter—which was reproduced the often-
est. I see that that is A, for it is met with twenty-three
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times. This enormous proportion shows, to begin with,
that & does not stand for A, but, on the contrary, that it
represents the letter which recurs most frequently in our
language, for I suppose the document is written in Portu-
guese. In English or French it would certainly be e, in
Italian it would be ¢ or g, in Portuguese it will be a or o.
Now let us say that / signifies a or 0.”

After this was done, the judge found out the letter
which recurred most frequently after 4, and so on, and he
formed the following table:—

h = 23 times.
y = 19 —
u = 17 —
dpg =16 —
gv =13 —
orxz = 12 —
fs =10 —
eklmn = 9 —
jt = 8 —
b1 = 4 —
ac = 3 —

“Now the letter a only occurs thrice!” exclaimed the
judge, “ and it ought to occur the oftenest. Ah! that clearly
proves that the meaning has been changed. And now, after
a or o, what are the letters which figure oftenest in our
language? Let us see,” and Judge Jarriquez, with truly
remarkable sagacity, which denoted a very observant mind,
started on this new quest. In this he was only imitating
the American romancer, who, great analyst as he was, had,
by simple induction, been able to construct an alphabet cor-
responding to the signs of the cryptogram, and by means
of it to eventually read the pirate’s parchment note with
ease.

The magistrate set to work in the same way, and we
may affirm that he was no whit inferior to his illustrious
master. Thanks to his previous work at logogryphs and
squares, rectangular arrangements, and other enigmas,
which depend only on an arbitrary disposition of the letters,
he was already pretty strong in such mental pastimes. On
this occasion he sought to establish the order in which the
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letters were reproduced—vowels first, consonants after-
ward.

Three hours had elapsed since he began. He had before
his eyes an alphabet which, if his procedure were right,
would give him the right meaning of the letters in the docu-
ment. He had only to successively apply the letters of his
alphabet to those of his paragraph. But before making this
application some slight emotion seized upon the judge. He
fully experienced the intellectual gratification—much greater
than, perhaps, would be thought—of the man who, after
hours of obstinate endeavor, saw the impatiently sought-for
sense of the logogryph coming into view.

“Now let us try,” he said; “ and’I shall be very much
surprised if I have not got the solution of the enigma!”

Judge Jarriquez took off his spectacles and wiped the
glasses; then he put them back again, and bent over the
table. His special alphabet was in one hand, the crypto-
gram in the other. He commenced to write under the first
line of the paragraph the true letters, which, according to
him, ought to correspond exactly with each of the crypto-
graphic letters. As with the first line so did he with the
second, and the third, and the fourth, until he had reached
the end of the paragraph.

Oddity as he was, he did not stop to see as he wrote if
the assemblage of letters made intelligible words. No; dur-
ing the first stage his mind refused all verification of that
sort. What he desired was to give himself the ecstasy of
reading it all straight off at once.

And now he had done.

“Let us read!” he exclaimed.

And he read. Good heavens! what cacophony! The lines
he had formed with the letters of his alphabet had no more
sense in them than those of the document! It was another
series of letters, and that was all. They formed no word;
they had no value. In short, they were just as hieroglyphic.

“ Confound the thing!” exclaimed Judge Jarriquez.



CHAPTER XII
IS IT A MATTER OF FIGURES?

IT was seven o’clock in the evening. Judge Jarriquez had
all the time been absorbed in working at the puzzle—and
was no farther advanced—and had forgotten the time of
repast and the time of repose, when there came a knock at
his study door.

It was time. An hour later, and all the cerebral substance
of the vexed magistrate would certainly have evaporated
under the intense heat into which he had worked his
head.

At the order to enter—which was given in an impatient
tone—the door opened and Manoel presented himself. The
young doctor had left his friends on board the jangada at
work on the indecipherable document, and had come to see
Judge Jarriquez. He was anxious to know if he had been
fortunate in his researches. He had come to ask if he had
at length discovered the system on which the cryptogram
had been written.

The magistrate was not sorry to see Manoel come in. He
was in that state of excitement that solitude was exasper-
ating to him. He wanted some one to speak to, some one
as anxious to penetrate the mystery as he was. Manoel was
just the man.

“ Sir,” said Manoel, as he entered, ‘“ one question! Have
you succeeded better than we have? ”

“ Sit down first,” exclaimed Judge Jarriquez, who got up
and began to pace the room. ‘“Sit down! If we are both
of us standing, you will walk one way and I shall walk the
other, and the room will be too narrow to hold us.”

Manoel sat down and repeated his question.

“No! I have not had any success!” replied the magis-
trate; “I do not think I am any better off. I have got
nothing to tell you; but I have found out a certainty.”

“What is that, sir?”

“ That the document is not based on conventional signs,
but on what is known in cryptology as a cipher, that is to
say, on a number.”

“Well, sir,” answered Manoel, ““ cannot a document of
that kind always be read?”

“Yes,” said Jarriquez, “iﬁt; a letter is invariably repre-
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sented by the same letter; if an @, for example, is always a
p, and a p is always an #; if not, it cannot.”

“ And in this document?”

“In this document the value of the letter changes with
the arbitrarily selected cipher which necessitates it. So a
b which will in one place be represented by a k will later
on become a 2, later on a u or an » or an f, or any other
letter)

“ And then, I am sorry to say, the cryptogram is inde-
cipherable.”

“ Indecipherable!” exclaimed Manoel. “No, sir; we
shall end by finding the key of the document on which a
man’s life depends.”

Manoel had risen, a prey to the excitement he could not
control; the reply he had received was too hopeless, and
he refused to accept it for good. At a gesture from the
judge, however, he sat down again, and in a calmer voice
asked, “ And in the first place, sir, what makes you think
that the basis of this document is a number, or, as you call
it, a cipher?”

“ Listen to me, young man,” replied the judge, ‘“and you
will be forced to give in to the evidence.”

The magistrate took the document and put it before the
eyes of Manoel and showed him what he had done.

“1 began,” he said, “by treating this document in the
proper way, that is to say, logically, leaving nothing to
chance. I applied to it an alphabet based on the proportion
the letters bear to one another which is usual in our lan-
guage, and I sought to obtain the meaning by following
the precepts of our immortal analyst, Edgar Poe. Well,
what succeeded with him collapsed with me.”

“ Collapsed!” exclaimed Manoel.

“Yes, my dear young man, and I at once saw that suc-
cess sought in that fashion was impossible. In truth, a
stronger man than I might have been deceived.”

“But I should like to understand,” said Manoel, “and
I do not—"

“ Take the document,” continued Judge Jarriquez; “ first
look at the disposition of the letters, and read it through.”

Manoel obeyed.

“Do you not see that the combination of several of the

letters is very strange? ” asked the magistrate.
V. XII Verne
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“I do not see anything,” said Manoel, after having for
perhaps the hundredth time read through the document.

“ Well! study the last paragraph! There you understand
the sense of the whole is bound to be summed up. Do you
see anything abnormal?”

“ Nothing.”

“There is, however, one thing which absolutely proves
that the language is subject to the laws of number.”

“ And that is?”

“That is that you see three h’s coming together in two
different places.”

What Jarriquez said was correct, and it was of a nature
to attract attention. The two hundred and fourth, two hun-
dred and fifth, and two hundred and sixth letters of the
paragraph, and the two hundred and fifty-eighth, two hun-
dred and fifty-ninth, and two hundred and sixtieth letters
of the paragraph, were consecutive /#’s. At first this peculiar-
ity had not struck the magistrate.

“ And that proves?” asked Manoel, without divining the
deduction that could be drawn from the combination.

“ That simply proves that the basis of the document is a
number. It shows a priori that each letter is modified in
virtue of the ciphers of the number and according to the
place which it occupies.”

“ And why?”

“ Because in no language will you find words with three
consecutive repetitions of the letter A.”

Manoel was struck with the argument; he thought about
it, and, in short, had no reply to make.

“ And had I made the observation sooner,” continued the
magistrate, “ I might have spared myself a good deal of
trouble and a headache which extends from my occiput to
my sinciput.”

“ But, sir,” asked Manoel, who felt the little hope van-
ishing on which he had hitherto rested, “ what do you mean
by a cipher?”

“ Tell me a number.”

“ Any number you like.”

“ Give me an example and you will understand the ex-
planation better.”

Judge Jarriquez sat down at the table, took up a sheet
of paper and a pencil, and said:



IS IT A MATTER OF FIGURES? 67

* Now, Mr. Manoel, let us choose a sentence by chance,
the first that comes; for instance—
Judge Jarriquez has an ingenious mind.

{ write this phrase so as to space the letters differently, and
I get—
Judgejarriquezhasaningeniousmind.

That done,” said the magistrate, to whom the phrase seemed
to contain a proposition beyond dispute, looking Manoel
straight in the face, ““ suppose I take a number by chance,
S0 as to give a cryptographic form to this natural succession
of words; suppose now this word is composed of three
ciphers, and let these ciphers be 2, 3 and 4. Now on the
line below I put the number 234, and repeat it as many times
as are necessary to get to the end of the phrase, and so that
every cipher comes underneath a letter. This is what we
get—

Judgejarriquezhasaningeniousmind.
23423423423423423423423423 423423

And now, Mr. Manoel, replacing each letter by the letter
in advance of it in alphabetical order according to the value
of the cipher, we get—

plus 2 equal !/
plus 3 equal »
plus 4 equal &
plus 2 equal 4
plus 3 equal 4
plus 4 equal
plus 2 equal
plus 3 equal
plus 4 equal
plus 2 equal
plus 3 equal
plus 4 equal
plus 2 equal
z plus 3 equal
h plus 4 equal
a plus 2 equal
s plus 3 equal
a plus 4 equal e
n plus 2 equal p

QAN .S Q AR,

o, soQe A0S
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i plus 3 equal /
n plus 4 equal r
g plus 2 equal ¢
e plus 3 equal X
n plus 4 equal 7
1 plus 2 equal &
o plus 3 equal r
# plus 4 equal y
s plus 2 equal u
and so on.

“If, on account of the value of the ciphers which com-
pose the number, I come to the end of the alphabet without
having enough complementary letters to deduct, I begin
again at the beginning. That is what happens at the end
of my name when the z is replaced by the 3. As after z
the alphabet has no more letters, I commence to count from
a and so get the c. That done, when I get to the end of this
cryptographic system, made up of the 234—which was arbi-
trarily selected, do not forget !—the phrase which you recog-
nize above is replaced by—

Ixhihncuvktygclcveplrihrkryupmpg.

“ And now, young man, just look at it, and do you not
think it is very much like what is in the document? Well,
what is the consequence? Why, that the signification of the
letters depends on a cipher which chance put beneath them,
and the cryptographic letter which answers to a true one is
not always the same. So in this phrase the first j is repre-
sented by an [, the second by an #n; the first ¢ by an k4, the
second by a g, the third by an A; the first d is represented
by an h, the last by a g, and so on. Now you see that if
you do not know the cipher 234 you will never be able to
read the lines, and consequently if we do not know the num-
ber of the document, it remains indecipherable!”

On hearing the magistrate reason with such careful logic,
Manoel was at first overwhelmed, but, raising his head, he
exclaimed :

“No, sir, I will not renounce the hope of finding the
number!”’

“We might have done so,” answered Judge Jarriquez,
“if the lines of the document had been divided into words.”

“ And why?”



IS IT A MATTER OF FIGURES? 69

“ For this reason, young man. I think we can assume
that in the last paragraph all that is written in these earlier
paragraphs is summed up. Now I am convinced that in it
will be found the name of Joam Dacosta. Well, if the lines
had been divided into words, in trying the words one after
the other—I mean the words composed of seven letters, as
the name of Dacosta is—it would not have been impossible
to evolve the number which is the key of the document.”

“ Will you explain to me how you ought to proceed to do
that, sir?”’ asked Manoel, who probably caught a glimpse
of one more hope.

“ Nothing can be more simple,” answered the judge.
“Let us take, for example, one of the words in the sen-
tence we have just written—my name, if you like. It is
represented in the cryptogram by this queer succession of
letters, ncuvktyge. Well, arranging these letters in a col-
umn, one under the other, and then placing them against the
letters of my name, and deducting one from the other the
numbers of their places in alphabetical order, I get the fol-
lowing result:—

Between # and j we have 4 letters

—_ c—a — 2 —
—_ 4—r — 3 —
—_—y—r — 4 —
e g e
— g—e iy P b
— ¢c—2 — 3 —

“ Now what is the column of ciphers made up of that
we have got by this simple operation? Look here! 423,
423, 423, that is to say, of repetitions of the numbers 423,
or 234, or 342.”

“ Yes, that is it!”’ answered Manoel.

“ You understand, then, by this means, that in calculat-
ing the true letter from the false, instead of the false from
the true, I have been able to discover the number with ease;
and the number I was in search of is really the 234 which
I took as the key to my cryptogram.”

“Well, sir!” exclaimed Manoel, “ if that is so, the name
of Dacosta is in the last paragraph; and taking successively
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each letter of these lines for the first of the seven letters
which compose his name, we ought to get 4]

“ That would be impossible,” interrupted the judge, “ ex-
cept on one condition.”

“ What is that?”

“That the first cipher of the number should happen to
be the first letter of the word Dacosta, and I think you will
agree with me that it is not probable.”

“Quite so!” sighed Manoel, who, with this improbabil-
ity, saw the last chance vanish.

“ And so we must trust to chance alone,” continued Jar-
riquez, who shook his head, ““ and chance does not often do
much in things of this sort.”

“But still,” said Manoel, ‘“chance might give us this
number.”

“This number,” exclaimed the magistrate—‘ this num-
ber? But how many ciphers is it composed of? Of two,
or three, or four, or nine, or ten? Is it made up of differ-
ent ciphers only, or of ciphers in different order many times
repeated? Do you not know, young man, that with the
ordinary ten ciphers, using all at a time, but without any
repetition, you can make 3,268,800 different numbers, and
that if you use the same cipher more than once in the num-
ber, these millions of combinations will be enormously in-
creased? And do you not know that if we employ every
one of the 525,600 minutes of which the year is composed
to try at each of these numbers, it would take you six years,
and that you would want three centuries if each operation
took you an hour? No! You ask the impossible!”

“Impossible, sir?” answered Manoel. “ An innocent
man has been branded as guilty, and Joam Dacosta is to
lose his life and his honor while you hold in your hands
the material proof of his innocence. That is what is im-
possible!”’

“ Ah, young man!” exclaimed Jarriquez, *“ who told you,
after all, that Torres did not tell a lie? Who told you that
he really did have in his hands a document written by the
author of the crime? that this paper was the document, and
that this document refers to Joam Dacosta? ”

“Who told me so?” repeated Manoel, and his face was
hidden in his hands.

In fact, nothing could prove for certain that the docu-
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ment had anything to do with the affair in the diamond
province. There was, in fact, nothing to show that it was
not utterly devoid of meaning, and that it had been imagined
by Torres himself, who was as capable of selling a false
thing as a true one!

“Tt does not matter, Manoel,” continued the judge, ris-
ing; “it does not matter! Whatever it may be to which
the document refers, I have not yet given up discovering
the cipher. After all, it is worth more than a logogryph or
a rebus!”

At these words Manoel rose, shook hands with the mag-
istrate, and returned to the jangada, feeling more hopeless
when he went back than when he set out.

CHAPTER XIII
CHANCE!

A coMPpLETE change took place in public opinion on the
subject of Joam Dacosta. To anger succeeded pity. The
population no longer thronged to the prison of Manaos to
roar out cries of death to the prisoner. On the contrary,
the most forward of them in accusing him of being the
principal author of the crime of Tijuco now averred that
he was not guilty, and demanded his immediate restoration
to liberty. Thus it always is with the mob—from one ex-
treme they run to the other. But the change was in-
telligible.

The events which had happened in the last few days—
the struggle between Benito and Torres; the search for the
corpse, which had reappeared under such extraordinary cir-
cumstances ; the finding of the ‘“ indecipherable ” document,
if we can so call it; the information it concealed, the assur-
ance that it contained, or rather the wish that it contained,
the material proof of the guiltlessness of Joam Dacosta; and
the hope that it was written by the real culprit—all these
things had contributed to work the change in public opinion.
What the people had desired and impatiently demanded
forty-eight hours before, they now feared, and that was the
arrival of the instructions due from Rio de Janeiro.

These, however, were not likely to be delayed.

Joam Dacosta had been arrested on the 24th of August,
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and examined next day. The judge’s report was sent off
on the 26th. It was now the 28th. In three or four days
more the Minister would have come to a decision regarding
the convict, and it was only too certain that justice would
take its course.

There was no doubt that such would be the case. On
the other hand, that the assurance of Dacosta’s innocence
would appear from the document, was not doubted by any-
body, neither by his family nor by the fickle population of
Manaos, who excitedly followed the phases of this dramatic
affair.

But, on the other hand, in the eyes of disinterested or
indifferent persons who were not affected by the event, what
value could be assigned to this document? and how could
they even declare that it referred to the crime in the diamond
arrayal? It existed, that was undeniable; it had been found
on the corpse of Torres, nothing could be more certain. It
could even be seen, by comparing it with the letter in which
Torres gave the information about Joam Dacosta, that the
document was not in the handwriting of the adventurer.
But, as had been suggested by Judge Jarriquez, why should
not the scoundrel have invented it for the sake of his bar-
gain? ‘And this was less unlikely to be the case, considering
that Torres had declined to part with it until after his mar-
riage with Dacosta’s daughter—that is to say, when it
would have been impossible to undo an accomplished fact.

All these views were held by some people in some form,
and we can quite understand what interest the affair created.
In any case, the situation of Joam Dacosta was most hazard-
ous. If the document were not deciphered, it would be just
the same as if it did not exist; and if the secret of the crypto-
gram were not miraculously divined or revealed before the
end of the three days, the supreme sentence would inevitably
be suffered by the doomed man of Tijuco. And this miracle
a man attempted to perform! The man was Jarriquez, and
he now really set to work more in the interest of Joam
Dacosta than for the satisfaction of his analytical faculties.
A complete change had also taken place in his opinion. Was
not this man, who had voluntarily abandoned his retreat at
Iquitos, who had come at the risk of his life to demand his
rehabilitation at the hands of Brazilian justice, a moral enig-
ma worth all the others put together? And so the judge
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had resolved never to leave the document until he had dis-
covered the cipher. He set to work at it in a fury. He ate
no more; he slept no more! All his time was passed in
inventing combinations of numbers, in forging a key to
force this lock!

This idea had taken possession of Judge Jarriquez’s brain
at the end of the first day. Suppressed frenzy consumed
him, and kept him in a perpetual heat. His whole house
trembled ; his servants, black or white, dared not come near
him. Fortunately he was a bachelor; had there been a
Madame Jarriquez she would have had a very uncomfortable
time of it. Never had a problem so taken possession of this
oddity, and he had thoroughly made up his mind to get at
the solution, even if his head exploded like an overheated
boiler under the tension of its vapor.

It was perfectly clear to the mind of the worthy magistrate
that the key to the document was a number, composed of
two or more ciphers, but what this number was all investiga-
tion seemed powerless to discover.

This was the enterprise on which Jarriquez, in quite a
fury, was engaged, and during this 28th of August he
brought all his faculties to bear on it, and worked away
almost superhumanly.

To arrive at the number by chance, he said, was to lose
himself in millions of combinations, which would absorb
the life of a first-rate calculator. But if he could in no
respect reckon on chance, was it impossible to proceed by
reasoning? Decidedly not! And so it was “to reason till
he became unreasoning ” that Judge Jarriquez gave him-
self up after vainly seeking repose in a few hours of sleep.
He who ventured in upon him at this moment after braving
the formal defenses which protected his solitude, would have
found him, as on the day before, in his study, before his
desk, with the document under his eyes, the thousands of
letters of which seemed all jumbled together and flying about
his head.

“Ah!” he exclaimed, “ why did not the scoundrel who
wrote this separate the words in this paragraph? We might
—we will try—but no! However, if there is anything here
about the murder and the robbery, two or three words there
must be in it—* arrayal,’ ‘diamond,’” ‘ Tijuco,” ‘ Dacosta,’
and others; and in putting down their cryptological equiva-
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lents the number could be arrived at. But there is nothing
—not a break —not one word by itself! One word of two
hundred and seventy-six letters! I hope the wretch may
be blessed two hundred and seventy-six times for complicat-
ing his system in this way! He ought to be hanged two
hundred and seventy-six times!”

And a violent thump with his fist on the document em-
phasized this charitable wish.

“ But,” continued the magistrate, “ if I cannot find one of
the words in the body of the document, I might at least
try my hand at the beginning and end of each paragraph.
There may be a chance there that I ought not to miss.”

And impressed with this idea Judge Jarriquez successively
tried if the letters which commenced or finished the differ-
ent paragraphs could be made to correspond with those
which formed the most important word, which was sure to
be found somewhere, that of Dacosta.

To take only the last paragraph with which he began,
the formula was

Qe ~hse N

1 1 1 T 1Y

a~uoaaly

Now at the very first letter Jarriquez was stopped in his
calculations, for the difference in alphabetical position be-
tween the d and p gave him not one cipher but two, namely :
12, and in this kind of cryptogram only one letter can take
the place of another.

It was the same for the seven last letters of the paragraph,
p suwvjhd of which the series also commences with a
p, and which could in no case stand for the d in Dacosta,
because these letters were in like manner twelve spaces apart.

So it was not his name that figured here.

The same observation applied to the words arrayal and
Tijuco, which were successively tried, but whose construc-
tion did not correspond with the cryptographic series.

After he had got so far, Judge Jarriquez, with his head
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nearly splitting, arose and paced his office, went for fresh
air to the window, and gave utterance to a growl, at the noise
of which a flock of humming-birds, murmuring among the
foliage of a mimosa-tree, betook themselves to flight. Then
he returned to the document.

He picked it up and turned it over.

“ The humbug! the rascal!” he hissed; “it will end by
driving me mad! But steady! Be calm! Don’t let our
spirits go down! This is not the time!”

And then having refreshed himself by giving his head a
thorough sluicing with cold water :—

“Let us try another way,” he said, “and as I cannot hit
upon the number from the arrangement of the letters, let
us see what number the author of the document would have
chosen in confessing that he was the author of the crime
at Tijuco.”

This was another method for the magistrate to enter upon,
and maybe he was right, for there was a certain amount
of logic about it.

“ And first let us try a date. Why should not the culprit
have taken the date of the year in which Dacosta, the in-
nocent man he allowed to be sentenced in his place, was
born? Was he likely to forget a number which was so
important to him? Then Joam Dacosta was born in 1804.
Let us see what 1804 will give us as a cryptological
number.”

And Judge Jarriquez wrote the first letters of the para-
graph, and putting over them the number 1804 repeated
thrice, he obtained :

1804 1804 1804
phyj  slyd aqfd
Then in counting up the spaces in alphabetical order he
obtained

o.yf rdy. cif.

And this was meaningless! And he wanted three letters
which he had to replace by points because the ciphers, 8,
4, and 4, which command the three letters, 4, d, and d, do
not give corresponding letters in ascending the series.

“ That is not it again!” exclaimed Jarriquez. “Let us
try another number.”

And he asked himself, if instead of this first date the
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author of the document had not rather selected the date of
the year in which the crime was committed.

This was in 1826.

And so proceeding as above, he obtained

1826 1826 1826
phyj slyd dqfd
and that gave
o.vd rduv. cid.

the same meaningless series, the same absence of sense, as
many letters wanting as in the former instance, and for the
same reason.

“ Bother the number!” exclaimed the magistrate. “ We
must give it up again. Let us have another one! Perhaps
the rascal chose the number of contos representing the
amount of the booty!”

Now the value of the stolen diamonds was estimated at
eight hundred and thirty-four contos, or about 2,500,000
francs, and so the formula became

834 834 834 834
phy jsl ydd qfd

and this gave a result as little gratifying as the others—
het bph pa. ic.

“ Confound the document and him who imagined it!”
shouted Jarriquez, throwing down the paper, which was
wafted to the other side of the room. It would try the
patience of a saint!”

But the short burst of anger passed away, and the magis-
trate, who had no idea of being beaten, picked up the
paper. What he had done with the first letters of the differ-
ent paragraphs he did with the last—and to no purpose.
Then he tried everything his excited imagination could sug-
gest.

He tried in succession the numbers which represented
Dacosta’s age, which should have been known to the author
of the crime, the date of his arrest, the date of the sentence
at the Villa Rica assizes, the date fixed for the execution,
etc., etc., even the number of victims at the affray at Tijuco!

Nothing! All the time nothing!

Judge Jarriquez had worked himself into such a state of
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exasperation that there really was some fear that his mental
faculties would lose their balance. He jumped about, and .
twisted about, and wrestled about as if he really had got
hold of his enemy’s body. Then suddenly he cried: ‘“ Now
for chance! Heaven help me now, logic is powerless!”

His hand seized a bell-pull hanging near his table. The
bell rang furiously, and the magistrate strode up to the
door, which he ‘opened. “Bobo!” he shouted.

A moment or two elapsed.

Bobo was a freed negro, who was the privileged servant
of Jarriquez. He did not appear; it was evident that Bobo
was afraid to come into his master’s room. :

Another ring at the bell; another call to Bobo, who, for
his own safety, pretended to be deaf on this occasion. And
now a third ring at the bell, which unhitched the crank and
broke the cord.

This time Bobo came up. “ What is it, sir? "’ asked Bobo,
prudently waiting on the threshold.

“ Advance, without uttering a single word!” replied the
judge, whose flaming eyes made the negro quake again.

Bobo advanced.

“Bobo,” said Jarriquez, ‘“attend to what I say, and
answer immediately; do not even take time to think, or
I_—__!!

Bobo, with fixed eyes and open mouth, brought his feet
together like a soldier and stood at attention.

‘“ Are you ready? " asked his master.

(13 I am-”

“ Now, then, tell me, without a moment’s thought—you
understand—the first number that comes into your head.”

#76223,” answered Bobo, all in a breath. Bobo thought
he would please his master by giving him a pretty large one!

Judge Jarriquez had run to the table, and, pencil in hand,
had made out a formula with the number given by Bobo,
and which Bobo had in his way only given him at a venture.

It is obvious that it was most unlikely that a number such
as .76223 was the key of the document, and it produced
no other result than to bring to the lips of Jarriquez such
a vigorous ejaculation that Bobo disappeared like a shot!



CHAPTER XIV
THE LAST EFFORT

THE magistrate, however, was not the only one who
passed his time unprofitably. Benito, Manoel, Minha tried
all they could together to extract the secret from the docu-
ment on which depended their father’s life and honor. On
his part, Fragoso, aided by Lina, could not remain quiet,
but all their ingenuity had failed, and the number still
escaped them.

“Why don’t you find it, Fragoso?” asked the young
mulatto.

“I will find it,” answered Fragoso.

And he did not find it!

Here we should say that Fragoso had an idea of a project
of which he had not even spoken to Lina, but which had
taken full possession of his mind. This was to go in search
of the gang to which the ex-captain of the woods had be-
longed, and to find out who was the probable author of
this cipher document, which was supposed to be the con-
fession of the culprit of Tijuco. The part of the Amazon
where these people were employed, the very place where
Fragoso had met Torres a few years before, was not very
far from Manaos. He would only have to descend the
river for about fifty miles, to the mouth of the Madeira,
a tributary coming in on the right, and there he was almost
sure to meet the head of these * capitaes do mato,” to
which Torres belonged. In two days, or three days at the
outside, Fragoso could get into communication with the
old comrades of the adventurer.

“Yes! I could do that,” he repeated to himself; “ but
what would be the good of it, supposing I succeeded? If we
are sure that one of Torres’ companions has recently died,
would that prove him to be the author of this crime? Would
that show that he gave Torres a document in which he an-
nounced himself the author of this crime, and exonerated
Joam Dacosta? Would this give us the key of the docu-
ment? No! Two men only knew the cipher—the culprit
and Torres! And these two men are no more!”

So reasoned Fragoso. It was evident that his enterprise
would do no good. But the thought of it was too much
for him. An irresistible influence impelled him to set out,
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although he was not even sure of finding the band on the
Madeira. In fact, it might be engaged in some other part
of the province, and to come up with it might require more
time than Fragoso had at his disposal! And what would
be the result?

It is none the less true, however, that on the 29th of
August, before sunrise, Fragoso, without saying anything
to anybody, secretly left the jangada, arrived at Manaos,
and embarked in one of the egariteas which daily descend
the Amazon.

And great was the astonishment when he was not seen
on board, and did not appear during the day. No one, not
even Lina, could explain the absence of so devoted a servant
at such a crisis. Some of them even asked, and not with-
out reason, if the poor fellow, rendered desperate at having,
when he met him on the frontier, personally contributed to
bringing Torres on board the raft, had not made away with
himself.

But if Fragoso could so reproach himself, how about
Benito? In the first place, at Iquitos he had invited Torres
to visit the fazenda; in the second place, he had brought
him on board the jangada, to become a passenger on it;
and in the third place, in killing him, he had annihilated
the only witness whose evidence could save the condemned
man. And so Benito considered himself responsible for
everything—the arrest of his father, and the terrible events
of which it had been the consequence.

In fact, had Torres been alive, Benito could not tell
but that, in some way or another, from pity or for reward,
he would have finished by handing over the document.
Would not Torres, whom nothing could compromise, have
been persuaded to speak, had money been brought to bear
upon him? Would not the long-sought-for proof have been
furnished to the judge? Yes, undoubtedly! And the only
man who could have furnished this evidence had been killed
through Benito!

Such was what the wretched man continually repeated
to his mother, to Manoel, and to himself; were the cruel
responsibilities which his conscience laid to his charge.

Between her husband, with whom she passed all the time
that was allowed to her, and her son, a prey to despair
which made her tremble for his reason, the brave Yaquita
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lost none of her moral energy. In her they found the
valiant daughter of Magalhaes, the worthy wife of the
fazender of Iquitos.

The attitude of Joam Dacosta was well adapted to sus-
tain her in this ordeal. That gallant man, that rigid Puritan,
that austere worker, whose whole life had been a battle,
had not yet shown a moment of weakness.

The most terrible blow which had struck him without
prostrating him had been the death of Judge Ribeiro, in
whose mind his innocence did not admit of a doubt. Was
it not with the help of his old defender that he had hoped
to strive for his rehabilitation? The intervention of Tor-
res he had regarded throughout as being quite secondary
for him. And of this document he had no knowledge when
he left Iquitos to hand himself over to the justice of his
country. He only took with him moral proofs. When a
material proof was unexpectedly produced in the course
of the affair, before or after his arrest, he was certainly
not the man to despise it. But, if, on account of regrettable
circumstances, the proof disappeared, he would find himself
once more in the same position as when he passed the
Brazilian frontier—the position of a man who came to say:
“ Here is my past life; here is my present; here is an en-
tirely honest existence of work and devotion which I bring
you. You passed on me at first an erroneous judgment.
After three-and-twenty years of exile I have come to give
myself up! Here I am; judge me again!”

The dedth of Torres, the impossibility of reading the
document found on him, had thus not produced on Joam
Dacosta the impression which it had on his children, his
friends, his household, and all who were interested in
him,

“T have faith in my innocence,” he repeated to Yaquita,
““as I have faith in God. If my life is still useful to my
people, and a miracle is necessary to save me, that miracle
will be performed; if not, I shall die! God alone is my
judge!”

The excitement increased in Manaos as the time ran on;
the affair was discussed with unexampled acerbity. In the
midst of this enthrallment of public opinion, which evoked
so much of the mysterious, the document was the principal
object of conversation.
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At the end of this fourth day not a single person doubted
but that it contained the vindication of the doomed man.
Every one had been given an opportunity of deciphering
its incomprehensible contents, for the Diario d’o Grand
Para had reproduced it in facsimile. Autograph copies
were spread about in great numbers at the suggestion of
Manoel, who neglected nothing that might lead to the
penetration of the mystery—not even chance, that “ nick-
name of providence,” as some one has called it.

In addition, a reward of 100 contos (or 300,000 francs)
was promised to any one who could discover the cipher so
fruitlessly sought after—and read the document. This was
quite a fortune, and so people of all classes forgot to eat,
drink, or sleep to attack this unintelligible cryptogram.

Up to the present, however, all had been useless, and
probably the most ingenious analysts in the world would
have spent their time in vain. It had been advertised that
any solution should be sent, without delay, to Judge Jarri-
quez, to his house in God-the-Son Street; but the evening
of the 29th of August came and none had arrived, nor was
any likely to arrive.

Of all those who took up the study of the puzzle, Judge
Jarriquez was one of the most to be pitied. By a natural
association of ideas, he also joined in the general opinion
that the document referred to the affair at Tijuco, and that
it had been written by the hand of the guilty man, and
exonerated Joam Dacosta. And so he put even more ardor
into his search for the key. It was not only the art for
the art’s sake which guided him, it was a sentiment of
justice, of pity toward a man suffering under an unjust
condemnation. If it is the fact that a certain quantity of
phosphorus is expended in the work of the brain, it would
be difficult to say how many milligrammes the judge had
parted with to excite the network of his “ sensorium,” and
after all, to find out nothing, absolutely nothing.

But Jarriquez had no idea of abandoning the inquiry.
If he could only now trust to chance, he would work on
for that chance. He tried to evoke it by all means possible
and impossible. He had given himself over to fury and
anger, and what was worse, to impotent anger!

During the latter part of this day he had been trying
different numbers—numbers selected arbitrarily—and how
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many of them can scarcely be imagined. Had he had the
time, he would not have shrunk from plunging into the
millions of combinations of which the ten symbols of numer-
ation are capable. He would have given his whole life to
it at the risk of going mad before the year was out. Mad!
was he not that already? He had had the idea that the
document might be read through the paper, and so he turned
it round and exposed it to the light, and tried it in that way.

Nothing! The numbers already thought of, and which
he tried in this new way, gave no result. Perhaps the
document read backward, and the last letter was really the
first, for the author would have done this had he wished
to make the reading more difficult.

Nothing' The new combination only furnished a series
of letters just as enigmatic.

At eight o’clock in the evening Jarriquez, w1th his face
in his hands, knocked up, worn out mentally and physically,
had neither strength to move, to speak, to think, or to
associate one idea with another.

Suddenly a noise was heard outside. Almost immedi-
ately, notwithstanding his formal orders, the door of his
study was thrown open. Benito and Manoel were before
him, Benito looking dreadfully pale, and Manoel supporting
him, for the unfortunate young man had hardly strength
to support himself.

The magistrate quickly arose.

“ What is it, gentlemen? What do you want? ” he asked.

“ The cipher !—the cipher!” exclaimed Benito, mad with
grief—* the cipher of the document.”

“ Do you know it, then? ”” shouted the judge.

“No, sir!” said Manoel. “But you?”

“ Nothing—nothing!”

“ Nothing?” gasped Benito, and in a paroxysm of de-
spair he took a knife from his belt, and would have plunged
it into his breast had not the judge and Manoel jumped
forward and managed to disarm him.

“ Benito,” said Jarriquez, in a voice which he tried to
keep calm, ““if your father cannot escape the expiation of
a crime which is not his, you could do something better than
kill yourself.”

“ What? ” said Benito.

“Try and save his life!”
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9 HOW ? ”
“ That is for you to discover,” answered the magistrate,
“and not for me to say.”

CHAPTER XV
PREPARATIONS

ON the following day, the 30th of August, Benito and
Manoel talked matters over together. They had under-
stood the thought to which the judge had not dared to give
utterance in their presence, and were engaged in devising
some means by which the condemned man could escape the
penalty of the law.

Nothing else was left for them to do. It was only too
certain that for the authorities at Rio Janeiro the undeci-
phered document would have no value whatever, that it would
be a dead letter, that the first verdict which declared Joam
Dacosta the perpetrator of the crime at Tijuco would not
be set aside, and that, as in such cases no commutation was
possible, the order for his execution would inevitably be
received.

Once more, then, Joam Dacosta would have to escape
by flight from an unjust punishment.

It was at the outset agreed by the two young men that
the secret should be carefully kept, and that neither Yaquita
nor Minha should be informed of preparations, which would
probably only give rise to hopes destined never to be real-
ized. Who could tell if, owing to some unforeseen circum-
stance, the attempt at escape would not prove a miserable
failure?

The presence of Fragoso on such an occasion would have
been most valuable. Discreet and devoted, his services would
have been most welcome to the two young fellows; but
Fragoso had not reappeared. Lina, when asked, could only
say that she knew not what had become of him, nor why
he had left the raft without telling her anything about
it.

And assuredly, had Fragoso foreseen that things would
have turned out as they were doing, he would never have
left the Dacosta family on an expedition which appeared to
promise no serious results. Far better for him to have
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assisted in the escape of the doomed man than to have hur-
ried off in search of the former comrades of Torres! But
Fragoso was away, and his assistance had to be dispensed
with.

At daybreak Benito and Manoel left the raft and pro-
ceeded to Manaos. They soon reached the town, and passed
through its narrow streets, which at that early hour were
quite deserted. In a few minutes they arrived in front of
the prison. The waste ground, amid which the old convent
which served for a house of detention was built, was trav-
ersed by them in all directions, for they had come to study
it with the utmost care.

Fifty-five feet from the ground, in an angle of the build-
ing, they recognized the window of the cell in which Joam
Dacosta was confined. The window was secured with iron
bars in a miserable state of repair, which it would be easy
to tear down or cut through if they could only get near
enough. The badly jointed stones in the wall, which were
crumbled away here and there, offered many a ledge
for the feet to rest on, if only a rope could be fixed to climb
up by. One of the bars had slipped out of its socket, and
formed a hook over which it might be possible to throw
a rope. That done, one or two of the bars could be re-
moved so as to permit a man to get through. Benito and
Manoel would then have to make their way into the pris-
oner’s room, and without much difficulty the escape could
be managed by means of the rope fastened to the projecting
iron. During the night, if the sky were very cloudy, none
of these operations would be noticed, and before the day
dawned Joam Dacosta could get safely away.

Manoel and Benito spent an hour about the spot, tak-
ing care not to attract attention, but examining the locality
with great exactness, particularly as regarded the position
of the window, the arrangement of the iron bars, and the
place from which it would be best to throw the line.

“ That is agreed!” said Manoel, at length. “ And now,
ought Joam Dacosta to be told about this? ”

“No, Manoel. Neither to him, any more than to my
mother, opght we to impart the secret of an attempt in which
there is such a risk of failure.”

“ We shall succeed, Benito! ” continued Manoel. “ How-
ever, we must prepare for everything; and in case the
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chief of the prison should discover us at the moment of
escape——"’

“ We shall have money enough to purchase his silence,”
answered Benito. ‘

“Good!” replied Manoel. “ But once your father is out
of prison he cannot remain hidden in the town or on the
jangada. Where is he to find refuge?”

. This was the second question to solve: and a very dif-
ficult one it was.

A hundred paces away from the prison, however, the
waste land was crossed by one of those canals which flow
through the town into the Rio Negro. This canal afforded
an easy way of gaining the river if a pirogue were in wait-
ing for the fugitive. From the foot of the wall to the
canal side was hardly a hundred yards.

Benito and Manoel decided that about eight o’clock in
the evening one of the pirogues, with two strong rowers,
under the command of the pilot Araujo, should start from
the jangada. They could ascend the Rio Negro, enter the
canal, and, crossing the waste land, remain concealed
throughout the night under the tall vegetation on the banks.

But once on board, where was Joam Dacosta to seek
refuge? To return to Iquitos was to follow a road full
of difficulties and peril, and a long one in any case, should
the fugitive either travel across the country or by the river.
Neither by horse nor pirogue could he be got out of danger
quickly enough, and the fazenda was no longer a safe
retreat. He would not return to it as the fazender, Joam
Garral, but as the convict, Joam Dacosta, continually in
fear of extradition. He could never dream of resuming
his former life.

To get away by the Rio Negro into the north of the
province, or even beyond the Brazilian territory, would re-
quire more time than he could spare, and his first care
must be to escape from immediate pursuit.

To start again down the Amazon? But stations, villages,
and towns abounded on both sides of the river. The de-
scription of the fugitive would be sent to all the police, and
he would run the risk of being arrested long before he
reached the Atlantic. And supposing he reached the coast,
where and how was he to hide and wait for a passage to
put the sea between himself and his pursuers?
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On consideration of these various plans, Benito and Ma-
noel agreed that neither of them was practicable. One,
however, did offer some chance of safety, and that was
to embark in a pirogue, follow the canal into the Rio Negro,
descend this tributary under the guidance of the pilot, reach
the confluence of the rivers, and run down the Amazon
along its right bank for some sixty miles during the nights,
resting during the daylight, and so gaining the embouchure
of the Madeira.

This tributary, which, fed by a hundred affluents, descends
from the waterheads of the Cordilleras, is a regular water-
way opening into the very heart of Bolivia. A pirogue could
pass up it and leave no trace of his passage, and a refuge
could be found in some town or village beyond the Brazilian
frontier. There Joam Dacosta would be comparatively
safe, and there for several months he could wait for an
opportunity of reaching the Pacific coast and taking passage
in some vessel leaving one of its ports; and if the ship were
bound for one of the States of North America he would be
free. Once there, he could sell the fazenda, leave his coun-
try forever, and seek beyond the sea, in the Old World, a
final retreat in which to end an existence so cruelly and un-
justly disturbed. Anywhere he might go, his family—not
excepting Manoel, who was bound to him by so many ties—
would assuredly follow without the slightest hesitation.

“Let us go,” said Benito; “ we must have all ready be-
fore night, and we have no time to lose.”

The young men returned on board by way of the canal
bank, which led along the Rio Negro. They satisfied them-
selves that the passage of the pirogue would be quite
possible, and that no obstacles such as locks or boats under
repair were there to stop it. They then descended the left
bank of the tributary, avoiding the slowly filling streets of
the town, and reached the jangada.

Benito’s first care was to see his mother. He felt suf-
ficiently master of himself to dissemble the anxiety which
consumed him. He wished to assure her that all hope was
not lost, that the mystery of the document would be cleared
up, that in any case public opinion was in favor of Joam,
and that, in face of the agitation which was being made in
his favor, justice would grant all the necessary time for the
production of the material proof of his innocence. “ Yes,
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mother,” he added, “before to-morrow we shall be free
from anxiety.”

“May heaven grant it so!” replied Yaquita, and she
looked at him so keenly that Benito could hardly meet her
glance.

On his part, and as if by prearrangement, Manoel had
tried to reassure Minha by telling her that Judge Jarriquez
was convinced of the innocence of Joam, and would try
to save him by every means in his power.

“I only wish he would, Manoel,” answered she, endeav-
oring to restrain her tears.

And Manoel left her, for the tears were also welling up
in his eyes and witnessing against the words of hope to
which he had just given utterance.

And now the time had arrived for them to make their
daily visit to the prisoner, and Yaquita and her daughter
set off to Manaos.

For an hour the young men were in consultation with
‘Araujo. They acquainted him with their plan in all its
details, and they discussed not only the projected escape,
but the measures which were necessary for the safety of
the fugitive.

Araujo approved of everything; he undertook, during
the approaching night, to take the pirogue up the canal
without attracting any notice, and he knew its course thor-
oughly as far as the spot where he was to await the arrival
of Joam Dacosta. To get back to the mouth of the Rio
Negro was easy enough, and the pirogue would be able to
pass unnoticed among the numerous craft continually de-
scending the river.

Araujo had no objection to offer to the idea of follow-
ing the Amazon down to its confluence with the Madeira.
The course of the Madeira was familiar to him for quite
two hundred miles up, and in the midst of these thinly
peopled provinces, even if pursuit took place in their direc-
tion, all attempts at capture could be easily frustrated; they
could reach the interior of Bolivia, and if Joam decided
to leave his country he could procure a passage with less
danger on the coast of the Pacific than on that of the
Atlantic.

Araujo’s approval was most welcome to the young fel-
lows; they had great faith in the practical good sense of
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the pilot, and not without reason. His zeal was undoubted,
and he would assuredly have risked both life and liberty
to save the fazender of Iquitos.

With the utmost secrecy, Araujo at once set about his
preparations. A considerable sum in gold was handed over
to him by Benito to meet all eventualities during the voyage
on the Madeira. In getting the pirogue ready, he announced
his intention of going in search of Fragoso, whose fate
excited a good deal of anxiety among his companions. He
stowed away in the boat provisions for many days, and did
not forget the ropes and tools which would be required
by the young men when they reached the canal at the ap-
pointed time and place.

These preparations evoked no curiosity on the part of
the crew of the jangada, and even the two stalwart negroes
were not let into the secret. They, however, could be ab-
solutely depended on. Whenever they learned what the
work of safety was in which they were engaged—when
Joam Dacosta, once more free, was confided to their charge
—Araujo knew well that they would dare anything, even
to the risk of their own lives, to save the life of their master.

By the afternoon all was ready, and they had only the
night to wait for. But before making a start Manoel wished
to call on Judge Jarriquez for the last time. The magistrate
might perhaps have found out something new about the
document. Benito preferred to remain on the raft and
wait for the return of his mother and sister.

Manoel, then, presented himself at the abode of Judge
Jarriquez, and was immediately admitted.

The magistrate, in the study which he never quitted, was
still the victim of the same excitement. The document,
crumpled by his impatient fingers, was still there, before
his eyes, on the table.

“Sir,” said Manoel, whose voice trembled as he asked
the question, “have you received anything from Rio de
Janeiro?”

“No,” answered the judge; “ the order has not yet come
to hand, but it may at any moment.”

“ And the document? ”

“ Nothing yet!” exclaimed he. “ Everything my imag-
ination can suggest I have tried, and no result.”

“None?”
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“ Nevertheless, I distinctly see one word in the document
—only one!”

“What is that—what is the word?”

({31 Fly ’! »

Manoel said nothing, but he pressed the hand which Jar-
riquez held out to him, and returned to the jangada to wait
for the moment of action.

CHAPTER XVI
THE LAST NIGHT

THE visit of Yaquita and her daughter had been like all
such visits during the few hours which each day the hus-
band and wife spent together. In the presence of the two
beings whom Joam so dearly loved his heart nearly failed
him. But the husband—the father—retained his self-com-
mand. It was he who comforted the two poor women and
inspired them with a little of the hope of which so little
now remained to him. They had come with the intention
of cheering the prisoner. Alas! far more than he they
themselves were in want of cheering! But when they found
him still bearing himself unflinchingly in the midst of his
terrible trial, they recovered a little of their hope.

Once more had Joam spoken encouraging words to them.
His indomitable energy was due not only to the feeling of
his innocence, but to his faith in that God, a portion of
whose justice yet dwells in the hearts of men. No! Joam
Dacosta would never lose his life for the crime of Tijuco!

Hardly ever did he mention the document. Whether it
were apochryphal or no, whether it were in the handwriting
of Torres or in that of the real perpetrator of the crime,
whether it contained or did not contain the longed-for vindi-
cation, it was on no such doubtful hypotheses that Joam
Dacosta presumed to trust. No; he reckoned on a better
argument in his favor, and it was to his long life of toil
and honor that he relegated the task of pleading for him.

This evening, then, hi$ wife and daughter, strengthened
by the manly words, which thrilled them to the core of their
hearts, had left him more confident than they had ever been
since his arrest. For the last time the prisoner had em-
braced them; and with redoubled tenderness. It seemed
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as though he had a presentiment that, whatever it might
be, the dénouement was nigh.

Joam Dacosta, after they had left, remained for some
time perfectly motionless. His arms rested on a small table
and supported his head. Of what was he thinking? Had
he at last been convinced that human justice, after failing
the first time, would at length pronounce his acquittal ?

Yes, he still hoped. With the report of Judge Jarriquez
establishing his identity, he knew that his memoir, which he
had penned with so much sincerity, would have been sent to
Rio Janeiro, and was now in the hands of the Chief Justice.
This memoir, as we know, was the history of his life from
his entry into the offices of the diamond arrayal until the
very moment when the jangada stopped before Manaos.
Joam Dacosta was pondering over his whole career. He
again lived his past life from the moment when, as an
orphan, he had set foot in Tijuco. There his zeal had raised
him high in the offices of the governor-general, into which
he had been admitted when still very young. The future
smiled on him ; he would have filled some important position.
Then this sudden catastrophe ; the robbery of the diamond
convoy, the massacre of the escort, the suspicion directed
against him as the only official who could have divulged the
secret of the expedition, his arrest, his appearance before
the jury, his conviction in spite of all the efforts of his
advocate, the last hours spent in the condemned cell at
Villa Rica, his escape under conditions which betokened
almost superhuman courage, his flight through the northern
provinces, his arrival on the Peruvian frontier, and the
reception which the starving fugitive had met with from
the hospitable fazender Magalhaes.

The prisoner once more passed in review these events,
which had so cruelly marred his life. And then, lost in his
thoughts and recollections, he sat, regardless of a peculiar
noise on the outer wall of the convent, of the jerkings of a
rope hitched on to a bar of his window, and of grating
steel as it cut through iron, which ought at once to have
attracted the attention of a less absorbed man.

Joam Dacosta continued to live the years of his youth
after his arrival in Peru. He again saw the fazender, the
clerk, the partner of the old Portuguese, toiling hard for
the prosperity of the establishment at Iquitos. Ah! why
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at the outset had he not told all to his benefactor? He
would never have doubted him. It was the only error with
which he could reproach himself. Why had he not con-
fessed to him whence he had come, and who he was—above
all, at the moment when Magalhaes had placed in his hand
the hand of the daughter who would never have believed
that he was the author of so frightful a crime.

And now the noise outside became loud enough to attract
the prisoner’s attention. For an instant Joam raised his
head; his eyes sought the window, but with a vacant look,
as though he were unconscious, and the next instant his head
again sank into his hand. Again he was in thought back
at Iquitos.

There the old fazender was dying; before his end he
longed for the future of his daughter to be assured, for his
partner to be the sole master of the settlement which had
grown so prosperous under his management. Should Da-
costa have spoken then? Perhaps; but he dared not do it.
He again lived the happy days he had spent with Yaquita,
and again he thought of the birth of his children, again he
felt the happiness which had its only trouble in the remem-
brances of Tijuco and the remorse that he had not confessed
his terrible secret.

The chain of events was reproduced in Joam’s mind with
a clearness and completeness quite remarkable.

And now he was thinking of the day when his daughter’s
marriage with Manoel had been decided. Could he allow
that union to take place under a false name without acquaint-
ing the lad with the mystery of his life? No! And so at
the advice of Judge Ribeiro he resolved to come and claim
the revision of his sentence, to demand the rehabilitation
which was his due! He was starting with his people, and
then came the intervention of Torres, the detestable bargain
proposed by the scoundrel, the indignant refusal of the
father to hand over his daughter to save his honor and his
life, and then the denunciation and the arrest?

Suddenly the window flew open with a violent push from
without. Joam started up; the souvenirs of the past van-
ished like a shadow.

Benito leaped into the room; he was in the presence of
his father, and the next moment Manoel, tearing down the
remaining bars, appeared before him.
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Joam Dacosta would have uttered a cry of surprise.
Benito left him no time to do so.

‘“ Father,” he said, “the window grating is down. A
rope leads to the ground. A pirogue is waiting for you on
the canal not a hundred yards off. Araujo is there ready
to take you away from Manaos, on the other bank of the
Amazon, where your track will never be discovered! Father,
you must escape this very moment! It was the judge’s own
suggestion!”’

“Tt must be done!” added Manoel.

“Fly! I'—Fly a second time! Escape again?”

And with crossed arms, and head erect, Joam Dacosta
stepped backward.

“Never!” he said, in a voice so firm that Benito and
Manoel stood bewildered.

The young men had never thought of a difficulty like this.
They had never reckoned on the hindrances to escape com-
ing from the prisoner himself.

Benito advanced to his father, and looking him straight
in the face, and taking both his hands in his, not to force
him, but to try and convince him, said, “ Never, did you
say, father?”

“Never!”

“ Father,” said Manoel—“ for I also have the right to
call you father—listen to us! If we tell you that you ought
to fly without losing an instant, it is because if you remain
you will be guilty toward others, toward yourself!”

“To remain,” continued Benito, “is to remain to die!
The order for execution may come at any moment! If you
imagine that the justice of men will nullify a wrong decision,
if you think it will rehabilitate you whom it condemned
twenty years since, you are mistaken! There is hope no
longer! You must escape! Come!”

By an irresistible impulse Benito seized his father and
drew him toward the window.

Joam Dacosta struggled from his son’s grasp and recoiled
a second time. “To fly,” he answered, in the tone of a
man whose resolution was unalterable, “ is to dishonor my-
self, and you with me! It would be a confession of my
guilt! Of my own free will I surrendered myself to
my country’s judges, and I will await their decision, what-
ever that decision may be!”
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“ But the presumptions on which you trusted are insuf-
ficient,” replied Manoel, “ and the material proof of your
innocence is still wanting! If we tell you that you ought to
fly, it is because Judge Jarriquez himself told us so. You
have now only this one chance left to escape from death!”

“I will die, then,” said Joam, in a calm voice. “I will
die protesting against the decision which condemned me!
The first time, a few hours before the execution—I fled!
Yes! I was then young. I had all my life before me in
which to struggle agamst man’s injustice! But to save my-
self now, to begin again the miserable existence of a felon
hiding under a false name, whose every effort is required
to avoid the pursuit of the police, again to live the life of
anxiety which I have led for three-and-twenty years, and
oblige you to share it with me; to wait each day for a
denunciation which sooner or later must come, to wait for
the claim for extradition which would follow me to a
foreign country! Am I to live for that? No! Never!”

‘“ Father,” interrupted Benito, whose mind threatened to
give way before such obstinacy, “you shall fly! I will
have it so!” And he caught hold of Joam Dacosta, and
tried by force to drag him toward the window.

&€ NO' no' ”

“You wish to drive me mad! 1

“My son,” exclaimed Joam Dacosta, “listen to me!
Once already I escaped from prison at Villa Rica, and peo-
ple believed I fled from well-merited punishment. Yes, they
had reason to think so. Well, for the honor of the name
which you bear I shall not do so again.”

Benito had fallen on his knees before his father. He
held up his hands to him; he begged hini—

‘“ But this order, father,” he repeated, “ this order, which
is due to-day—even now—it will contain your sentence of
death.”

“The order may come, but my determination will not
change. No, my son! Joam Dacosta, guilty, might fly!
Joam Dacosta, innocent, will not fly!”

The scene which followed these words was heart-rending.
Benito struggled with his father. Manoel, distracted, kept
near the window ready to carry off the prisoner—when the
door of the room opened.

On the threshold appeared the chief of police, accom-
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panied by the head warder of the prison and a few soldiers.
The chief of the police understood at a glance that an
attempt at escape was being made; but he also understood
from the prisoner’s attitude that he it was who had no
wish to go! He said nothing. The sincerest pity was
depicted on his face. Doubtless he also, like Judge Jarri-
quez, would have liked Dacosta to have escaped.

It was too late! The chief of the police, who held a paper
in his hand, advanced toward the prisoner.

“Before all of you,” said Joam Dacosta, “let me tell
you, sir, that it only rested with me to get away and that
I would not do so.”

The chief of the police bowed his head, and then, in a
voice which he vainly tried to control, ““ Joam Dacosta,” he
said, “the order has this moment arrived from the Chief
Justice at Rio de Janeiro.”

“ Father!” exclaimed Manoel and Benito.

“This order,” asked Joam Dacosta, who had crossed his
arms, ““ this order requires the execution of my sentence? ”

113 Yes! ”

“ And that will take place?”

“To-morrow.”

Benito threw himself on his father. Again would he
have dragged him from his cell, but the soldiers came and
drew away the prisoner from his grasp.

At a sign from the chief of the police Benito and Manoel
were taken away. An end had to be put to this painful
scene, which had already lasted too long.

“ Sir,” said the doomed man, * before to-morrow, before
the hour of my execution, may I pass a few moments with
Padre Passanha, whom I asked you to tell? ”

“It will be forbidden.”

“May I see my family, and embrace for the last time
my wife and children? ”

“You shall see them.” :

“ Thank you, sir,” answered Joam; “ and now keep guard
over that window: it will not do for them to take me out
of here against my will.”

The chief of the police, after a respectful bow, retired
with the warder and the soldiers. The doomed man, who
had but a few hours to live, was left alone.




CHAPTER XVII
FRAGOSO

AND so the order had come, and, as Judge Jarriquez had
foreseen, it was an order requiring the immediate execution
of the sentence pronounced on Joam Dacosta. No proof
had been produced; justice must take its course.

It was the very day—the 31st of August, at nine o’clock
in the morning of which the condemned man was to perish
on the gallows. The death penalty in Brazil is generally
commuted except in the case of negroes, but this time it
was to be suffered by a white man. Such are the penal
arrangements relative to crimes in the diamond arrayal, for
which, in the public interest, the law allows no appeal to
mercy.

Nothing could now save Joam Dacosta. It was not only
life, but honor that he was about to lose. But on the 31st
of August a man was approaching Manaos with all the
speed his horse was capable of, and such had been the pace
at which he had come, that half a mile from the town, the
gallant creature fell, incapable of carrying him any
farther.

The rider did not even stop to raise his steed. Evidently
he had asked and obtained from it all that was possible, and,
despite the state of exhaustion in which he found himself,
he rushed off in the direction of the city. The man came
from the eastern provinces, and had followed the left bank
of the river. All his means had gone in the purchase of
this horse, which, swifter far than any pirogue on the
Amazon, had brought him to Manaos. It was Fragoso!

Had, then, the brave fellow succeeded in the enterprise
of which he had spoken to nobody? Had he found the
party to which Torres belonged? Had he discovered some
secret which would yet save Joam Dacosta?

He hardly knew. But in any case, he was in great haste
to acquaint Judge Jarriquez with what he had ascertained
during his short journey.

And this is what had happened. Fragoso had made no
mistake when he recognized Torres as one of the captains
of the party which was employed in the river provinces of
the Madeira. He set out, and on reaching the mouth of that

tributary he learned that the c?ief of these capitaes da mato
)
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was then in the neighborhood. Without losing a minute,
Fragoso started on the search, and, not without difficuity,
succeeded in meeting him.

To Fragoso’s questions the chief of the party had no
hesitation in replying; he had no interest in keeping silence
with regard to the few simple matters on which he was
interrogated. In fact, three questions only of importance
were asked him by Fragoso, and these were: “ Did not a
captain of the woods named Torres belong to your party
three months ago?”

13 Yes.’,

“ At that time had he not one intimate friend among
his companions who has recently died? ”

“Just so!”

“ And the name of that friend was?”

“ Ortega.”

This was all that Fragoso had learned. Was this infor-
mation of a kind to modify Dacosta’s position? It was
hardly likely. Fragoso saw this, and pressed the chief of
the band to tell him what he knew of this Ortega, of the
place where he came from, and of his antecedents generally.
Such information would have been of great importance if
Ortega, as Torres had declared, was the true author of the
crime of Tijuco. But unfortunately the chief could give
him no information whatever in the matter.

What was certain was that Ortega had been a member
of the band for many years, that an intimate friendship
existed between him and Torres, that they were always
seen together, and that Torres had watched at his bedside
when he died.

This was all the chief of the band knew, and he could
tell no more. Fragoso, then, had to be contented with these
insignificant details, and departed immediately.

But if the devoted fellow had not brought back the proof
that Ortega was the author of the crime of Tijuco, he had
gained one thing, and that was the knowledge that Torres
had told the truth when he affirmed that one of his comrades
in the band had died, and that he had been present during
his last moments. -

The hypothesis that Ortega had given him the document
in question had now become admissible. Nothing was more
probable than that this document had reference to the crime
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of which Ortega was really the author, and that it con-
tained the confession of the culprit, accompanied by circum-
stances which permitted no doubt as to its truth.

And so, if the document could be read, if the key had
been found, if the cipher on which the system hung were
known, no doubt of its truth could be entertained.

But this cipher Fragoso did not know. A few more pre-
sumptions, a half-certainty that the adventurer had invented
nothing, certain circumstances tending to prove that the
secret of the matter was contained in the document—and
that was all that the gallant fellow brought back from his
visit to the chief of the gang of which Torres had been
a member.

Nevertheless, little as it was, he was in all haste to relate
it to Judge Jarriquez. He knew that he had not an hour
to lose, and that was why on this very morning, at about
eight o’clock, he arrived, exhausted with fatigue, within
half a mile of Manaos. The distance between there and
the town he traversed in a few minutes. A kind of irre-
sistible presentiment urged him on, and he had almost come
to believe that Joam Dacosta’s safety rested in his hands.

Suddenly Fragoso stopped as if his feet had become rooted
in the ground. He had reached the entrance to a small
square, on to which opened one of the town gates. There,
in the midst of a dense crowd, arose the gallows, towering
up some twenty feet, and from it there hung the rope!

Fragoso felt his consciousness abandon him. He fell;
his eyes involuntarily closed. He did not wish to look, and
these words escaped his lips: “ Too late! too late!” but by
a superhuman effort he raised himself up. No: it was not
too late, the corpse of Joam Dacosta was not dangling at
the end of the rope.

“ Judge Jarriquez—Judge Jarriquez!” shouted Fragoso,
and, panting and bewildered, he rushed toward the city gate,
dashed up the principal street of Manaos, and fell, half
dead, on the threshold of the judge’s house. The door was
shut. Fragoso had still strength enough left to knock at it.
One of the magistrate’s servants came to open it; his master
would see no one.

In spite of this denial, Fragoso pushed back the man
who guarded the entrance, and with a bound threw himself
into the judge’s study.
¥V XII Verne
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“I come from the province where Torres pursued his
calling as captain of the woods!”” he gasped. “ Mr. Judge,
Torres told the truth. Stop—stop the execution! ”

“You found the gang?”

43 Yes.’,

“And you have brought me the cipher of the docu-
ment?”

Fragoso did not reply.

“ Come, leave me alone! leave me alone!” shouted Jar-
riquez, and, a prey to an outburst of rage, he grasped the
document to tear it to atoms.

Fragoso seized his hands and stopped him. * The truth
is there!” he said.

“I know,” answered Jarriquez; “ but it is a truth which
will never see the light!”

“ It will appear—it must! it must!”

“ Once more, have you the cipher? ”

“No,” replied Fragoso; “but, I repeat, Torres has not
lied. One of his companions, with whom he was very in-
timate, died a few months ago, and there can be no doubt
but that this man gave him the document he came to sell to
Joam Dacosta.”

“No,” answered Jarriquez—" no, there is no doubt about
it—as far as we are concerned; but that is not enough for
those who are to dispose of the doomed man’s life. ILeave
me!”

Fragoso, repulsed, would not quit the spot. Again he
threw himself at the judge’s feet.  Joam Dacosta is in-
nocent!” he cried; “ you will not leave him to die? It was
not he who committed the crime of Tijuco, it was the
comrade of Torres, the author of that document! It was
Ortega!”

As he uttered the name the judge bounded backward. Al
kind of calm swiftly succeeded to the tempest which raged
within him. He dropped the document from his clenched
hand, smoothed it out on the table, sat down, and, passing
his hand over his eyes—‘‘ That name? "’ he said—* Ortega!
Let us see,” and then he proceeded with the new name
brought back by Fragoso as he had done with the other
names so vainly tried by himself.

After placing it above the first six letters of the paragraph,
he obtained the following formula:
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Ortega
Phyj sl

“ Nothing!” he said. “ That gives us—nothing!”

And in fact the & placed under the 7 could not be expressed
by a cipher, for, in alphabetical order, this letter occupies
an earlier position to that of the 7.

The p, the y, the j, arranged beneath the letters o, ¢, e,
disclosed the cipher 1, 4, 5, but as for the s and the / at the
end of the word, the interval which separated them from
the g and the @ was a dozen letters, and hence impossible
to express by a single cipher, so that they corresponded to
neither g nor a.

And here appalling shouts arose in the streets; they were
the cries of despair. Fragoso jumped to one of the win-
dows, and opened it before the judge could hinder him.

The people filled the road. The hour had come at which
the doomed man was to start from the prison, and the crowd
was flocking back to the spot where the gallows had been
erected.

Judge Jarriquez, quite frightful to look upon, devoured
the lines of the document with a fixed stare. “ The last
letters!” he muttered. “Let us try once more the last
letters!”

It was the last hope.

And then, with a hand whose agitation nearly prevented
him from writing, at all, he placed the name of Ortega over
the six last letters of the paragraph, as he had done over
the first.

An exclamation immediately escaped him. He saw, at
first glance, that the six letters were inferior in alphabetical
order to those which composed Ortega’s name, and that
consequently they might yield the number.

And when he reduced the formula, reckoning each later
letter from the earlier letter of the word, he obtained

Ortega
432513
Suvjhd
The number thus disclosed was 432513.
But was this number that which had been used in the

document? Was it not as erroneous as those he had previ-
ously tried?
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At this moment the shouts below redoubled—shouts of
pity which betrayed the sympathy of the excited crowd. A
few minutes more were all that the doomed man had to
live!

Fragoso, maddened with grief, darted from the room.
He wished to see, for the last time, his benefactor who was
on his road to death! He longed to throw himself before
the mournful procession and stop it, shouting: “ Do not
kill this just man! do not kill him!”

But already Judge Jarriquez had placed the given num-
ber above the first letters of the paragraph, repeating them
as often as was necessary, as follows:

43251'3432513432513432513

Phyjslyddqgqfdazrxgasgzzqqgeh

And then, reckoning the true letters according to their
alphabetical order, he read:

“ Le véritable auteur du vol de—"

A yell of delight escaped him! This number, 432513,
was the number sought for so long! The name of Ortega
had enabled him to discover it! At length he held the key
of the document, which would incontestably prove the in-
nocence of Joam Dacosta, and without reading any more he
flew from his study into the street, shouting, * Halt!
Halt!”

To cleave the crowd, which opened as he ran, to dash
to the prison, whence the convict was coming at the moment,
with his wife and children clinging to him with the violence
of despair, was but the work of a minute for Judge Jar-
riquez.

Stopping before Joam Dacosta, he could not speak for a
second, and then these words escaped his lips:

“Innocent! Innocent!”



CHAPTER XVIII
THE CRIME OF TIJUCO

On the arrival of the judge the mournful procession
halted. A roaring echo had repeated after him and again
repeated the cry which escaped from every mouth:

“Innocent! Innocent!”

Then complete silence fell on all. The people did not
want to lose one syllable of what was about to be proclaimed.

Judge Jarriquez sat down on a stone seat, and then,
while Minha, Benito, Manoel, and Fragoso stood round
him, while Joam Dacosta clasped Yaquita to his heart, he
first unraveled the last paragraph of the document by means
of the number, and as the words appeared by the institution
of the true letters for the cryptological ones, he divided and
punctuated them, and then read it out in a loud voice. And
this is what he read in the midst of profound silence :—
Levéritable auteur duvoldesdiamantset
43251343251 343251 343251343251343251
Ph yjsiyddqf dzxgas gzzqqehx gkfndrauju
de 'assassinat des soldats qui escortatent le
34 32513432513 432 5134325 134 32513432513 43
gi ocytdkasbx hhu ypohdvy rym huhpuydkjox ph
convoi, commis dansla nuitduvingt-deux jan-
251343 251343 2513 43 2513 43 251343251 343
etozsl etnpmv ffov pd pajxr hy ynojyggay meq
vier mil huit cent vingt-six, west doncpas Joam
2513 432 5134 3251 34325134 3251 3432513 4325
ynfu qln moly fgsu zmqis tlb qgyu gsqeubv nrcr
Dacosta, injustement condamné & mort, c’est
1343251 34325134325 13432513 4 32513432
edgruzb lrmxyuhqhpz drrgcroh e pgxru fivo
moi, le misérable employé de F'administration
513 43 251343251 3432513 43 251343251343251
rpl ph onthvddqf hqsntzh hh nfepmqkyuuexkto
du district diamantin, oui,moiseul, quisigne
34 32513432 513432513 432 513 4325 134 32513
gz gkywumfv ijdgqdpzjq syk rpl xhxq rym vkloh
de monvrai nom, Ortega.

43 2513432 513 432513
hh otozvdk spp suvljoilzd.
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“ The real author of the robbery of the diamonds and of
the murder of the soldiers who escorted the convoy, com-
mitted during the night of the twenty-second of January,
one thousand eight hundred and twenty-six, was thus not
Joam Dacosta, unjustly condemned to death; it was I, the
wretched servant of the Administration of the diamond dis-
trict; yes, I alone, who sign this with my true name,
Ortega.”

The reading of this had hardly finished when the air
was rent with prolonged hurrahs.

What could be more conclusive than this last paragraph,
which summarized the whole of the document, and pro-
claimed so absolutely the innocence of the fazender of Iqui-
tos, and which snatched from the gallows this victim of a
frightful judicial mistake!

Joam Dacosta surrounded by his wife, his children, and
his friends, was unable to shake the hands which were held

out to him. Such was the strength of his character, that a .

reaction occurred, tears of joy escaped from his eyes, at
the same instant his heart was lifted up to that Providence
which had come to save him so miraculously at the moment
he was about to offer the last expiation to that God who
would not permit the accomplishment of that greatest of
crimes, the death of an innocent man!

Yes! There could be no doubt as to the vindication of
Joam Dacosta. The true author of the crime of Tijuco
confessed of his own free will, and described the circum-
stances under which it had been perpetrated!

By means of the number Judge Jarriquez interpreted the
whole of the cryptogram.

And this was what Ortega confessed:

He had been the colleague of Joam Dacosta, employed,
like him, at Tijuco, in the offices of the governor of the
diamond arrayal. He had been the official appointed to ac-
company the convoy to Rio de Janeiro, and, far from re-
coiling at the horrible idea of enriching himself by means
of murder and robbery, he had informed the smugglers of
the very day the convoy was to leave Tijuco.

During the attack of the scoundrels, who awaited the
convoy just beyond Villa Rica, he pretended to defend him-
self with the soldiers of the escort, and then, falling among
the dead, he was carried away by his accomplices. Hence
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it was that the solitary soldier who survived the massacre
had reported that Ortega had perished in the struggle.

But the robbery did not profit the guilty man in the long
run, for, a little time afterward, he was robbed by thuse
whom he had helped to commit the crime.

Penniless, and unable to enter Tijuco again, Ortega fled
away to the provinces in the north of Brazil, to those dis-
tricts of the Upper Amazon where the capitaes da mato are
to be found. He had to live somehow, and so he joined
this. not very honorablé company; they neither asked him
who he was nor whence he came, and so Ortega became a
captain of the woods, and for many years he followed the
trade of a chaser of men.

During this time, Torres, the adventurer, himself in ab-
solute want, became his companion. Ortega and he became
most intimate. But, as he had told Torres, remorse began
gradually to trouble the scoundrel’s life. The remembrance
of his crime became horrible to him. He knew that another
had been condemned in his place! He knew subsequently
that the innocent man had escaped from the last penalty, but
that he would never be free from the shadow of his capital
sentence! And then, during an expedition of his party for
several months beyond the Peruvian frontier, chance caused
Ortega to visit the neighborhood of Iquitos, and there, in
Joam Garral, who did not recognize him, he recognized
Joam Dacosta.

Henceforth he resolved to make all the reparation he could
for the injustice of which his old comrade had been the
victim. He committed to the document all the facts relative
to the crime of Tijuco, writing it first in French, which had
been his mother’s native tongue, and then putting it into
the mysterious form we know, his intention being to trans-
mit it to the fazender of Iquitos, with the cipher by which
it could be read.

Death prevented his completing his work of reparation.
Mortally wounded in a scuffle with some negroes on the
Madeira, Ortega felt he was doomed. His comrade Torres
was then with him. He thought he could intrust to his
friend the secret which had so grievously darkened his life.
He gave him the document, and made him swear to con-
vey it to Joam Dacosta, whose name and address he gave
him, and with his last breath he whispered the number
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432513, without which the document would remain inde-
cipherable.

Ortega dead, we know how the unworthy Torres acquitted
himself of his mission, how he resolved to turn to his own
profit the secret of which he was the possessor, and how he
tried to make it the subject of an odious bargain.

Torres died without accomplishing his work, and carried
his secret with him. But the name of Ortega, brought back
‘by Fragoso, had afforded the means of unraveling the
cryptogram, thanks to the sagacity of Judge Jarriquez. Yes,
the material proof sought after for so long was the incon-
testable witness of the innocence of Joam Dacosta, returned
to life, restored to honor.

The cheers redoubled when the worthy magistrate, in a
loud voice, and for the edification of all, read from the
document this terrible history.

From that moment Judge Jarriquez, who possessed this
indubitable proof, arranged with the chief of police, and
declined to allow Joam Dacosta, while waiting new instruc-
tions from Rio de Janeiro, to stay in any prison but his
own house.

There could be no difficulty about this, and in the center
of the crowd of the entire population of Manaos, Joam
Dacosta, accompanied by all his family, beheld himself con-
ducted like a conqueror to the magistrate’s residence.

In that minute the honest fazender of Iquitos was well
repaid for all that he had suffered during the long years of
exile, and if he was happy for his family’s sake more than
for his own, he was none the less proud for his country’s
sake that this supreme injustice had not been con-
summated !

And in all this what had become of Fragoso? Well,
the good-hearted fellow was covered with caresses! Benito,
Manoel, and Minha, had overwhelmed him, and Lina had
by no means spared him. He did not know what to do, he
defended himself as best he could. He did not deserve
anything like it. Chance alone had done it. Were any
thanks due to him for having recognized Torres as the
captain of the woods? No, certainly not. As for his idea
of hurrying off in search of the band to which Torres be-
longed, he did not think it had been worth much, and as
to the name of Ortega, he did not even know its value.
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Gallant Fragoso! Whether he wished it or not he had
none the less saved Joam Dacosta!

And herein what a strange succession of different events
all tending to the same end. The deliverance of Fragoso at
the time he was dying of exhaustion in the forest of Iquitos;
the hospitable reception he had met with at the fazenda,
the meeting with Torres on the Brazilian frontier, his em-
barkation on the jangada; and lastly, the fact that Fragoso
had seen him somewhere before.

“ Well, yes!” Fragoso ended by exclaiming; “but it is
not to me that all this happiness is due, it is due to Lina!”

“Tome?” replied the young mulatto.

“No doubt of it. Without the liana, without the idea of
the liana, could I ever have been the cause of so much hap-
piness?” So that Fragoso and Lina were praised and
petted by all the family, and by all the new friends whom
so many trials had procured them at Manaos.

But had not Judge Jarriquez also had his share in this
rehabilitation of an innocent man? Though, in spite of
all the shrewdness of his analytical talents, he had not been
able to read the document, which was absolutely indecipher-
able to any one who had not got the key, had he not at any
rate discovered the system on which the cryptogram was
composed? Without him what could have been done with
only the name of Ortega to reconstruct the number which
the author of the crime and Torres, both of whom were
dead, alone knew? And so he also received abundant thanks.

Needless to say that the same day there was sent to Rio
de Janeiro a detailed report of the whole affair, and with
it the original document and the cipher to enable it to be
read. New instructions from the Minister of Justice had to
be waited for, though there could be no doubt that they
would order the immediate discharge of the prisoner. A
few days would thus have to be passed at Manaos, and then
Joam Dacosta and his people, free from all constraint, and
released from all apprehension, would take leave of their
host to go on board once more and continue their descent
of the Amazon to Para, where the voyage was intended to
terminate with the double marriage of Minha and Manoel
and Lina and Fragoso.

Four days afterward, on the fourth of September, the
order of discharge arrived. The document had been re-
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cognized as authentic. The handwriting was really that
of Ortega, who had been formerly employed in the diamond
district, and there could be no doubt that the confession of
his crime, with the minutest details that were given, had
been written entirely with his own hand.

The innocence of the convict of Villa Rica was at length
admitted. The rehabilitation of Joam Dacosta was at last
officially proclaimed.

CHAPTER XIX
THE LOWER AMAZON

LiTTLE remains to tell of the second part of the voyage
down the mighty river. It was but a series of days of joy.
Joam Dacosta returned to a new life, which shed its happi-
ness on all who belonged to him.

The giant raft glided along with greater rapidity on the
waters now swollen by the floods. The town of Villa Bella,
which is the principal guarana market in the whole province,
was soon left behind by the giant raft. And so was the
village of Faro and its celebrated river of the Nhamundas,
on which, in 1539, Orellana asserted he was attacked by
female warriors, who have never been seen again since, and
thus gave us the legend which justifies the immortal name
of the river of the Amazons.

Here it is that the province of Rio Negro terminates.
The jurisdiction of Para then commences; and on the 22d
of September the family, marveling much at a valley which
has no equal in the world, entered that portion of the
Brazilian empire which has no boundary to the east except
the Atlantic.

“ How magnificent!” remarked Minha over and over
again.

“How long!” murmured Manoel.

“How beautiful!” repeated Lina.

“ When shall we get there? ’ murmured Fragoso.

And this was what might have been expected of these
folks from their different points of view, though time passed
pleasantly enough with them all the same. Benito, who
was neither patient nor impatient, had recovered all his
former good humor.
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Soon the jangada glided between interminable planta-
tions of cocoa-trees, with their somber green flanked by the
yellow thatch or ruddy tiles of the roofs of the huts of the
settlers on both banks from Chidos up to the town of Monte
Alegre.

Then there opened out the mouth of the Rio Trombetas,
bathing with its black waters the houses of Obidos, situated
at about one hundred and eighty miles from Belem, quite a
small town, and even a citade with large streets bordered
with handsome habitations, and a great center for cocoa
produce. Then they saw another tributary, the Tapajoz,
with its greenish-gray waters descending from the south-
west; and then Santarem, a wealthy town of not less than
five thousand inhabitants, Indians for the most part, whose
nearest houses were built on the vast beach of white sand.

After its departure from Manaos the jangada did not
stop anywhere as it passed down the much less encumbered
course of the Amazon. Day and night it moved along under
the vigilant care of its trusty pilot; no more stoppages either
for the gratification of the passengers or for business pur-
poses. Unceasingly it progressed, and the end rapidly grew
nearer. )

In this jurisdiction of Para Manoel was at home, and
he could tell them the names of the double chain of moun-
tains which gradually narrowed the valley of the huge river.
“To the right,” said he, “ that is the Sierra de Paracuarta,
which curves in a half circle to the south! To the left,
that is the Sierra de Curuva, of which we have already
passed the first outposts.”

“Then they close in?” asked Fragoso.

“They close in!” replied Manoel.

And the two young men seemed to understand each other,
for the same slight but significant nodding of the head ac-
companied the question and reply.

To what a superb size the Amazon had now developed,
as already this monarch of rivers gave signs of opening out
like a sea! Plants from eight to ten feet high clustered
along the beach, and bordered it with a forest of reeds.

Then the river divided into two important branches, which
flowed off toward the Atlantic, one going away northeast-
ward, the other eastward, and between them appeared the
beginning of the large Island of Marajo. This island is
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quite a province in itself. It measures no less than a hun-
dred and eighty leagues in circumference. Cut up by
marshes and rivers, all savannah to the east, all forest to
the west, it offers most excellent advantages for the rais-
ing of cattle, which can here be seen in their thousands.
This immense barricade of Marajo is the natural obstacle
which has compelled the Amazon to divide before precipitat-
ing its torrents of water into the sea. Following the upper
branch, the jangada, after passing the islands of Caviana
and Mexiana, would have found an embouchure of some
fifty leagues across, but it would also have met with the
bar of the prororoca, that terrible eddy which, for the three
days preceding the new or full moon, takes but two minutes
instead of six hours to raise the river from twelve to fifteen
feet above ordinary high water mark.

This is by far the most formidable of tide-races. Most
fortunately the lower branch, known as the Canal of Breves,
which is the natural arm of the Para, is not subject to
the visitations of this terrible phenomenon, and its tides are
of a more regular description. Araujo, the pilot, was quite
aware of this. He steered, therefore, into the midst of
magnificent forests, here and there gliding past islands cov-
ered with muritis palms; and the weather was so favorable
that they did not experience any of the storms which so
frequently rage along this Breves Canal.

At length there appeared on the left Santa Maria de Belem
do Para—the “ town " as they call it in that country—with
its picturesque lines of white houses at many different levels,
its convents nestled among the palm-trees, the steeples of
its cathedral and of Nostra Sefiora de Merced, and the
flotilla of its brigantines, brigs, and barks, which form its
commercial communications with the Old World.

The hearts of the passengers of the giant raft beat high.
At length they were coming to the end of the voyage which
they had thought they would never reach. While the arrest
of Joam detained them at Manaos, half-way on their jour-
ney, could they ever have hoped to see the capital of the
province of Para?

It was in the course of this day, the 15th of October—
four months and a half after leaving the fazenda of Iquitos
—that, as they rounded a sharp bend in the river, Belem
came in sight.
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The arrival of the jangada had been signaled for some
days. The whole town knew the story of Joam Dacosta.
They came forth to welcome him, and to him and his peo-
ple accorded a most sympathetic reception. Hundreds of
craft of all sorts conveyed them to the wharf, and soon the
jangada was invaded by all those who wished to welcome
the return of their compatriot after his long exile. Thou-
sands of sightseers—or more correctly speaking, thousands
of friends—crowded on to the floating village as soon as
it came to its moorings, and it was vast and solid enough
to support the entire population. Among those who hur-
ried on board one of the first pirogues had brought Madame
Valdez. Manoel’s mother was at last able to clasp to her -
arms the daughter whom her son had chosen. If the good
lady had not been able to come to Iquitos, was it not as
though a portion of the fazenda, with her new family, had
come down the Amazon to her?

Before evening the pilot Araujo had securely moored the
raft at the entrance of a creek behind the arsenal. That
was to be its last resting-place, its last halt, after its voyage
of eight hundred leagues on the great Brazilian artery.
There the huts of the Indians, the cottages of the negroes,
the storerooms which held the valuable cargo, would be
gradually demolished; there the principal dwelling, nestled
beneath its verdant tapestry of flowers and foliage, and the
little chapel whose humble bell was then replying to the
sounding clangor from the steeples of Belem, would each
in its turn disappear.

But, ere this was done, a ceremony had to take place on
the jangada—the marriage of Manoel and Minha, the mar-
riage of Lina and Fragoso. To Father Passanha fell the
duty of celebrating the double union which promised so
happily. In that little chapel the two couples were to re-
ceive the nuptial benediction from his hands. If it hap-
pened to be so small as to be only capable of holding the
members of Dacosta’s family, was not the giant raft large
enough to receive all those who wished to assist at the
ceremony? and if not, and the crowd became so great, did
not the ledges of the river banks afford sufficient room for
as many others of the sympathizing crowd as were desirous
of welcoming him whom so signal a reparation had made
the hero of the day?
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It was on the morrow, the 16th of October, that with
great pomp the marriages were celebrated.

The Dacosta family came forth from their house and
moved through the crowd toward the little chapel. Joam
was received with absolutely frantic applause. He gave
his arm to Madame Valdez; Yaquita was escorted by the
Governor of Belem, who, accompanied by the friends of the
young army surgeon, had expressed a wish to honor the
ceremony with his presence. Manoel walked by the side
of Minha, who looked most fascinating in her bride’s cos-
tume, and then came Fragoso, holding the hand of Lina,
who seemed quite radiant with joy. Then followed Benito,
then old Cybele and the servants of the worthy family
between the double ranks of the crew of the jangada.

Padre Passanha awaited the two couples at the entrance
of the chapel. The ceremony was very simple, and the
same hands which had formerly blessed Joam and Yaquita
were again stretched forth to give the nuptial benediction
to their child.

So much happiness was not likely to be interrupted by
the sorrow of long separation. In fact, Manoel Valdez al-
most immediately sent in his resignation, so as to join the
family at Iquitos, where he is still following his profession
as a country doctor.

Naturally the Fragosos did not hesitate to go back with
those who were to them friends rather than masters.

Madame Valdez had no desire to separate so happy a
group, but she insisted on one thing, and that was that they
should often come and see her at Belem. Nothing could be
easier. Was not the mighty river a bond of communication
between Belem and Iquitos? In a few days the first mail
steamer was to begin a regular and rapid service, and it
would then only take a week to ascend the Amazon, on
which it had taken the giant raft so many months to drift.
The important commercial negotiations, ably managed by
Benito, were carried through under the best of conditions,
and soon of what had formed this jangada—that is to say,
the huge raft of timber constructed from an entire forest
at Iquitos—there remained not a trace.

A month afterward the fazender, his wife, his son, Ma-
noel and Minha Valdez, Lina and Fragoso, departed by
one of the Amazon steamers for the immense establish-















The Demon of
Cawnpore

CHAPTER I
“ TWO THOUSAND POUNDS FOR A HEAD ”

to any one who will deliver up, dead or alive,
one of the prime movers of the Sepoy revolt,

Q ' at present known to be in the Bombay presi-
dency, the N abob Dandou Pant, commonly
called .

Such was the fragmentary notice read by the inhabitants
of Aurungabad, on the evening of the 6th of March, 1867.

A copy of the placard had been recently affixed to the
wall of a lonely and ruined bungalow on the banks of the
Doudhma, and already the corner of the paper bearing the
second name—a name execrated by some, secretly admired
by others—was gone.

The name had been there, printed in large letters, but
it was torn off by the hand of a solitary fakir who passed
by that desolate spot. The name of the Governor of the
Bombay presidency, countersigning that of the Viceroy of
India, had also disappeared. What could have been the
fakir’s motive in doing this?

By defacing the notice, did he hope that the rebel of 1857
would escape public prosecution, and the consequences of
the steps taken to secure his arrest? Could he imagine that
a notoriety so terrible as his would vanish with the frag-
ments of this scrap of paper?

To suppose such a thing would have been madness. The
notices were affixed in profusion to the walls of the houses,
palaces, mosques, and hotels of Aurungabad. Be51des which,
a crier had gone through all the streets, reading in a loud
voice the proclamation of the Viceroy. So that the in-
habitants of the lowest quarters knew by this time that a

sum, amounting to a fortune, was promised to whomso-
115
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ever would deliver up this Dandou Pant. The name, an-
nihilated in one solitary instance, would, before twelve hours
were over, be proclaimed throughout the province.

If, indeed, the report was correct that the Nabob had
taken refuge in this part of Hindoostan, there could be no
doubt that he would shortly fall into the hands of those
strongly interested in his capture. Under what impulse,
then, had the fakir defaced a placard of which thousands
of copies had been circulated?

The impulse was doubtless one of anger, mingled perhaps
with contempt; for he turned from the place with a scorn-
ful gesture, and entering the city was soon lost to view amid
the swarming populace of its more crowded and disreputable
quarter.

That portion of the Indian peninsula which lies between
the Western Ghauts, and the Ghauts of the Bay of Bengal,
is called the Deccan. It is the name commonly given to
the southern part of India below the Ganges. The Deccan,
of which the name in Sanscrit signifies * south,” contains
a certain number of provinces in the presidencies of Bom-
bay and Madras. Chief among these is the province of
Aurungabad, the capital of which was, in former days, that
of the entire Deccan.

In the seventeenth century the celebrated Mogul Emperor,
Aurungzebe, established his court in the town of Aurunga-
bad, known in the early history of India by the name of
Kirkhi. It then contained one hundred thousand inhabitants.
- Now, in the hands of the English who rule it in the name
of the Nizam of Hyderabad, there are not more than fifty
thousand. Yet it is one of the most healthful cities of the
peninsula, having hitherto escaped the scourge of Asiatic
cholera, as well as the visitations of the fever epidemics so
much to be dreaded in India.

Aurungabad possesses magnificent remains of its ancient
splendor. Many artistic and richly ornamental buildings
bear witness to the power and grandeur of the most illustri-
ous of the conquerors of India, the renowned Aurungzebe,
who raised this empire, increased by the addition of Cabul
and Assam, to a marvelous height of prosperity.

The palace of the Great Mogul stands on the right bank
of the Doudhma. The mausoleum of the favorite Sultana
of the Shah Jahan, the father of Aurungzebe, is also a
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remarkable edifice; so likewise is the elegant mosque built
in imitation of the Tadje at Agra, which rears its four
minarets round a graceful swelling cupola.

Among the mixed and varied population of Aurungabad,
such a man as the fakir above mentioned easily concealed
himself from observation. Whether his character was real
or assumed, he was in no respect to be distinguished from
others of his class. Men like him abound in India, and
form, with the sayeds, a body of religious mendicants, who,
traveling through the country on foot or on horseback, ask
alms, which, if not bestowed willingly, they demand as a
right. They also play the part of voluntary martyrs, and
are held in great reverence by the lower orders of the
Hindoo people.

This particular fakir was a man of good height, being
more than five feet nine inches. His age could not have
been more than forty, and his countenance reminded one
of the handsome Mahratta type, especially in the brilliancy
of his keen black eyes; but it was difficult to trace the fine
features of the race, disfigured and pitted as they were by
the marks of smallpox. He was in the prime of life, and
his figure was robust and supple. A close observer would
have seen that he had lost one finger of his left hand. His
hair was dyed a red color, and he went barefoot, wearing
only a turban, and a scanty shirt or tunic of striped woolen
stuff girded round his waist.

On his breast were represented in bright colors the em-
blems of the two principles of preservation and destruction
taught by Hindoo mythology : the lion’s head of the fourth
incarnation of Vishnu, the three eyes and the symbolic
trident of the ferocious Siva.

There was great stir and commotion that evening in the
streets of Aurungabad, especially in the lower quarters,
where the populace swarmed outside the hovels in which
they lived. Men, women, children; English soldiers, sepoys,
beggars of all descriptions; peasants from the villages, met,
talked, gesticulated, discussed the proclamation, and cal-
culated the chances of winning the enormous reward offered
by Government.

The excitement was as great as it could have been before .
the wheel of a lottery where the prize was 2,000/. In this
case the fortunate ticket was the head of Dandou Pant,
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and to obtain it a man must first have the good luck to fall
in with the Nabob, and then the courage to seize him.

The fakir, apparently the only person unexcited by the
hope of winning the prize, threaded his way among the
eager groups, occasionally stopping and listening to what
was said, as though he might hear something of use to him.
He spoke to no one, but if his lips were silent his éyes and
ears were on the alert.

“Two thousand pounds for finding the Nabob!” ex-
claimed one, raising his clenched hands to heaven.

“Not for finding him,” replied another, “but for catch-
ing him, which is a very different thing!”

“Well, to be sure, he is not a man to let himself be taken
without a resolute struggle.”

“ But surely it was said he died of fever in the jungles
of Nepaul?”

“ That story was quite untrue! The cunning fellow chose
to pass for dead, that he might live in greater security!”

“ The report was spread that he had been buried in the
midst of his encampment on the frontier!”

“It was a false funeral, on purpose to deceive peo-
ple.”

The fakir did not change a muscle of his countenance on
hearing this latter assertion, which was made in a tone
admitting of no doubt. But when one of the more excited
of the group near which he was standing began to relate
the following circumstantial details, his brows knit in-
voluntarily as he listened.

“TIt is very certain,” said the speaker, “ that in 1859 the
Nabob took refuge with his brother, Balao Rao, and the
ex-rajah of Gonda, Debi-Bux-Singh, in a camp at the foot
of the mountains of Nepaul. There, finding themselves
closely pressed by the British troops, they all three resolved
to cross the Indo-Chinese frontier. Before doing so, they
caused a report of their death to be circulated, in order to
confirm which they went through the ceremony of actual
funerals; but in fact only a finger from the left hand of
each man had been really buried. These they cut off them-
selves when the rites were celebrated.”

“How do you know all this?” demanded one of the
crowd of listeners.

“I myself was preserit,” answered the man. “ The sol-
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diers of Dandou Pant had taken me prisoner. I only effected
my escape six months afterward.”

While the Hindoo was speaking, the fakir never took
his gaze off him. His eyes blazed like lightning. He kept
his left hand under the ragged folds of his garment, and
his lips quivered as they parted over his sharp-pointed teeth.

“So you have seen the Nabob?” inquired one of the
audience. '

“T have,” replied the former prisoner of Dandou Pant.

“ And would know him for certain if accident were to
bring you face to face with him?”

“Assuredly I would: I know him as well as I know
myself.”

“ Then you have a good chance of gaining the 2,000..!”
returned his questioner, not without a touch of envy in
his tone.

“ Perhaps so,” replied the Hindoo, ‘“ if it be true that the
Nabob has been so imprudent as to venture into the presi-
dency of Bombay, which to me appears very unlikely.”

“What would be the reason of his venturing so far?
What reason would induce him to dare so much?”

“ No doubt he might hope to instigate a fresh rebellion,
either among the sepoys or among the country populations
of Central India.”

“ Since Government asserts that he is known to be in
the province,” said one of the speakers, who belonged to
* that class which takes for gospel everything stated by author-
ity, “of course Government has reliable information on
the subject.”

“Be it so!” responded the Hindoo; “ only let it be the
will of Brahma that Dandou Pant crosses my path, and my
fortune is made!”

The fakir withdrew a few paces, but he did not lose sight
of the ex-prisoner of the Nabob.

It was by this time dark night, but there was no diminu-
tion of the commotion in the streets of Aurungabad. Gossip
about the Nabob circulated faster than ever. Here, peo-
ple were saying that he had been seen in the town; there,
that he was known to be at a great distance. A courier
from the north was reported to have arrived, with news
for the Governor, of his arrest. At nine o’clock the best
informed asserted that he was already imprisoned in the
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town jail—in company with some Thugs who had been
vegetating there for more than thirty years; that he was
going to be hanged next day at sunrise without a trial,
just like Tantia Topi, his celebrated comrade in revolt.

But by ten o’clock there was fresh news. The prisoner
had escaped, and the hopes of those who coveted the reward
revived. In reality all these reports were false. Those sup-
posed to be the best informed knew no more than any one
else. The Nabob’s head was safe. The prize was still to
be won.

It was evident that the Indian who was acquainted with
the person of Dandou Pant had a better chance of gaining
the reward than any one else. Very few people, especially
in the presidency of Bombay, had had occasion to meet with
the savage leader of the great insurrection.

Farther to the north, or more in the center of the country
—in Scinde, in Bundelkund, in Oude, near Agra, Delhi,
Cawnpore, Lucknow, on the principal theater of the atroci-
ties committed by his order—the population would have
risen in a body, and delivered him over to British justice.
The relatives of his victims—husbands, brothers, children,
wives—still wept for those whom he had caused to be
massacred by hundreds. Ten years had passed, but had not
extinguished the righteous sentiments of horror and ven-
geance. It seemed, therefore, impossible that Dandou Pant
should be so imprudent as to trust himself in districts where
his name was held in execration.

If, then, he really had, as was supposed, recrossed the
Indo-Chinese frontier—if some hidden motive, whether
projects for new revolt or otherwise, had induced him to
quit the secret asylum which had hitherto remained un-
known even to the Anglo-Indian police—it was only in the
provinces of the Deccan that he could expect an open course
and a species of security. And we have seen that the Gov-
ernor had, in point of fact, got wind of his appearance in the
presidency, and instantly a price had been set on his head.
Still it must be remarked that men of the upper ranks at
‘Aurungabad—magistrates, military officers, and public func-
tionaries—considerably doubted the truth of the informa-
tion received by the Governor.

It had so often been reported that this man had been
seen, and even captured! So much false intelligence had
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been circulated respecting him, that there began to be a
kind of legendary belief in a gift of ubiquity possessed by
him, to account for the skill with which he eluded the most
able and active agents of the police. The population, how-
ever, made no doubt that the intelligence as to his appear-
ance was reliable.

Among those now most convinced that the Nabob was to
be found was, of course, his ex-prisoner. The poor wretch,
allured by the hope of gain, and likewise animated by a
spirit of personal revenge, began to set about the under-
taking at once, and regarded his success as almost cer-
tain.

His plan was very simple. He proposed next day to offer
his services to the Governor; then, after having learned
exactly all that was known of Dandou Pant—that is to say,
the particulars on which was founded the information re-
ferred to in the proclamation—he intended to make his way
at once to the locality in which the Nabob was reported to
have been seen.

About eleven o’clock at night the Indian began to think
of retiring to take some repose. His only resting-place was
a small boat moored by the banks of the Doudhma; and
thither he directed his steps, his mind full of the various
reports he had heard, as, with half-closed eyes and thought-
ful brow, he revolved the project he had resolved to carry
out.

Quite unknown to him the fakir dogged his steps; he
followed noiselessly, and, keeping in the shadow, never for
an instant lost sight of him. - Toward the outskirts of this
quarter of Aurungabad the streets became gradually de-
serted. The chief thoroughfare opened upon bare, unoccu-
pied ground, one circuit of which skirted the stream of the
Doudhma. The place was a kind of desert beyond the town,
though within its walls a few passengers were hastily trav-
ersing it, evidently anxious to reach more frequented paths.
The footsteps of the last died away in the distance, the
Hindoo was now alone on the river’s bank.

The fakir was at no great distance, but concealed by trees,
or beneath the somber walls of ruined habitations, which
were scattered here and there. His precautions were need-
ful. When the moon rose and shed uncertain rays athwart
the gloom, the Hindoo might have seen that he was watched,
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and even very closely followed. As to hearing the sound
of the fakir’s tread, it was utterly impossible. Barefoot,
he glided, rather than walked. Nothing revealed his pres-
ence on the banks of the Doudhma.

Five minutes passed. The Hindoo took his way mechan-
ically toward his wretched boat, like a man accustomed to
withdraw night after night to this desert place.

He was absorbed in the thought of the interview he meant
to have next day with the Governor; while the hope of
revenging himself on the Nabob—never remarkable for his
tenderness toward his prisoners—united with a burning de-
sire to obtain the reward, rendered him blind and deaf to
everything around him; and though the fakir was gradually
approaching him, he was totally unconscious of the danger
in which his imprudent words had placed him.

Suddenly a man sprang upon him with a bound like that
of a tiger! He seemed to grasp a lightning flash. It was
the moonlight glancing on the blade of a Malay dag-

er!

The Hindoo, struck in the breast, fell heavily to the
ground. The wound, inflicted by an unerring hand, was
mortal; but a few inarticulate words escaped the unhappy
man’s lips, with a torrent of blood. The assassin stooped,
raised his victim, and supported him while he turned his
own face to the full light of the moon.

“Dost know me?” he asked.

‘Tt is he!” murmured the Indian; and the dreaded name
would have been his last choking utterance, but his head
fell back, and he expired. In another instant the corpse
had disappeared beneath the waters of the Doudhma.

The fakir waited until the noise of the plunge had passed
away ; then, turning swiftly, he traversed the open ground,
and passing along the now deserted streets and lanes, ap-
proached one of the city gates.

This gate was closed for the night just as he reached
it, and a military guard occupied the post, to prevent either
ingress or egress. The fakir could not leave Aurungabad,
as he had intended to do. “ Yet depart this night I must,
if ever T am to ‘do it alive! ” muttered he.

He turned away, and followed the inner line of fortifica-
tions for some little distance; then, ascending the slope,
reached the uppeér part of the rampart. The crest towered
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fifty feet above the level of the fosse which lay between
the scarp and counterscarp, and was devoid of any salient
points or projections which could have afforded support.
It seemed quite impossible that any man could descend
without a rope, and the cord he wore as a girdle was but
a few feet in length. He paused, glanced keenly round, and
considered what was to be done.

Great trees rise within the walls of Aurungabad, which
seems set in a verdant frame of foliage. The branches
of these being long and flexible, it might be possible to
cling to one, and at great risk, drop over the wall. No
sooner did this idea occur to the fakir, than, without a
moment’s hesitation, he plunged among the boughs, and
soon reappeared outside the wall, holding a long pliable
branch, which he grasped midway, and which gradually bent
‘beneath his weight.

When the branch rested on the edge of the wall, the
fakir began to let himself slowly downward, as though he
held a knotted rope in his hands. By this means he de-
scended a considerable distarnce; but when close to the ex-
tremity of the bough, at least thirty feet still intervened
between him and the ground. There he hung, swinging
in the air by his outstretched arms, while his feet sought
some crevice or rough stone for support.

A flash!—another! The report of musketry!

The sentries had perceived the fugitive and fired upon
him. He was not hit, but a ball struck the branch which
supported him, and splintered it.

In a few seconds it gave way, and down went the fakir
into the fosse. Such a fearful fall would have killed an-
other man—he was uninjured. To spring to his feet, dart
up the slope of the counterscarp amid a storm of bullets
—not one of which touched him—and vanish in the dark-
ness, was mere play to the agile fugitive.

At a distance of two miles he passed the cantonments of
the English troops, quartered outside Aurungabad.

A couple of hundred paces beyond that he stopped, turned
round, and stretching his mutilated hand toward the city,
fiercely uttered these words: “ Woe betide those who fall
now into the power of Dandou Pant! Englishmen have not
seen the last of Nana Sahib!”

Nana Sahib! This name, the most formidable to which
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the revolt of 1857 had given a horrid notoriety, was there
once more flung like a haughty challenge at the conquerors
of India.

CHAPTER II
COLONEL MUNRO

“ MAUCLER, my dear fellow, you tell us nothing about
your journey!” said my friend Banks, the engineer, to me.
“ One would suppose you had never got beyond your native
Paris! What do you think of India?”

“Think of India!” T replied. ‘T really must see it be-
fore I can answer that question!”

“Well, that is good!” returned Banks. “ Why, you
have just traversed the entire peninsula from Bombay to
Calcutta, and unless you are downright blind 1

“T am not blind, my dear Banks; but during that jour-
ney you speak of I was blinded.”

“Blinded?”

“Yes! quite blinded by smoke, steam, dust; and, above
all, by the rapid motion. I don’t want to speak evil of rail-
roads, Banks, since it is your business to make them; but
let me ask whether you call it traveling to be jammed up in
the compartment of a carriage, see no farther than the glass
of the windows on each side of you, tear along day and
night, now over viaducts among the eagles and vultures,
now through tunnels among moles and rats, stopping only
at stations one exactly like another, seeing nothing of towns
but the outside of their walls and the tops of their minarets,
and all this amid an uproar of snorting engines, shrieking
steam-whistles, grinding and grating of rails, varied by the
mournful groans of the brake? Can you, I say, call this
traveling so as to see a country?”

“Well done!” cried Captain Hood. * There, Banks!
answer that if you can. What is your opinion, colonel?”

The colonel, thus addressed, bent his head slightly, and
merely said, “ I am curious to know what reply Banks can
make to our guest, Monsieur Maucler.”

“T reply without the slightest hesitation,” said the en-
gineer, “ that I quite agree with Maucler.”
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“ But then,” cried Captain Hood, “ why do you construct
these railroads at all?”

“ To enable you to go from Calcutta to Bombay in sixty
hours when you are in a hurry.”

“I am never in a hurry.”

‘“ Ah, well then, you had better take to the great trunk
road and walk!”

“That is exactly what I intend doing.”

“When?”

“When the colonel will agree to accompany me in a
pretty little stroll of eight or nine hundred miles across the
country!” )

The colonel smiled, and without speaking again fell into
one of the long reveries from which his most intimate
friends, among whom were Captain Hood and Banks the
engineer, found it difficult to rouse him.

I had arrived in India a month previously. Having jour-
neyed by the Great Indian Peninsular Railway, which runs
from Bombay to Calcutta, via Allahabad. I knew literally
nothing of the country. But it was my purpose to travel
through its northern districts beyond the Ganges, to visit its
great cities, to examine and study the principal monuments
of antiquity, and to devote to my explorations sufficient
time to render them complete.

I had become acquainted with the engineer Banks in Paris.
For some years we had been united by a friendship which
only increased with greater intimacy. I had promised to
visit him at Calcutta as soon as the completion of that part
of the Scinde, Punjab, and Delhi Railroad, of which he was
engineer, should set him at liberty.

The works being now at an end, Banks had some months’
leave, and I had come to propose that he should take rest
by roaming over India with me! As a matter of course he
had accepted my proposal with enthusiasm, and in a few
weeks, when the season would be favorable, we were to
set off.

On my arrival at Calcutta in the month of March, 1867,
Banks had introduced me to one of his gallant comrades,
Captain Hood, and afterward to his friend Colonel Munro,
at whose house we were spending the evening. The colonel,
at this time a man of about forty-seven, occupied a house
in the European quarter; it stood somewhat apart, and con-
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sequently beyond the noise and stir of the great metropolis
of India, which consists in fact of two cities, one native, the
other foreign and commercial.

The colonel’s house was evidently that of a man in easy
circumstances. There was a large staff of servants, such
as is required in Anglo-Indian families. The furniture and
every household arrangement was in the very best taste and
style. Ineverything about the establishment might be traced
the hand of an intelligent woman, whose thoughtful care
must have originally planned the comforts and conveniences
of the home, but at the same time one felt that this woman
was there no longer.

The management of the household was conducted entirely
by an old soldier of the colonel’s regiment, who acted as
his steward or major-domo. Sergeant McNeil was a Scotch-
man, who had been with him in many campaigns, not merely
in his military capacity, but as an attached and devoted per-
sonal attendant.

He was a man of five-and-forty or thereabouts, of tall
and vigorous frame, and manly, well-bearded countenance.
Although he had retired from the service when his colonel
did, he continued to wear the uniform; and this national
costume, together with his martial bearing, bespoke him at
once the Highlander and the soldier.

Both had left the army in 1860. But instead of return-
ing to the hills and glens of their native land, both had
remained in India, and lived at Calcutta in a species of
retirement and solitude, which requires to be explained.

When my friend Banks was about to introduce me to
Colonel Munro, he gave me one piece of advice. ‘ Make
no allusion to the sepoy revolt,” he said: “ and, above all,
never mention the name of Nana Sahib.”

Colonel Edward Munro belonged to an old Scottish fam-
ily, whose members had made their mark in the history of
former days.

He was descended from that Sir Hector Munro who in
1760 commanded the army in Bengal, when a serious in-
surrection had to be quelled. This he effected witl a stern
and pitiless energy. In one day twenty-eight rebels were
blown from the cannon’s mouth—a fearful sentence, many
times afterward carried out during the mutiny of 1857.

At the period of that great revolt Colenel Munro was in
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command of the 93d Regiment of Highlanders, which he
led during the campaign under Sir James Outram-—one of
the heroes of that war—of whom Sir Charles Napier spoke
as ‘“ The Chevalier Bayard of the Indian Army.” Colonel
Munro was with him at Cawnpore ; and also, in the second
campaign, he was at the siege of Lucknow, and continued
with Sir James until the latter was appointed a Member of
the Council of India at Calcutta.

In 1858 Colonel Munro was made a Knight Commander
of the Star of India, and was created a baronet. His be-
loved wife never bore the title of Lady Munro, for she
perished at Cawnpore on the 27th of June, 1857, in the
atrocious massacre perpetrated by the orders and before
the eyes of Nana Sahib.

Lady Munro (her friends always called her so) had
been perfectly adored by her husband. She was scarcely
seven-and-twenty at the time of her terrible death. Mrs.
Orr and Miss Jackson, after the taking of Lucknow, were
miraculously saved and restored to their hushand and father.
But to Colonel Munro nothing remained of his wife. She
had disappeared with the two hundred victims in the well
of Cawnpore.

Sir Edward, now a desperate man, had but one object
remaining in life; it was to quench a burning thirst for
vengeance—ifor justlce The discovery of Nana Sahib, for.
whom, by order of Government, search was being made in
all directions, was his one great desire, his sole aim.

It was in order to be free to prosecute this search that
he had retired from the army. Sergeant McNeil got his
discharge at the same time, and faithfully followed his
master. The two men were animated by one hope, lived
in one thought, had but one end in view ; and eagerly start-
ing in pursuit, followed up one track after another, only to
fail as completely as the Anglo-Indian police had done.
The Nana escaped all their efforts.

After three years spent in fruitless attempts, the colonel
and Sergeant McNeil suspended their exertions for a time.

Just then the report of Nana Sahib’s death was current
in India, and this time it seemed to be so well attested as
to admit of no reasonable doubt.

Sir Edward Munro and McNeil returned to Calcutta, and
established themselves in the lonely bungalow which has
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been described. There the colonel lived in retirement, never
left home, read nothing which could contain any reference
to the sanguinary time of the mutiny, and seemed to live
but for the cherished memory of his wife. Time in no way
mitigated his grief.

I learned these particulars from my friend Banks, on our
way to the house of mourning, as Sir Edward’s bungalow
might be called. It was very evident why he had warned
me against making any allusion to the sepoy revolt and its
cruel chief.

It must be noted that a report of Nana’s reappearance in
Bombay, which had for some days been circulating, had not
reached him. Had it done so, he would have been on the
move at once.

Banks and Captain Hood were tried friends of the col-
onel’s, and they were his only constant visitors.

The former, as I have said, had recently completed the
works he had in charge, on the Great Indian Peninsular
Railway. He was a man in the prime of life, and was
now appointed to take an active part in constructing the
Madras Railway, designed to connect the Arabian Sea with
the Bay of Bengal, but which was not to be commenced for
a year. He was just now on leave at Calcutta, occupied
with many mechanical projects, for his mind was active and
fertile, incessantly devising some novel invention. His spare
time he devoted to the colonel, whose fast friend he had
been for twenty years. Thus most of his evenings were
spent in the veranda of the bungalow. There he usually
met Captain Hood, who belonged to the first squadron of
Carabineers, and had served in the campaign of 1857-58
first under Sir John Campbell in Oude and Rohilkund, and
afterward in Central India, under Sir Hugh Rose, during
the campaign which terminated in the taking of Gwalior.

Hood was not more than thirty; he had spent most of his
life in India, and was a distinguished member of the Madras
Club. His hair and beard were auburn, and he belonged
to an English regiment; otherwise he was thoroughly ““ In-
dianized,” and loved the country as if it had been his by
birth. He thought India the only place worth living in.
And there, certainly, all his tastes were gratified. A soldier
by nature and temperament, opportunities for fighting were
of constant recurrence. An enthusiastic sportsman, was he



COLONEL MUNRO 129

not in a land where nature had collected together all the
wild animals in creation, all the furred and feathered game
of either hemisphere? A determined mountaineer, the mag-
nificent ranges of Thibet offered him the ascent of the
loftiest summits on the globe.

An intrepid traveler, what debarred him from setting foot
on the hitherto untrodden regions of the Himalayan fron-
tier? Madly fond of horse-racing, the race-courses of India
appeared to him fully as important as those of Newmarket
or Epsom. 3

On this latter subject Banks and Hood were quite at
variance. The engineer took very little interest in the turfy
triumphs of “ Gladiator” and Co.

One day, when Hood had been urging him to express
some opinion on the point, Banks said that to his mind races
could never be really exciting but on one condition.

“ And what is that? ” demanded Hood.

It should be clearly understood,” returned Banks quite
seriously, ““that the jockey last at the winning-post is to
be shot in his saddle.”

“ Ah! not a bad idea!” exclaimed Hood, very simply.
Nor would he have hesitated to run the chance himself.

Such were Sir Edward Munro’s two constant visitors,
and without joining in their conversations he liked to listen
to them. Their perpetual discussions and disputes, on all
sorts of subjects, often brought a smile to his lips.

One wish and desire these two brave fellows had in com-
mon. And that was to induce the colonel to join them in
making a journey, and so to vary the melancholy tenor of
his thoughts. Several times they had tried to persuade him
to go to places frequented during the hot season by the rich
dwellers in Calcutta.

The colonel was immovable.

He had heard of the journey which Banks and I pro-
posed to take. This evening the subject was resumed.
Captain Hood’s idea was a vast walking-tour in the north
of India. He objected to railroads, as Banks did to horses.
The middle course proposed was to travel either in carriages
or in palanquins—easy enough on the great thoroughfares
of Hindoostan.

“Don’t tell me about your bullock-wagons and your

humped-zebu carriages!” cried Banks. “IT believe if you
YV XII Verne ;
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had your way without us engineers, you would still go about
in primitive vehicles such as were discarded in Europe five
hundred years ago.”

“I’'m sure they are far more comfortable than some of
your contrivances, Banks. And think of those splendid
white bullocks! why, they keep up a gallop admirably, and
you find relays at every two leagues——"

“Yes; and they drag a machine on four wheels after
them, in which one is tossed and pitched worse than in a
boat at sea in a storm.”

“Well, I can’t say much for these conveyances, cer-
tainly,” answered Hood. “But have we not capital car-
riages for two, three, or four horses, which in speed can
rival some of your trains? For my part, give me a palan-
quin rather than a train.”

“ A palanquin, Hood! Call it a coffin—a bier—where
you are laid out like a corpse!”

“That’s all very well, but at least you are not rattled and
shaken about. In a palanquin you may write, read, or sleep
at your ease, without being roused up for your ticket at
every station. A palanquin carried by four or six Bengalee
gamals (bearers) will take you at the rate of four-and-half
miles an hour, and ever so much safer, too, than your merci-
less express trains!”

“The best plan of all,” said I, “ would certainly be to
carry one’s house with one.”

“Oh, you snail!” cried Banks.

“My friend,” replied I, “a snail who could leave his
shell, and return to it at pleasure, would not be badly off.
To travel in one’s own house, a rolling house, will probably
be the climax of inventions in the matter of journey-
ing!”

“ Perhaps it will,” said Colonel Munro, who had not yet
spoken. “If the scene could be changed’ without leaving
home and all its associations, if the horizon, points of view,
atmosphere, and climate could be varied while one’s daily
life went on as usual—yes, perhaps——"

“No more traveler’s bungalows,” said Hood, “where
comfort is unknown, although for stopping there you re-
quire a leave from the local magistrate.”

“ No more detestable inns, in which one is fleeced morally
and physically!” said L '
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“What a vision of delight!” cried Captain Hood.
“Fancy stopping when you please, setting off when you
feel inclined, going at a foot’s pace when disposed to linger,
racing away at a gallop the instant the humor strikes you!
Then to carry with you not only a bedroom, but drawing
and dining and smoking rooms! and a kitchen! and a cook!
That would be something like progress, indeed, Banks! and
a hundred times better than railways. Contradict me if
you dare!”

“Far from contradicting, I should entirely agree with
you, if only you carried your notion of improvement far
enough.”

“ What? do you mean to say better still might be done? ”

“Listen, and judge for yourself. - You consider that a
moving house would be superior to a carriage—to a saloon-
carriage—even to a sleeping-car on a railroad. And sup-
posing one traveled for pleasure only, and not on business,
you are right; I suppose we are agreed as to that?”

“Yes,” said I, “ we all think so;” and Colonel Munro
made a sign of acquiescence.

“Well,” continued Banks. ‘ Now let us proceed. You
give your orders to your coach-builder and architect com-
bined, who turns you out a perfect realization of the idea,
and there you have your rolling house, answering in every
way to your requirements, replete with every convenience
and comfort; not so high as to make one fear a somersault,
not so broad as to suggest the possibility of sticking in a
narrow road ; well hung—in short, perfection. Let us sup-
pose it has been built for our friend Colonel Munro; he
invites us to share his hospitality, and proposes to visit the
northern parts of India—Ilike snails if you please, but snails
who are not glued by the tail to their shells. All is prepared
—nothing forgotten, not even the precious cook and kitchen
so dear to our friend Hood. The day for starting comes!
All right! Holloa! who is to draw your house, my good
friend?”

“Draw it?” cried Hood; “why mules, asses, horses,
bullocks! ”

“In dozens?” said Banks.

“ Ah! let’s see; elephants, of course—elephants! It would
be something superb, majestic, to see a house drawn by a
team of elephants, well-matched, and with splendid action,
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Can you conceive a more lordly and magnificent style of
progression? Would it not be glorious? ”

“ Well—yes—bu £

“ But! still another of your ¢ buts.” ”’

“ And a very big ‘but’ it is.”

“ Bother you engineers! you are good for nothing but to
discover difficulties.”

“ And to surmount them when not insurmountable,” re-
plied Banks quietly.

“ Well then, surmount this one.”

“1 will—and in this way. My dear Munro, Captain Hood
offers us a large choice of motive power, but none which
is incapable of fatigue, none which will not on occasion
prove restive or obstinate, and above all, require to eat.
It follows that the traveling house we speak of is quite
impracticable unless it can be a steam house.”

““And run upon rails, of course! I thought so!” cried
the captain, shrugging his shoulders.

“No, upon roads,” returned Banks; “drawn by a first-
rate traction engine.”

“Bravo!” shouted Hood, “bravo! Provided the house
need not follow your imperious lines of rails, I agree to the
steam.” ‘

“But,” said I to Banks, “an engine requires food as
much as mules, asses, horses, bullocks, or elephants do, and
for want of it will come to a standstill.”

“ A steam horse,” replied he, “is equal in strength to
several real horses, and the power may be indefinitely in-
creased. The steam horse is subject neither to fatigue nor
to sickness. In all latitudes, through all weathers, in sun-
shine, rain, or snow, he continues his unwearied course. He
fears not the attack of wild beasts, the bite of serpents, nor
the stings of venomous insects. Desiring neither rest nor
sleep, he needs no whip, spur, or goad. The steam horse,
provided only he is not required at last to be cooked for
dinner, is superior to every draught animal which Providence
has placed at the disposal of mankind. All he consumes is
a little oil or grease, a little coal or wood; and you know,
my friends, that forests are not scarce in our Indian Pen-
insula, and the wood belongs to everybody.”

“ Well said!” exclaimed Captain Hood. “ Hurrah for
the steam horse! I can almost fancy I see the traveling
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house, invented by Banks the great engineer, traveling the
highways and byways of India, penetrating jungles, plung-
ing through forests, venturing even into the haunts of lions,
tigers, bears, panthers, and leopards, while we, safe within
its walls, are dealing destruction on all and sundry! Ah,
Banks, it makes my mouth water! I wish I wasn’t going
to be born for another fifty years!” :

“ Why not, my dear fellow? ”

“ Because fifty years hence your dream will come true;
we shall have the steam house.”

“Tt is ready now,” said Banks simply.

“Ready! Who has made one? Have you?”

“I have; and to tell you the truth, I rather expect it will
even surpass your visionary hopes.”

“ My dear Banks, let’s be off at once!” cried Hood, as
if he had received an electric shock.

The engineer begged him to be calm, and turning to Sir
Edward Munro, addressed him in an earnest tone.

“ Edward,” said he, “if I place a steam house at your
command—if a month hence, when the season will be suit-
able, I come and tell you that your rooms are prepared, and
that you can occupy them and go wherever you like, while
your friends Maucler, Hood, and I are ready and willing
to accompany you on an excursion to the north of India—
will you answer me, ‘ Let us start, Banks, let us start; and
the God of the traveler be our speed’?”

“Yes, my friends,” replied Colonel Munro, after a few
moments’ reflection. “ Yes, I agree. I place at your dis-
posal, Banks, the requisite funds. Keep your promise:
Bring to us this ideal of a steam house, which is to surpass
even Hood’s imagination, and we will travel over all India.”

“Hurrah! hurrah! hurrah!” shouted Captain Hood.
“ Now for wild sports on the frontiers of Nepaul!”

At this moment Sergeant McNeil, attracted by the cap-
tain’s ringing cheers, appeared at the entrance to the ver-
anda.

“ McNeil,” said Colonel Munro, “ we start in a month
for the north of India. Will you go?”

“ Certainly, colonel, if you do,” he replied.



CHAPTER III
THE SEPOY REVOLT

SoME account must now be given of the state of India at
the period when the events of this story took place, and
especially it will be necessary to relate the chief circum-
stances connected with the formidable revolt of the
sepoys.

The Honorable East India Company, called sometimes
by the nickname of *“ John Company,” was founded in 1600,
in the reign of Elizabeth, in the midst of a population of
two hundred millions, inhabiting the sacred land of Arya-
varta.

Their first title was merely ““ The Governor and Company
of Merchants of London trading to the East Indies,” and
at their head was placed the Duke of Cumberland.

About this time the power of the Portuguese, which till
then had been very great in the Indies, began to diminish.
Of this the English immediately took advantage, and made
their first attempt at a political and military administration
in the presidency of Bengal, its capital, Calcutta, becoming
the center of the new government.

A French Company was founded about the same period,
under the patronage of Colbert, and the conflicting interests
of the rival companies gave rise to endless contentions, in
which, a century later, the names of Dupleix, Labourdon-
nais, and Count de Lally, are distinguished both in successes
and reverses. The French were finally compelled to abandon
the Carnatic, that portion of the peninsula which compre-
hends a part of its eastern coast.

Lord Clive’s brilliant successes having assured the Eng-
lish power in Bengal, Warren Hastings consolidated the
empire Clive had founded, and from that time war and
conquest went on, till England became master of that vast
empire which has been described as “ not less splendid and
more durable than that of Alexander.”

The Company, however, till then all powerful, began to
lose its authority, and in 1784 a bill was passed placing it
under the control of Government. In 1813 it lost the
monopoly of trading to India, and in 1833 the right of
trading to China.

Since the establishment of 32 military force in India, the

1
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army had always been composed of two distinct contingents,
European and native. The first consisted of British cavalry
and infantry regiments, and European infantry in service
of the Company ; the second, of native regulars, commanded
by English officers. There was also artillery, which belonged
to the Company, and was European with the exception of
a few batteries. }

When Lord William Bentinck was made Governor of
Madras, he introduced some reforms which highly offended
the native troops. The sepoys were required to clip their
mustaches, shave their chins, and were forbidden to wear
their marks of caste. A new regulation turban was also
ordered for them. Incited by the sons of Tippoo Sahib,
this was made the excuse for an outbreak, in which the
garrison at Vellore rose against and massacred their officers
and about a hundred English soldiers, even the sick in the
hospital being butchered.

The English troops quartered at Arcot fortunately ar-
rived in time to stem that rebellion. This, however, showed
that a slight cause would at any moment set the natives
against their conquerors, and in 1857 imminent peril threat-
ened this Eastern Empire.

The Mohammedans of both sects longed to set themselves
free from the British yoke, but could not hope to do so
while the Hindoo soldiery remained true to their salt. Un-
happily the spark that was needed to inflame their passions
was not long in being supplied. A suspicion had seized the
Hindoo mind that their religion and caste were in danger;
that the English had determined that all the natives should
become Christians. They believed that the cartridges for
their new Enfield rifles were purposely greased with pig’s
fat, so that when they bit off the ends they would be defiled,
lose caste, and be compelled to embrace the Christian re-
ligion.

Now, in a country where the population renounces even
the use of soap, because the fat of either a sacred or unclean
animal may enter into its composition, it was found very
difficult to enforce the use of cartridges prepared with this
substance, especially as they had to be touched with the lips.
The Government yielded in some degree to the outcry which
was made; but it was quite in vain to modify the drill with
the rifles, or to assert that the fats in question took no part
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in the manufacture of the cartridges. Not a sepoy in the
army could be reassured or persuaded to the contrary.

At this time Lord Canning was at the head of the admin-
istration as governor-general. Perhaps this statesman de-
luded himself as to the extent of the movement. For some
years past the star of the United Kingdom had been grow-
ing visibly dimmer in the Hindoo sky. In 1842 the retreat
from Cabul had diminished the prestige of the European
conquerors. The attitude of the English army during the
Crimean war had not in some instances been such as to
sustain its military reputation. The sepoys, therefore, who
were well acquainted with all that was happening on the
shores of the Black Sea, thought the time had come when
a revolt of the native troops would probably be successful.
Their minds, already well prepared, were inflamed and ex-
cited by the bards, brahmins, and moulvis, who stirred them
up by songs and exhortations.

At the beginning of the year 1857, while the contingent
of the British army was reduced owing to exterior complica-
tions, Nana Sahib, otherwise called Dandou Pant, who had
been residing near Cawnpore, had gone to Delhi, and twice
to Lucknow, no doubt with the object of provoking the
rising, prepared so long ago, for, in fact, very shortly after
the departure-of the Nana, the insurrection was declared.

On the 24th of February, at Berampore, the 34th regiment
refused the cartridges. In the middle of the month of
March an adjutant was massacred, and the regiment being
dishanded after the punishment of the assassins, carried into
the neighboring provinces most active elements of re-
volt.

On the 10th of May, at Meerut, a little to the north of
Delhi, the 3d, 11th, and 20th regiments mutinied, killed
their colonels and several staff officers, gave up the town
to pillage, and then fell back on Delhi. Here the rajah,
a descendant of Timour, joined them. The arsenal fell into
their power, and the officers of the 54th regiment were
slaughtered. On the 11th of May, at Delhi, Major Fraser
and his officers were pitilessly massacred by the mutineers
of Meerut, in the very palace of the European commandant;
and on the 16th of May forty-nine prisoners, men, women,
and children, fell under the hatchets of the assassins. On
the 20th of May, the 26th regiment, cantoned near Lahore,
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killed the commandant of the fort and the European
sergeant-major.

The impulse once given to these frightful butcheries, it
was impossible to stop them. On the 28th of May, at
Nourabad, many Anglo-Indian officers fell victims. The
brigadier commandant, with his aide-de-camp, and many
other officers, were murdered in the cantonments of Luck-
now on the 30th of May. On the 31st of May, at Bareilly,
in the Rohilkund, several officers were surprised and mas-
sacred, without having time to defend themselves. At
Shahjahanpore, on the same date, were assassinated the
collector and a number of officers by the sepoys of the 38th
regiment; and the next day, beyond Barwar, many officers,
women, and children, who were en route for the station of
Sivapore, a mile from Aurungabad, fell victims.

In the first days of June, at Bhopal, were massacred a
part of the European population; and at Jansi, under the
inspiration of the terrible dispossessed Rani, all the women
and children who took refuge in the fort were slaughtered
with unexampled refinement of cruelty. At Allahabad, on
the 6th of June, eight young ensigns fell by the sepoys’
hands. On the 14th of June, two native regiments revolted
at Gwalior, and assassinated their officers.

On the 27th of June, at Cawnpore, expired the first
hecatomb of victims, of every age and sex, all shot or
drowned—a prelude to the fearful drama which was to
take place there a few weeks later. On the 1st of July, at
Holkar, thirty-four Europeans—officers, women, and chil-
dren—were massacred, and the town pillaged and burned;
and on the same day, at Ugow, the colonel and adjutant
of the 23d regiment were slain.

The second massacre at Cawnpore was on the 15th of
July. On that day several hundred women and children—
among them Lady Munro—were butchered with unequaled
cruelty by the order of Nana himself, who called to his aid
the Mussulman butchers from the slaughter-houses. This
atrocious act, and how the bodies were afterward thrown
down a well, is too well known to need further descrip-
tion. :

On the 26th of September, in Lucknow, many were half
cut to pieces, and then thrown still living into the flames.
Besides these, in all the towns, and throughout the whole
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country, there were isolated murders, which altogether gave
to this mutiny a horrible character of atrocity.

To these butcheries the English generals soon replied by
reprisals—necessary, no doubt, since they did much to in-
spire terror of the British name among the insurgents—
but which were truly frightful. At the beginning of the
insurrection, at Lahore, Chief Justice Montgomery and
Brigadier Corbett had managed to disarm, without blood-
shed, the 8th, 16th, 26th, and 49th native regiments. At
Moultan the 62d and 29th regiments were also forced to
surrender their arms, without being able to attempt any
serious resistance. The same thing was done at Peshawar
to the 24th, 27th, and 51st regiments, who were disarmed
by Brigadier S. Colton and Colonel Nicholson, just as the
rebellion was about to burst. But the native officers of the
51st regiment having fled to the mountains, a price was set
on their heads, and all were soon brought back by the hill-
men. This was the beginning of the reprisals.

A column, commanded by Colonel Nicholson, attacked a
native regiment, which was marching toward Delhi. The
mutineers were soon defeated and dispersed, and one hun-
dred and twenty prisoners brought to Peshawar. All were
indiscriminately condemned to death; but one out of three
only were really executed. Ten cannon were placed on
the drilling-ground, a prisoner fastened to each of their
mouths, and five times were the ten guns fired covering the
plain with mutilated remains, in the midst of air tainted
with the smell of burning flesh.

These men, as M. de Valbezen says in his book called
“ Nouvelles Etudes sur les Anglais et 'Inde,” nearly all
died with that heroic indifference which Indians know so
well how to preserve even in the very face of death. “ No
need to bind me, captain,” said a fine young sepoy, twenty
years of age, to one of the officers present at the execution;
and as he spoke he carelessly stroked the instrument of
death. ‘ No need to bind me; I have no wish to run away.”
Such was the first and horrible execution, which was to be
followed by so many others.

At the same time Brigadier Chamberlain pubiished the
following order to the native troops at Lahore, after the
execution of two sepoys of the 55th regiment: “ You have
just seen two of your comrades bound to the cannon’s mouth
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and blown to pieces; this will be the punishment of all
traitors. Your conscience will tell you what penalties they
will undergo in the other world. These two soldiers have
been shot rather than hung on the gallows, because I wished
to spare them the pollution of the executioner’s touch, and
prove thus that the Government, even at this crisis, wishes
to avoid everything that would do the least injury to your
prejudices of religion and caste.”

On the 30th of July, 1,237 prisoners fell successively be-
fore firing platoons, and fifty others only escaped to die of
hunger and suffocation in the prisons in which they were
shut up. On the 28th of August, of 870 sepoys who fled
from Lahore, 659 were pitilessly massacred by the soldiers
of the British army.

After the taking of Delhi, on the 23d of September, three
princes of the king’s family, the heir presumptive and his
two cousins, surrendered unconditionally to Major Hod-
son, who brought them, with an escort of five men only,
into the midst of a menacing crowd of 5,000 Hindoos—
one against 1,000. And yet, halfway through, Hodson
stopped the cart which contained his prisoners, got into it,
ordered them to lay bare their breasts, and then shot them
all three with his revolver. “ This bloody execution, by
the hand of an English officer,” says M. de Valbezen, * ex-
cited the highest admiration throughout the Punjab.”

After the capture of Delhi, 3,000 prisoners perished by
shot or on the gallows, and with them twenty-nine members
of the royal family. The siege of Delhi, it is true, had
cost the besiegers 2,151 Europeans, and 1,686 natives. At
Allahabad horrible slaughter was made, not among the
sepoys, but in the ranks of the humble population, whom
the fanatics had almost unconsciously enticed to pillage. At
Lucknow, on the 16th of November, 2,000 sepoys were shot
at the Sikander Bagh, and a space of 120 square yards was
strewed with their dead bodies.

At Cawnpore, after the massacre, Colonel Neil obliged
the condemned men, before giving them over to the gallows,
to lick and clean with their tongues, in proportion to their
rank of caste, each spot of blood remaining in the house
in which the victims had perished. To the Hindoos this
was preceding death with dishonor.

During the expedition into Central India executions were
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continual, and under the fire of musketry “ walls of human
flesh fell and perished on the earth!” On the 9th of March,
1858, during the attack on the Yellow House, at the time
of the second siege of Lucknow, after the decimation of
the sepoys, it appears certain that one of these unfortunat=
men was roasted alive by the Sikhs, under the very eyes of
the English officers! On the 11th, the moats of the Begum’s
palace at Lucknow were filled with sepoys’ bodies; for the
English could not restrain the rage that possessed them. In
twelve days 3,000 natives were slain, either hung or shot,
including among them 380 fugitives on the island of Hydas-
spes, who were escaping into Cashmere.

In short, without counting the sepoys who were killed
under arms during this merciless repression—in which no
prisoners were made—in the Punjab only not less than 628
natives were shot or bound to the cannon’s mouth by order
of the military authorities, 1,370 by order of the civil author-
ity, 386 hung by order of both.

At the beginning of the year 1859 it was estimated that
more than 120,000 native officers and soldiers had perished,
and more than 200,000 civilian natives, who paid with their
lives for their participation—often doubtful—in this insur-
rection. Terrible reprisals these! and perhaps, on that oc-
casion, Mr. Gladstone had some reason on his side when
he protested so energetically against them in Parliament.

It was important, for the better understanding of our
story, that the death-list on both sides should be given as
above, to make the reader comprehend the unsatiated hatred
which still remained in the hearts of the conquered, thirst-
ing for vengeance, as well as in those of the conquerors,
who, ten years afterward, were still mourning the victims
of Cawnpore and Lucknow.

As to the purely military facts of the campaign against
the rebels, they comprised the following expeditions, which
may be summarily mentioned. .

To begin with, Sir John Lawrence lost his life in the first
Punjab campaign. Then came the siege of Delhi (that
central point of the insurrection), reénforced by thousands
of fugitives, and in which Mohammed Shah Bahadour was
proclaimed Emperor of Hindoostan. “ Finish up Delhi!”
was the impatient order of the governor-general in his last
dispatch to the commander-in-chief; and the siege, begun
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on the night of the 13th of June, was ended on the 19th
of September, after costing the lives of Generals Sir Harry
Barnard and John Nicholson.

At the same time, after Nana Sahib had had himself
declared Peishwar, and been crowned at the castle fort of
Bhitoor, General Havelock effected his march on Cawnpore.
He entered it the 17th of July, though too late to prevent
the second massacre, or to seize the Nana, who managed
to escape with 5,000 men and forty pieces of cannon.

Havelock then undertook a first campaign in the kingdom
of Oude, and on the 28th of July he crossed the Ganges
with 1,700 men and ten cannon only, and proceeded toward
Lucknow.

Sir Colin Campbell and Major-General Sir James Qutram
now appeared on the scene. The siege of Lucknow lasted
eighty-seven days, and during it Sir Henry Lawrence and
General Havelock lost their lives. Then Sir Colin Campbell,
after having been obliged to retire on Cawnpore, of which
he took definite possession, prepared for a second campaign.

During this time other troops captured Mohir, a town
of Central India, and made an expedition across the Mulwa,
which established the British authority in that kingdom.

At the commencement of the year 1858 Campbell and
Outram again marched on Lucknow, with four divisions of
infantry, commanded by Major-Generals Sir James Outram
and Sir Edward Lugard, and Brigadiers Walpole and
Franks. Sir Hope Grant led the cavalry, while Wilson
and Robert Napier had other commands, the army consist-
ing of about 25,000 men, which were joined by the Maha-
rajah of Nepaul with 12,000 Ghoorkas. But the rebel
army numbered not less than 120,000 men, and the town
of Lucknow contained from 700,000 to 800,000 inhabitants.
The first attack was made on the 6th of March.

On the 16th, after a series of combats the English got
possession of that part of the town situated on the left bank
of the Goomtee. Moos-a-bagh was cannonaded and cap-
tured by Sir James Outram and Sir Hope Grant on the 19th;
and on the 2l1st, after a fierce struggle the English took
final possession of the city.

In the month of April an expedition was made into Rohil-
kund, as a great number of the fugitive insurgents were
there. Bareilly, the capital of that kingdom, was the first
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object of the English, who were not at the outset very
fortunate, as they suffered a sort of defeat at Jugdespore.
Here also Brigadier Adrian Hope was killed. But toward
the end of the month Campbell arrived, retook Shahjahan-
pore, and on the 5th of May, attacking Bareilly, he seized
it, without having been able to prevent the rebels evacu-
ating it.

The Central India Field Force, under the command of
Sir Hugh Rose, performed many gallant achievements.
This general, in January, 1858, marched through the king-
dom of Bhopal and relieved the town of Saugor on the 3d
<1)§ 51;‘ebru:au'y, which had been closely besieged since July,

Ten days after he took the fort of Gurakota, forced the
defiles of the Vindhya chain, crossed the Betwa, and arrived
before Jhansi, defended by 11,000 rebels, under the com-
mand of the savage Amazon Ranee; invested this place on
the 22d of March, in the midst of intense heat, detached
2,000 men from the besieging army to meet 20,000 men
from Gwalior, led by the famous Tantia Topee, put this
chief to the rout, and then assaulted the town on the 22d
of April, forced the walls, and seized the citadel, from which
the Ranee managed to escape. On the 23d of May the Brit-
ish advanced on Calpee, and occupied it. The Ranee and
Tantia Topee having taken possession of Gwalior, Sir Hugh
Rose advanced upon that place; an action took place at
Morar on the 16th of June, and on the 19th another fierce
contest, in which the rebels were completely put to the rout,
and the Central India Field Force returned to Bombay
in triumph.

The Ranee was killed in a hand-to-hand fight before
Gwalior. This famous queen, who was devoted to the
Nabob, and was his most faithful companion during the in-
surrection, fell by the hand of Sir Edward Munro. Nana
Sahib, by the dead body of Lady Munro at Cawnpore, the
colonel, by the dead body of the Ranee at Gwalior, represent
the revolt and the suppression, and were thus made enemies
whose hatred would find terrible vent if they ever met face
to face!

The insurrection might now be considered to be quelled,
except in a few places in the kingdom of Oude. Campbell
resumed the campaign on the 2d of November, seized the
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last of the rebel places, and compelled several important
chiefs to submit themselves. One of them, however, Beni
Madho, was not taken. In December it was learned that
he had taken refuge in a neighboring district of Nepaul. It
was said that Nana Sahib, Balao Rao his brother, and the
Begum of Oude, were with him.. Later it was reported that
they had sought refuge across the Raptee, on the boundaries
of the kingdoms of Nepaul and Oude. Campbell pressed
rapidly on, but they had crossed the frontier. In the begin-
ning of February, 1859, an English brigade, one of the
regiments being under command of Colonel Munro, pursued
them into Nepaul. Beni Madho was killed, the Begum of
Oude and her son were made prisoners, and obtained per-
mission to reside in the capital of Nepaul. As to Nana Sahib
and Balao Rao, though for long they were thought to be
dead, yet such was not the case.

Thus the terrible insurrection was crushed. Tantia Topee,
betrayed by his lieutenant Man-Singh, and condemned to
death, was executed on the 15th of April at Sipree. This
rebel, “this truly remarkable actor in the great drama of
the Indian insurrection,” says M. de Valbezen, “ one who
gave proofs of a political genius full of resources and dar-
ing,” died courageously on the scaffold.

This sepoy mutiny, which might perhaps have lost India
to the English if it had extended all over the peninsula, and
especially if the rising had been national, caused the down-
fall of the Honorable East India Company. On the 1st of
November, 1858, a proclamation, published in twenty lan-
guages, announced that Victoria, Queen of England, would
wield the scepter of India—that country of which, some
years later, she was to be crowned Empress.

The governor, now called Viceroy, a Secretary of State,
and fifteen members, composed the supreme government.
The governors of the presidencies of Madras and Bombay
were henceforward to be nominated by the queen; the
members of the Indian service and the commanders-in-chief
to be chosen by the Secretary of State. Such were the
principal arrangements of the new government.

As to the military force, the English army contained sev-
enteen thousand more men than before the sepoy mutiny.
The army in 1867 numbered 64,902 European officers and
men, and 125,246 native. Such was the actual state of the
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peninsula from an administrative and military point of view ;
such the effective force which guarded a territory of 400,000
square miles.

“The English,” says M. Grandidier, “ have been fortu-
nate in finding in this large and magnificent country a gentle,
industrious, and civilized people, who for long have been
accustomed to a yoke. But they must be careful; gentleness
has its limits, and the yoke should not be allowed to bruise
their necks, or they may one day rebel and cast it off.”

CHAPTER 1V
DEEP IN THE CAVES OF ELLORA

It was but too true. The Mahratta prince, Dandou Pant,
adopted son of Baji Rao, Peishwar of Poona, known as
Nana Sahib, and perhaps at this period the sole survivor
of the leaders in the great insurrection, had dared to leave
his inaccessible retreats amid the mountains of Nepaul. Full
of courage and audacity, accustomed to face danger, crafty
and skilled in the art of baffling and eluding pursuit in every
form, he had ventured forth into the provinces of the Dec-
can, animated by hatred intensified a hundredfold since the
terrible reprisals taken after the rebellion.

Yes; Nana Sahib had sworn deadly hate to the possessors
of India. Was he not the heir of Baji Rao? and when the
Peishwar died in 1851, had not the Company refused to
continue to pay to him his pension of eight lacs of rupees?
This had been one of the causes of an enmity from which
resulted the greater excesses.

But what could Nana Sahib hope for now? The revolt
had been completely quelled eight years before. The Hon-
orable East India Company had gradually been superseded
by the English Government, which now held the entire pen-
insula under an authority very much firmer and better estab-
lished than that of the old mercantile associations.

Not a trace of the mutiny remained, for the ranks of the
native regiments had been wholly reorganized. Could the
Nana dream of success in an attempt to foment a national
movement among the lowest classes of Hindoostan? We
shall see.

He was aware that his presence in the province of Aurun-
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gabad had been observed; that the governor and viceroy
were informed of it; that a price was set on his head. It
was clear that precipitate flight was necessary, and that his
place of refuge must be well concealed indeed if he
hoped to baffle the search of the agents of Anglo-Indian
police. '

The Nana did not waste an hour of the night between
the 6th and 7th of March. He perfectly knew the country,
and resolved to gain Ellora, twenty-five miles from Aurun-
gabad, and there join one of his accomplices.

The night was very dark. The pretended fakir, satisfied
that no one was in pursuit, took his way toward the mau-
soleum, erected at some distance from the city, in honor of
the Mohammedan Sha-Soufi, a saint whose relics have a
high medicinal reputation. All within the mausoleum,
priests and pilgrims, slept profoundly, and the Nana passed
on without being subjected to inconvenient questioning.

Dark as it was, he soon discerned, four leagues farther
northward, the block of granite on which is reared the
impregnable fortress of Dowlatabad. Rising abruptly from
the plain to the height of two hundred and forty feet, its
vast outline could be traced against the sky. But Nana
Sahib, with a glance of hatred, turned his gaze away from
the place; for one of his ancestors, an emperor of the Dec-
can, had wished to establish his capital at the base of this
stronghold. It would indeed have been an impregnable
position, well suited to be the central point of an insurrec-
tionary movement in this part of India.

Having traversed the plain, a region of more varied and
broken ground succeeded; the undulations gave notice of
mountains in the distance. But the Nana did not slacken
his pace, although often making steep ascents. Twenty-five
miles, the distance that is between Ellora and Aurungabad,
had to be got over during the night; nothing therefore in-
duced him to make a halt, although an open caravanserai
lay near his path, and he passed a lonely and half-ruined
bungalow among the hills, where he might have sought an
hour’s repose.

When the sun rose he was beyond the village of Ranzah,
which possesses the tomb of Aurungzebe, the most famous
of Mogul emperors.

At length he had reached the celebrated group of excava-
¥ XII Verne
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tions which take their name from the little neighboring
village of Ellora.

The hill in which these caves, to the number of thirty,
have been hollowed out, is crescent-shaped. The monuments
consist of twenty-four Buddhist monasteries and some grot-
toes of less importance. The basaltic quarry has been ex-
tensively worked by the hand of man. But the native
architects, who from the earliest ages extracted stones from
it, had not for their main object the erection of the marvel-
ous buildings here and there to be seen on the surface of the
vast peninsula. No; they removed these stones in order to
procure space within the living rock.

The arrival of Nana Sahib at Ellora was unobserved ; he
entered the caves and glided into one of several deep cracks
or crevices which had opened in the basement, but were
concealed behind the supporting elephants.

This opening admitted him into a gloomy passage or drain
which ran beneath the temple, terminating in a sort of crypt
or vaulted reservoir, now dry and empty.

Advancing a short way into the passage, the Nana uttered
a peculiar whistle, to which a sound precisely similar im-
mediately replied, and a light flashed through the darkness,
proving that the answer was no mocking echo. Then an
Indian appeared carrying a small lantern.

“ Away with the light!” said the Nana.

“ Dandou Pant! " said the Indian, extinguishing the lamp;
“1is it thou thyself?”

“ My brother, it is I myself.”

“ Art thou——-1="

“ Let me eat first,” returned the Nana ; “ we will converse
afterward. But let both eating and speaking be in darkness.
Take my hand and guide me.”

The Indian took his hand and drew him into the crypt,
and he assisted him to lie down on a heap of withered grass
and leaves, where he himself had been sleeping when roused
by the fakir’s signal.

The man, accustomed to move in the obscurity of this dis-
mal retreat, soon produced food, consisting of bread, the
flesh of fowls prepared in a way common in India, and a
gourd containing half a pint of the strong spirit known as
arrack, distilled from the sap of the cocoanut-tree.

The Nana ate and drank, but spoke never a word. He
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was faint and sinking through hunger and fatigue, and his
whole vitality seemed concentrated in his eyes, which burned
and flashed in the darkness like those of a tiger. The In-
dian remained motionless, waiting till the Nabob chose to
speak.

pThis man was Balao Rao, the brother of Nana Sahib.
Balao Rao, a year older than Dandou Pant, resembled him
physically, and might easily be mistaken for him. Morally
the likeness was still more complete. In detestation of the
English, in craft to form plots, and in cruelty to execute them,
they were as one soul, in two bodies. Throughout the rebel-
lion these two brothers had kept together. After it was sub-
dued, they shared together a refuge on the frontiers of
Nepaul. And now, united by the single aim of resuming
the struggle, they were both ready for action.

When the Nana had devoured the food set before him,
he remained for some time leaning his head on his folded
arms. Balao Rao kept silence, thinking he wished to sleep.

But Dandou Pant raised his head suddenly, and, grasp-
ing his brother’s hand, said in a hollow voice, I am de-
nounced! There is a price set on my head! 2,000. prom-
ised to the man who delivers up Nana Sahib!”

“Thy head is worth more than that, Dandou Pant!”
cried Balao Rao; “2,000/. is hardly enough even for
mine. They would be fortunate if they got the two for
20,000..”

“Yes,” returned the Nana; “in three months, on the
23d of June, will be the anniversary of the battle of Plassy.
Our prophets foretold that its hundredth anniversary, in
1857, should witness the downfall of British rule and the
emancipation of the children of the sun. Nine years more
than the hundred have now all but passed, and India still
lies crushed and trodden beneath the invader’s heel.”

‘“ That effort which failed in 1857 may and ought to suc-
ceed ten years afterward,” replied Balao Rao. ““In 1827,
’37, and ’47, there were risings in India. The fever of
revolt has broken out every ten years. Well—this year it
will be cured by a bath of European blood!”

“Let but Brahma be our stay,” murmured the Nana,
“and then—life for life! Woe to the leaders of our foe
who yet survive! Lawrence is gone, Barnard, Hope, Napier,
Hodson, Havelock—all are gone. But Campbell and Rose
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still live, and he whom, above all, I hate—that Colonel
Munro, whose ancestor was the first to blow our men from
the cannon’s mouth, the man who with his own hand slew
my friend the Ranee of Jhansi. Let but that man fall into
my power, and he shall see whether I have forgotten the
horrors of Colonel Neil, the massacres of Secunderabad,
the slaughter in the Begum’s palace, at Bareilly, Jhansi,
Morar, the island of Hydaspes, and at Delhi. He shall
discover that I have sworn his death, as he did mine.”

“ Has he not left the army? ” inquired Balao Rao.

“He would re-enter the service the moment any dis-
turbances broke out,” replied Nana Sahib. ‘ But even if
our attempted rising were to fail, he should not escape, for
I would stab him in his bungalow at Calcutta.”

“So let it be—and now?”’

“Now the work must begin. This time it shall be a
national movement. Let but the Hindoos of towns, villages,
and country places rise simultaneously, and very soon the
sepoys will make common cause with them. I have traversed
the center and north of the Deccan; everywhere I have
found minds ripe for revolt. We have leaders ready to
act in every town and straggling village. The Brahmins
will fanaticize the people. Religion this time will carry
along with us the votaries of Siva and Vishnu. At the ap-
pointed time, at the given signal, millions of natives will
rise, and the royal army will be annihilated!”

“ And Dandou Pant?” exclaimed Balao Rao, seizing his
brother’s hand.

“ Dandou Pant,” continued the Nana, “ will not only be
the Peishwar crowned in the hill-fort of Bithour. He will
be the sovereign of the whole sacred land of Hindoostan!”

Nana Sahib folded his arms, his abstracted look was that
of a man whose mental eye is bent on the distant future,
and he remained silent.

Balao Rao was careful not to rouse him. He loved to
see the working of that fierce soul, burning as it were with
a hidden fire, which he knew he could at any moment fan
into a flame.

The Nana could not have had an accomplice more de-
voted to his person, a counselor more eager to urge him
forward to attain his ends. He was to him, as has been
said, a second self.
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After a silence of some duration, the Nana raised his
head—his thoughts had returned to the present.

“ Where are our comrades? ”

“In the caverns of Adjuntah, where they were appointed
to wait for us.”

“ And our horses? ”

“I left them a gunshot from this place, on the road
between Ellora and Boregami.”

“Is Kalagani with them? ”

“He is, my brother. They are rested, refreshed, and
perfectly ready for us.”

“Then let us start. We must be at Adjuntah before
daybreak.”

“ And after that what must be done? Has not this
enforced flight disarranged our previous plans? ”

“No,” replied Nana Sahib. “ We must gain the heights
of Sautpourra, where every defile is known to me, and
where I can assuredly defy the pursuit of the English blood-
hounds of police. There we shall be in the territory of
the Bheels and Ghoonds, who are faithful to our cause.
There, in the midst of that mountainous region of the Vind-
hyas, where the standard of revolt may at any moment be
raised, I shall await the favorable juncture!”

“Forward!” exclaimed Balao Rao, starting up, “and
let those who want heads come and take them!”

“Yes—Ilet them come,” responded the Nana, grinding
his teeth. “1I am ready.”

Balao Rao instantly made his way along the narrow pas-
sage which led to this dismal cell beneath the temple. On
reaching the secret opening behind the colossal elephant,
he cautiously emerged, looked anxiously on all sides, amid
the shadowy gloom, to ascertain that the coast was clear.
Then advancing some twenty paces, and being satisfied that
all was safe, he gave notice by a shrill whistle that the
Nana might follow him.

Shortly afterward the two brothers had quitted this arti-
ficial valley, the length of which is half a league, and
which, sometimes to a great height, and in several stories,
is pierced by galleries, vaulted chambers, and excavations.
The distance between Ellora and Adjuntah is fifty miles,
but the Nana was no longer the fugitive of Aurungabad,
traveling painfully on foot. Three horses awaited him,
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as his brother had said, under the care of his faithful
servant Kalagani. They were concealed in a thick forest,
about a mile from Ellora, and the three men were speedily
mounted and galloping in the direction of Adjuntah. It
was no strange thing to see a fakir on horseback. In point
of fact, many of these impudent beggars demand alms from
their seat in the saddle!

Although the time of the year was not that at which
pilgrimages are usually made, yet the Nana avoided passing
near the Mohammedan mausoleum frequented as a bungalow
by pilgrims, travelers, and sightseers of all nations who
often flock thither attracted by the wonders of Ellora, and
pushed forward by a route as remote as possible from human
habitations. He only halted occasionally to breathe the
steeds and to partake of the simple provisions which Kala-
gani carried at his saddle-bow.

The ground was flat and level. In all directions stretched
expanses of heath, crossed by massive ridges of dense jungle.
But as they approached Adjuntah the country became more
varied.

The superb grottoes or caves of Adjuntah, which rival
those of Ellora, and perhaps in general beauty surpass them,
occupy the lower end of a small valley about half a mile
from the town. Nana Sahib could reach them without
passing through it, and therefore felt himself secure, al-
though so near a place where the governor’s proclamation
was fixed to every building.

Fifteen hours after quitting Ellora he and his two com-
panions plunged into a narrow defile which led them into
the celebrated valley where twenty-seven temples, hewn in
the rocky wall, looked down into the giddy depths beneath.

It was night, superb though moonless, for the heavens
glittered with starry constellations, when the Nana, Balao
Rao, and Kalagani approached their destination. Lofty
trees and giant flowering plants stood out in strong relief
against the sparkling sky. Not a breath stirred the air, not
a leaf moved, not the faintest sound could be heard, save
the dull murmur of a torrent which rolled in the depths of
a ravine hundreds of feet below.

This murmur grew on the ear, however, and became a
hoarse roar as the riders advanced to the cataract of Sat-
kound, where the water, torn by sharp projections of quartz
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and basalt, plunges over a fall of fifty fathoms. As the
travelers passed the chasm, a cloud of liquid dust whirled
and eddied over it, which moonlight would have tinted with
soft rainbow hues.

Here the defile made a sharp turn like an elbow, and
the valley, in all its wealth of Buddhist architecture, lay
before them.

On the walls of these temples—profusely adorned with
columns, rose-tracery, arabesques, and galleries peopled by
colossal forms of grotesque animals, hollowed out into cells
formerly occupied by the priests, who were the guardians
of these sacred abodes—the artist may admire the bright
colors of frescoes which seem as though painted but yes-
terday; frescoes which represent royal ceremonies, religious
processions, and battles, exhibiting every weapon employed
long before the Christian era in the great and glorious em-
pire of India.

To Nana Sahib all the secrets of these mysterious tem-
ples were well known. Already, more than once, he had,
when closely pressed, sought refuge among them. The
subterranean galleries connecting the temples, the narrow
tunnels bored through solid walls of quartz, the winding
passages crossing and recrossing in every direction, all the
thousand ramifications of a labyrinth the clue to which
might be sought in vain by the most patient, were familiar
to him. Even with no torch to illumine their profound
gloom, he was perfectly at home there.

Like a man sure of what he was about, the Nana made
straight for one of the excavations less important than the
rest. The entrance to it was filled up by a curtain of
foliage and a mass of huge stones piled up in some ancient
landslip, and thickly overgrown by shrubs and creepers.

The Nana gave notice of his presence at this concealed
entrance simply by scraping his nail on a flat surface of
stone.

Instantly the heads of two or three natives appeared
among the branches; then ten, then twenty, showed them-
selves; and then soon, creeping and winding out like ser-
pents from between the stones, came a party of forty well-
armed men.

“Forward!” said Nana Sahib.

And seeking no explanation, ignorant of whither he led
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them, these faithful followers were ready to obey; and, if
needful, lay down their lives for Dandou Pant. They were
on foot, but could vie with the speed of any horse.

The little party made its way across the defile which
skirted the abyss, keeping in a northerly direction, and
rounding the shoulder of the hill. In an hour they reached
the road to Kandeish, which finally leads to the passes of
the Sautpourra mountains.

At daybreak they passed near the line of railway run-
ning from Bombay to Allahabad, above Nagpore.

On a sudden the Calcutta express dashed into sight, fling-
ing masses of white vapor among the stately banyans, and
startling with its shrieking whistle the wild inhabitants of
the jungle.

The Nana drew bridle, and stretching his hand toward
the flying train, exclaimed, in a strong, stern voice, “ Speed
on thy way, and tell the Viceroy of India that Nana Sahib
lives! Tell him that this railroad, the accursed work of the

invader’s hands, shall ere long be drenched in their
blood.”

CHAPTER V
THE IRON GIANT

ON the morning of the 5th of May, the passengers along
the high road from Calcutta to Chandernagore, whether men,
women, or children, English or native, were completely
astounded by a sight which met their eyes. And certainly
the surprise they testified was extremely natural.

At sunrise a strange and most remarkable equipage had
been seen to issue from the suburbs of the Indian capital,
attended by a dense crowd of people drawn by curiosity
to watch its departure.

First, and apparently drawing the caravan, came a gigantic
elephant. The monstrous animal, twenty feet in height,
and thirty in length, advanced deliberately, steadily, and
with a certain mystery of movement which struck the gazer
with a thrill of awe. His trunk, curved like a cornucopia,
was uplifted high in the air. His gilded tusks, projecting
from behind the massive jaws, resembled a pair of huge
scythes. On his back was a highly ornamented howdah,
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which looked like a tower surmounted, in Indian style, by
a dome-shaped roof and furnished with lens-shaped glasses
to serve for windows.

This elephant drew after him a train consisting of two
enormous cars, or actual houses, moving bungalows in fact,
each mounted on four wheels. The wheels, which, were
prodigiously strong, were carved, or rather sculptured in
every part. Their lowest portion only could be seen, as
they moved inside a sort of case, like a paddle-box, which
concealed the enormous locomotive apparatus. A flexible
gangway connected the two carriages.

How could a single elephant, however strong, manage to
drag these two enormous constructions, without any ap-
parent effort? Yet this astonishing ‘animal did so! His
huge feet were raised and set down with mechanical reg-
ularity, and he changed his pace from a walk to a trot,
without either the voice or a hand of a mahout being ap-
parent.

The spectators were at first so astonished by all this, that
they kept at a respectful distance; but when they ventured
nearer, their surprise gave place to admiration. They could
hear a roar, very similar to the cry uttered by these giants
of the Indian forests. At intervals there issued from the
trunk a jet of vapor. And yet, it was an elephant! The
rugged greeny-black skin evidently covered the bony frame-
work of one that must be called the king of the pachyderms.
His eyes were lifelike; all his members were endowed with
movement !

Ay! But if some inquisitive person had chanced to lay
his hand on the animal, all would have been explained. It
was but a marvelous deception, a gigantic imitation, having
as nearly as possible every appearance of life. In fact, this -
elephant was really encased in steel, and an actual steam-
engine was concealed within its sides.

The train, or Steam House, to give it its most suitable
name, was the traveling dwelling promised by the engineer.
The first carriage, or rather house, was the habitation of
Colonel Munro, Captain Hood, Banks, and myself. In the
second lodged Sergeant McNeil and the servants of the
expedition. Banks had kept his promise, Colonel Munro
had kept his; and that was the reason why, on this May
morning, we were setting out in this extraordinary vehicle,
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with the intention of visiting the northern regions of the
Indian peninsula.

But what was the good of this artificial elephant? Why
have this fantastic apparatus, so unlike the usual practical
inventions of the English? Till then, no one had ever
thought of giving to a locomotive destined to travel either
over macadam highways or iron rails, the shape and form
of a quadruped.

I must say, the first time we were admitted to view the
machine we were all lost in amazement. Questions about
the why and wherefore fell thick and fast upon our friend
Banks. We knew that this traction-engine had been con-
structed from his plans and under his directions. What,
then, had given him the idea of hiding it within the iron
sides of a mechanical elephant?

“ My friends,” answered Banks seriously, “ do you know
the Rajah of Bhootan?”

“1 know him,” replied Captain Hood, “ or rather I did
know him, for he died two months ago.”

“ Well, before dying,” returned the engineer, “ the Rajah
of Bhootan not only lived, but lived differently to any one
else. He loved pomp, and displayed it in every possible
manner. He never denied himself anything—I mean any-
thing that ever came into his head. His brain imagined the
most impossible things, and had not his purse been inex-
haustible, it would soon have been emptied in the process
of gratifying all his desires. He was enormously rich, had
coffers filled with lacs of rupees. Now one day an idea
occurred to him, which took such possession of his mind
as to keep him from sleeping—an idea which Solomon might
have been proud of, and would certainly have realized, had
he been acquainted with steam: this idea was to travel in
a perfectly new fashion, and to have an equipage such as
no one had before dreamed of. He knew me, and sent for
me to his court, and himself drew the plan of his locomotive.
If you imagine, my friends, that I burst into a laugh at
the Rajah’s proposition, you are mistaken. I perfectly un-
derstood that this grandiose idea sprang naturally from the
brain of a Hindoo sovereign, and I had but one desire on
the subject—to realize it as soon as possible, and in a way
to satisfy both my poetic client and myself. A hardworking
engineer hasn’t an opportunity every day to exercise his
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talents in this fantastic way, and add an animal of this
description to the creations of the “ Arabian Nights.” In
short, I saw it was possible to realize the Rajah’s whim.
All that has been done, that can be done, will be done in
machinery. I set to work, and in this iron-plated case, in
the shape of an elephant, I managed to inclose the boiler,
the machinery, and the tender of a traction-engine, with all
its accessories. The flexible trunk, which can be raised and
lowered at will, is the chimney ; the legs of my animal are
connected with the wheels of the apparatus; I arranged his
eyes so as to dart out two jets of electric light, and the
artificial elephant was complete. But as it was not my own
spontaneous creation, I met with numerous difficulties which
delayed me. The gigantic plaything, as you may call it,
cost me many a sleepless night; so many indeed, that my
rajah, who was wild with impatience, and passed the best
part of his time in my workshops, died before the finishing
touches were given that would allow the elephant to set
forth on his travels. The poor fellow had no time even
to make one trial of his invention. His heirs, however, less
fanciful than he, viewed the apparatus with the terror of
superstition, and as the work of a madman. They were
only eager to get rid of it at any price. I therefore bought
it up on the colonel’s account. Now you know all the why
and wherefore of the matter, and how it is that in all the
world we alone are the proprietors of a steam elephant,
with the strength of eighty horses, not to mention eighty
elephants!”

“ Bravo, Banks! well done!” exclaimed Captain Hood.
“ A first-class engineer who is an artist, a poet in iron and
steel into the bargain, is a rara evis among us!”

“The rajah being dead,” resumed Banks, “ and his ap-
paratus being in my possession, I had not the heart to de-
stroy my elephant,and give the locomotive its ordinary form.”

“ And you did well!” replied the captain. “ Our elephant
is superb, there’s no other word for it!” said the captain.
“ And what a fine effect we shall have, careering over the
plains and through the jungles of Hindoostan! It is a reg-
ular rajah-like idea, isn’t it? and one of which we shall reap
the advantage, sha’n’t we, colonel? ”

Colonel Munro made a faint attempt at a smile, to show
that he quite approved of the captain’s speech.
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The journey was resolved upon then and there; and now
this unique and wonderful steam elephant was reduced to
drag the traveling residence of four Englishmen, instead of
stalking along in state with one of the most opulent rajahs
of the Indian peninsula.

I quote the following description of the mechanism of
this road engine, on which Banks had brought to bear all
the improvements of modern science, from notes made at
the time.

“ Between the four wheels are all the machinery of
cylinders, pistons, feed-pump, etc., covered by the body
of the boiler. This tubular boiler is in the fore part of the
elephant’s body, and the tender, carrying fuel and water,
in the hinder part. The boiler and tender, though both on
the same truck, have a space between them, left for the
use of the stoker. The engine-driver is stationed in the
fireproof howdah on the animal’s back, in which we all could
take refuge in case of any serious attack. He has there
everything in his power, safety-valves, regulating brakes,
etc., so that he can steer or back his engine at will. He has
also thick lens-shaped glass fixed in the narrow embrasures,
through which he can see the road both before and behind
him.

“The boiler and tender are fixed on springs of the best
steel, so as to lessen the jolting caused by the inequalities
of the ground. The wheels, constructed with vast solidity,
are grooved so as to bite the earth, and prevent them from
¢ skating.’

“ The nominal strength of the engine is equal to that of
eighty horses, but its power can be increased to equal that
of one hundred and fifty, without any danger of an ex-
plosion. A case, hermetically sealed, incloses all the ma-
chinery, so as to protect it from the dust of the roads, which
would soon put the mechanism out of order. The machine
has a double cylinder after the Field system, and its great
perfection consists in this, that the expenditure is small and
the results great. Nothing could be better arranged in that
way, for in the furnace any kind of fuel may be burned,
either wood or coal. The engineer estimates the ordinary
speed at fifteen miles an hour, but on a good road it can
reach twenty-five. There is no danger of the wheels skat-
ing, not only from the grooves, but because of the perfect
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poise of the apparatus, which is all so well balanced that
not even the severest jolting could disturb it. The atmos-
pheric brakes, with which the engine is provided, could
in a moment produce either a slackening of speed or a
sudden halt.

“ The facility with which the machine can ascend slopes
is remarkable. Banks has succeeded most happily in this,
taking into consideration the weight and power of propulsion
of the machine. It can easily ascend a slope at an inclination
of from four to five inches in the yard, which is consider-
able. 2 e

There is a perfect network of magnificent roads made by
the English all over India, which are excellently fitted for
this mode of locomotion. The Great Trunk Road, for in-
stance, stretches uninterruptedly for one thousand and two
hundred miles.

I must now describe the Steam House.

Banks had not only bought from the Nabob’s heirs the
traction-engine, but the train which it had in tow. This
had of course been constructed, according to the Oriental
taste of the rajah, in the most gorgeous Hindoo fashion.
I have already called it a traveling bungalow, and it merited
the name, for the two cars composing it were simply a
marvelous specimen of the architecture of the country.

Imagine two pagoda-shaped buildings without minarets,
but with double-ridged roofs surmounted by a dome, the
corbeling of the windows supported by sculptured pilasters,
all the ornamentation in exquisitely carved and colored
woods of rare kinds, a handsome veranda both back and
front. You might suppose them a couple of pagodas torn
from the sacred hill of Sonnaghur.

To complete the marvel of this prodigious locomotive I
must add that it can float! In fact, the stomach, or that
part of the elephant’s body which contains the machinery,
as well as the lower portion of the buildings, form boats
of light steel. When a river is met with, the elephant
marches straight into it, the train follows, and as the animal’s
feet can be moved by paddle-wheels, the Steam House moves
gayly over the surface of the water. This is an indescriba-
ble advantage for such a vast country as India, where there
are more rivers than bridges.

This was the train ordered by the capricious Rajah of
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and considered an arsenal of four Enfield rifles, four fowl-
ing-pieces, two duck-guns, and several other guns, pistols,
and revolvers, quite indispensable for such a party as ours.
This armory appeared to threaten the lives of wild beasts
rather than simply to supply game for our table, but the
Nimrod of our expedition was very decided in his views on
the subject.

Captain Hood was in the highest spirits. The triumph
of having succeeded in persuading Colonel Munro to for-
sake his solitary retreat; the pleasure of setting out on such
a tour, with an equipage so entirely novel; the prospect
of unusual occupation, plenty of exercise, and grand Hima-
layan excursions—all combined to excite him to the great-
est degree, and he gave vent to his feelings in perpetual
exclamations, while he urged us to bestir ourselves.

The clock struck the hour of departure. Steam was up,
the engine ready for action. Our engine-driver stood at
his post, his hand on the regulator. The whistle sounded.

“ Off with you, Behemoth !’ shouted Captain Hood, wav-
ing his cap. And this name, so well suited to our wonderful
traction-engine, was ever after bestowed upon it.

Now for a word as to our attendants, who occupied the
second house—No. 2, as we used to call it.

The engine-driver, Storr, was an Englishman, and had
been employed on “ The Great Southern ” line until a few
months previously. Banks knew him to be an efficient and
clever workman, thoroughly up to his business, and there-
fore engaged him for Colonel Munro’s service. He was
a man of forty years of age, and proved exceedingly use-
ful to us.

The fireman’s name was Kalouth. He belonged to a
tribe or class of Hindoos much sought after by railway com-
panies, to be employed as stokers, because they endure with
impunity the double heat of their tropical climate and that
of the engine furnaces. They resemble, in this, the Arabs
employed as firemen in the Red Sea steamers—good fellows
who are content to be merely boiled where Europeans would
be roasted in a few minutes.

Colonel Munro had a regimental servant named Goiuimi,
one of the tribe of Gourkas. He belonged to that regiment
which, as an act of good discipline, had accepted the use
of the Enfield rifles, the introduction of which into the
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service had been the reason, or at least the pretext, of the
sepoy revolt. Small, active, supple, and of tried fidelity,
Gotimi always wore the dark uniform of the rifle brigade,
which was as dear to him as his own skin.

Sergeant McNeil and Goitmi were attached heart and
soul to Colonel Munro. They had fought under his com-
mand all through the Indian campaign; they had accompa-
nied him in his fruitless search for Nana Sahib; they had
followed him into retirement, and would never dream of
leaving him.

Captain Hood had also a faithful follower—a frank,
lively young Englishman, whose name was Fox, and who
would not have changed places with any officer’s servant
under the sun. He perfectly adored Captain Hood, and
was quite as keen a sportsman as his master. Having ac-
companied him on numberless tiger-hunts, Fox had proved
his skill, and reckoned the tigers which had fallen to his
gun at thirty-seven, only three less than his master could
boast of.

Our staff of attendants was completed by a negro cook,
whose dominion lay in the forepart of the second house.
He was of French origin, and having boiled, fried, and
fricasseed in every possible latitude, Monsieur Parazard—
for that was his name—had no small opinion of the im-
portance of his noble profession; he would have scorned to
call it his trade.

He presided over his saucepans with the air of a high
priest, and distributed his condiments with the accuracy of
a chemist. Monsieur Parazard was vain, it is true, but
so clever that we readily pardoned his vanity.

Our expedition, then, was made up of ten persons ; namely,
Sir Edward Munro, Banks, Hood, and myself, who were ac-
commodated in one house; McNeil, Storr, Kalouth, Goiimi,
Fox, and Monsieur Parazard, in the other.

I must not forget the two dogs, Fan and Niger, whose
sporting qualities were to be put to the proof by Hood, in
many a stirring episode of the chase.

“ Arrange the route exactly as you please, my friends,”
said Colonel Munro. ‘ Decide without reference to me.
Whatever you do will be done well.”

“Still, my dear Munro,” replied Banks; “it would be

satisfactory to have your opinion.”
YV XII Verne
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“ No, Banks,” returned the colonel; “I give myself up
to you, and have no wish to visit one place rather than an-
other. One single question, however, I will ask. After
Benares, in what direction do you propose to travel? ”

“ Northward, most certainly!” exclaimed Hood impetu-
ously. “Right across the kingdom of Qude, up to the
lower ranges of the Himalayas!”

“Well then, my friends,” began Colonel Munro, “ per-
haps when we get so far, I will propose—but it will be soon
enough to speak of that when the time comes. Till then, go
just where you choose.”

I could not help feeling somewhat surprised by these
words of Sir Edward Munro. What could he have in his
mind? Had he only agreed to take this journey in the hope
that chance might serve his purpose better than his own will
and endeavor had done? Did it seem to him possible that,
supposing Nana Sahib to be still alive, he might yet find
trace of him in the extreme north of India? Was the hope
of vengeance still strong within him?

I could not resist the conviction that our friend was in-
fluenced by this hidden motive, and that Sergeant McNeil
shared his master’s thoughts.

When we left Calcutta we were seated in the drawing-
room of Steam House. The door and the windows of the
veranda were open, and the measured beat of the punkah
kept up an agreeable temperature. Storr drove the engine
at a slow and steady rate of three miles an hour, for we
travelers were just then in no haste, and desired to see at
leisure the country we passed through.

For a long time we were followed by a number of Euro-
peans who were astonished at our equipage, and by crowds
of natives whose wonder and admiration was mingled with
fear. We gradually distanced this attendant mob, but met
people continually who lavished upon us admiring exclama-
tions of Wallah! wallah! The huge elephant, vomiting
clouds of steam, excited far more astonishment than the
two superb cars which he drew after him.

At ten o’clock breakfast was served in the dining-room;
and, seated at a table which was far less shaken than it
would have been in a first-class railway carriage, we did
ample justice to the culinary skill of Monsieur Parazard.

We were traveling along the left bank of the Hoogly,
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the most western of the numerous arms of the Ganges,
which form together the labyrinthine network of the del-
ta of the Sunderbunds, and is entirely an alluvial for-
mation.

“ What you see there, my dear Maucler,” said Banks,
“is a conquest won by the sacred river Ganges from the
not less sacred Bay of Bengal. It has been a mere affair
of time. There is probably not an atom of that soil which
has not been transported hither, by the mighty current, from
the Himalayan heights. Little by little the ‘stream has
robbed the mountains in order to form this province, through
which it has worked its bed

“And changes incessantly!” broke in Captain Hood.
“ There never was such a whimsical, capricious, lunatic of
a river as this same Ganges. People take the trouble to
build a town on its banks, and behold, a few centuries later
the town is in the midst of a plain, its harbors are dry,
the river has changed its course! Thus Rajmahal, as well
as Gaur, were both formerly situated on this faithless
stream, and now there they are dying of thirst amidst the
parched rice-fields of the plains.”

“ Then may not some such fate be in store for Calcutta? ”
inquired I.

“Ah, who knows?”

“Come, come,” said Banks; “ you forget the engineers!
It would only require skillful embankments. We could
easily put a strait-waistcoat on the Ganges, and restrain
its vagaries.”

“ It is well for you, Banks,” said I, ¢ that no natives are
within earshot when you speak so irreverently of their
sacred stream! They would never forgive you.”

“ Well, really,” returned Banks, “they look on their
river as a son of God, if not God himself, and in their eyes
it can do nothing amiss.”

“Not even by maintaining, as it does, epidemics of the
plague, fever, and cholera!” cried Captain Hood. “I must
say, however, that the atmosphere it engenders agrees splen- -
didly with the tigers and crocodiles which swarm in the
Sunderbunds. Ah, the savages! Fox!” he added, turning
to his servant, who was clearing away the breakfast thmgs

“Yes, captam

“ Wasn't it there you killed your thirty-seventh? ”’
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“Yes, captain, two miles from Fort Canning. It was
one evening ”

“There, Fox! that will do,” interrupted the captain, as
he tossed off a large glass of brandy and soda. I know
all about the thirty-seventh. The history of your thirty-
eighth would interest me more.”

“ My thirty-eighth is not killed yet, captain.”

“No, but you will bag him some day, Fox, as I shall
my forty-first.”

It is to be noted, that in the conversations of Captain
Hood and his man, the word “ tiger ’ was never mentioned.
It was quite unnecessary. The two hunters perfectly un-
derstood one another.

As we proceeded to the Hoogly, its banks, which above
Calcutta are rather low, gradually contracted, much reduc-
ing the width of the river. For some hours we kept near
the railroad, which from Burdwan passes on to Rajmabhal,
in the valley of the Ganges, which it then follows till be-
yond Benares.

The Calcutta train passed us at great speed, and the
shouts of the passengers showed that while they admired us,
they mocked our slower pace. We did not return their
defiance. More rapidly they certainly did travel than our-
selves, but in comfort there was simply no comparison.

During these two days the scenery was invariably flat,
and therefore monotonous. Here and there waved a few
slender cocoanut-trees, the last of which we should leave
behind after passing Burdwan. These trees, which belong
to the great family of palms, are partial to the coast, and
love to breathe salt air. Thus they are not found beyond
a somewhat narrow belt along the sea coast, and it is vain
to seek them in Central India. The flora of the interior
is, however, extremely interesting and varied.

On each side of our route, the country in this part re-
sembles an immense chess-board marked out in squares of
rice-fields, and stretching as far as we could see. Shades
of green predominated, and the harvest promised to be
abundant in this moist, warm soil, the prodigious fertility
of which is well known.

On the evening of the second day, with punctuality which
an express might have envied, the engine gave its last snort
and stopped at the gates of Burdwan. This city is the
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judicial headquarters of an English district; but properly
speaking, the country belongs to a Maharajah, who pays
taxes to Government amounting to not less than ten millions.

The town consists in a great part of low houses, standing
in fine avenues of trees, such as cocoanuts and arequipas.
These avenues being wide enough to admit our train, we
proceeded to encamp in a charming spot, full of shade and
freshness.

It seemed as though a large addition were suddenly made
to the city, when our houses took up their position in it,
and we would not have exchanged our residences for any
in the splendid quarter where stands the magnificent palace
of the sovereign of Burdwan.

It may well be supposed that our elephant produced all
the terror and admiration which he usually excited among
Bengalees. The people ran together from all sides, the men
bare-headed, their hair cut short @ le Titus, and wearing
only loose cotton drawers, while the women were enveloped
from head to foot in white.

“T begin to be afraid,” said Captain Hood, ‘that the
Maharajah will want to buy our Behemoth, and that he will
offer such a vast sum, we shall be forced to let his highness
have him.”

“Never!” exclaimed Banks. “I will make another
elephant for him if he likes, of power enough to draw his
whole capital from one end of his dominion to the other.
But we won’t part with Behemoth at any price, will we,
Munro?”

“Most certainly we will not,” answered the colonel, in
the tone of a man who was not to be tempted by millions.

And after all there was no question as to whether our
colossal elephant was for sale or not. The Maharajah was
not at Burdwan, and the only visit we received was from
his kamdar, a sort of private secretary, who came to examine
our equipage. Having done so, this personage offered us
permission, which we very readily accepted, to examine the
gardens of the palace.

We found them well worth a visit. They were beauti-
fully laid out, filled with the finest specimens of tropical
vegetation, and watered by sparkling rivulets flowing from
miniature lakes. The park we also admired greatly: its
verdant lawns were adorned by fanciful kiosks, and in
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superb menageries we found specimens of all the animals
of the country, wild as well as domestic. Here were goats,
stags, deer, elephants, tigers, lions, panthers, and bears, be-
sides others too numerous to mention.

“Oh, captain!” cried Fox, “here are tigers in cages
just like birds. Isn’t it a pity?”

“Indeed, Fox, and so it is,” replied the captain. “If the
poor fellows had their choice, they certainly would far rather
be prowling about in the jungle, even within reach of our
rifle-balls!”

“That’s just what I think, captain,” sighed honest Fox.

Next morning, the 10th of May, having laid in a fresh
stock of provisions, we quitted Burdwan. Our Steam House
passed the line of railroad by a level crossing, and traveled
in the direction of Ramghur, a town situated about seventy
leagues from Calcutta.

During this part of the journey Behemoth was kept going
at a gentle trot, which pace proved the excellent structure
of our well-hung carriages; the roads being good also fav-
ored our experiment.

To the great surprise of Captain Hood, we passed through
many jungles without seeing any wild animals. It seemed
not unlikely that they were terrified, and fled at the approach
of a gigantic elephant, vomiting steam and smoke; but as
it was to the northern regions, and not to Bengal provinces,
that our hunter looked for the sport he loved so well, he
did not as yet begin to complain.

. On the 15th of May we were near Ramghur, about fifty
leagues from Burdwan. The rate of speed at which we had
traveled was not more than fifteen leagues in twelve hours.
Three days afterward, on the 18th, we stopped at the little
town of Chittra. No incidents marked these stages of our
journey. The heat was intense; but what could be more
agreeable than a siesta beneath the cool shelter of the ver-
andas! The burning hours passed away in luxurious repose.

In the evenings Storr and Kalouth cleaned the furnace
and oiled and thoroughly examined the engine, operations
which were always carefully superintended by Banks him-
self. While he was so employed, Captain Hood and I,
accompanied by Fox, Gotimi, and the two dogs, used to
take our guns, and explore the neighborhood of our camp.
We fell in with nothing more important in the way of game
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than birds and a few small animals; and although the cap-
tain turned up his nose at such poor sport, he was always
highly delighted next day, when Monsieur Parazard regaled
us with a variety of new and savory dishes.

‘Banks, when he could, made our halting-places near some
wood, and on the banks of a stream or brook, because it
was always necessary to replenish the tender with what
was wanted for the next day’s journey, and he attended
personally to every detail.

Gotimi and Fox were frequently employed as hewers
of wood and drawers of water.

When the day’s work was done we lighted our cigars (ex-
cellent Manilla cheroots), and while we smoked we talked
about this country with which Hood, as well as Banks, was
so thoroughly well acquainted. The captain disdained cigars,
and his vigorous lungs inhaled, through a pipe twenty feet
long, the aromatic smoke of a hookah, carefully filled for
him by the hand of Fox. It was our greatest wish that
Colonel Munro should accompany us on our little shooting
excursions round the camp. We invariably asked him to
do so, but he as invariably declined, and remained with
Sergeant McNeil, spending the time of our absence in pac-
ing up and down a distance of not more than a hundred
yards.

They spoke little, but so completely did they understand
one another, that words were not needed for the interchange
of thoughts.

Both were absorbed in tragic and indelible recollections.
It was possible that, in approaching the theater of the bloody
insurrection, these recollections would become more vivid.

Banks and Captain Hood shared with me the opinion that
some fixed idea, which would be developed later, had in-
duced Colonel Munro to join us in this expedition to the
north of India.

In that case we might be on the verge of great events.
Our steam Behemoth might be drawing us across these huge
plains and mountains to the scene of a thrilling and unex-
pected drama.



CHAPTER VII
THE PILGRIMS OF THE PHALGOU RIVER

WaAT is now called Behar was in former days the em-
pire of Magadha. In the time of the Buddhists it was
sacred territory, and is still covered with temples and mon-
asteries. But, for many centuries, the Brahmins have oc-
cupied the place of the priests of Buddha. They have
taken possession of the ziharas or temples, and, turning
them to their own account, live on the produce of the wor-
ship they teach. The faithful flock thither from all parts,
and in these sacred places the Brahmins compete with the
holy waters of the Ganges, the pilgrimages to Benares, the
ceremonies of Juggernaut; in fact, one may say the country
belongs to them.

The soil is rich, there are immense rice-fields of emerald
green, and vast plantations of poppies. There are numerous
villages, buried in luxuriant verdure, and shaded by palms,
mangoes, and date-trees, over which nature has thrown,
like a net, a tangled web of creeping plants.

Steam House passed along roads which were embowered
in foliage, and beneath the leafy arches the air was cool
and fresh. We followed the chart of our route, and had
no fear of losing our way.

The snorting and trumpeting of our elephant mingled
with the deafening screams of the winged tribes and the
discordant chatterings and scoldings of apes and monkeys,
and the golden fruit of the bananas shone like stars through
light clouds, as smoke and steam rolled in volumes among
the trees. The delicate rice-birds rose in flocks as Behemoth
passed along, their white plumage almost concealed as they
flew through the spiral wreaths of steam.

But the heat! the moist air scarcely made its way through
the tatties of our windows. The hot winds, charged with
caloric as they passed over the surface of the great western
plains, enveloped the land in their fiery embrace. One longs
for the month of June, when this state of the atmosphere
will be modified. Death threatens those who seek to brave
the stroke of this flaming sun.

The fields are deserted. Even the ryots themselves, in-
ured as they are to the burning heat, cannot continue their
agricultural labors. The shGaédy roadway alone is prac-
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ticable, and even there we require the shelter of our travel-
ing bungalow. Kalouth the fireman must be made of pure
carbon, or he would certainly dissolve before the grating
of his furnace. But the brave Hindoo holds out nobly. It
has become second nature with him, this existence on the
platform of the locomotives which scour the railway lines
of Central India!

During the daytime of May the 19th, the thermometer
suspended on the wall of the dining-room registered 106°
Fahrenheit. That evening we were unable to take our ac-
customed ‘‘ constitutional ” or hawakana. This word sig-
nifies literally “ to eat air,” and means that, after the stifling
heat of the tropical day, people go out to inhale the cool
pure air of evening. On this occasion we felt that, on
the contrary, the air would eat us!

“ Monsieur Maucler,” said Sergeant McNeil to me, “ this
heat reminds me of one day in March, when Sir Hugh Rose,
with just two pieces of artillery, tried to storm the walls
at Lucknow. It was sixteen days since we had crossed the
river Betwa, and during all that time our horses had not
once been unsaddled. We were fighting between enormous
walls of granite, and we might as well have been in a burn-
ing fiery furnace. The chitsis passed up and down our
ranks, carrying water in their leathern bottles, which they
poured on the men’s heads as they stood to their guns,
otherwise we should have dropped. Well do I remember
how I felt! I was exhausted, my skull was ready to burst
—1I tottered. Colonel Munro saw me, and snatching the
bottle from the hand of a chitsi, he emptied it over me—
and it was the last water the carriers could procure. . . . A
man can’t forget that sort of thing, sir! No, no! When
I have shed the last drop of my blood for my colonel, I
shall still be in his debt.”

“ Sergeant McNeil,” said I, “ does it not seem to you that
since we left Calcutta, Colonel Munro has become more
absent and melancholy than ever? I think that every
day_”

“Yes, sir,” replied McNeil, hastily interrupting me, “ but
that is quite natural. My colonel is approaching Lucknow
—Cawnpore—where Nana Sahib murdered. . . . Ah! it
drives me mad to speak of it! Perhaps it would have been
better if this journey had been planned in some different
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direction—if we had avoided the provinces ravaged by the
insurrection! The recollection of these awful events is not
yet softened by time.”

“Why not even now change the route?” exclaimed I.
“If you like, McNeil, I will speak about it to Mr. Banks
and Captain Hood.”

“It’s too late now,” replied the sergeant. “ Besides, I
have reason to think that my colonel wishes to revisit, per-
haps for the last time, the theater of that horrible war;
that he will once more go to the scene of Lady Munro’s
death.”

“If you really think so, McNeil,” said I, ¢ it will be better
to let things take their course, and not attempt to alter our
plans. It is often felt to be a consolation to weep at the
grave of those who are dear to us.”

“Yes, at their grave!” cried McNeil. “ But who can
call the well of Cawnpore a grave? Could that fearful
spot seem to anybody like a quiet grave in a Scotch church-
yard, where, among flowers and under shady trees, they
would stand on a spot, marked by a stone with one name,
just one, upon it? Ah, sir, I fear the colonel’s grief will
be something terrible! But I tell you again, it is too late to
change the route. If we did, who knows but he might
refuse to follow it? No, no; let things be, and may God
direct us!”

It was evident, from the way in which McNeil spoke, that
he well knew what was certain to influence his master’s
plans, and I was by no means convinced that the opportunity
of revisiting Cawnpore had not led the colonel to quit Cal-
cutta. At all events, he now seemed attracted as by a
magnet to the scene where that fatal tragedy had been
enacted. To that force it would be necessary to yield.

I proceeded to ask the sergeant whether he himself had
relinquished the idea of revenge—in other words, whether
he believed Nana Sahib to be dead.

“No,” replied McNeil frankly. ‘ Although I have no
ground whatever for my belief, I feel persuaded that Nana
Sahib will not die unpunished for his many crimes. No;
I have heard nothing, I know nothing about him, but I am
inwardly convinced it is so. Ah, sir! righteous vengeance
is something to live for! Heaven grant that my presenti-
ment is true, and then—some day——"
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The sergeant left his sentence unfinished, but his looks
were sufficient. The servant and the master were of one
mind.

When I reported this conversation to Banks and the
captain, they were both of opinion that no change of route
ought to be made. It had never been proposed to go to
Cawnpore ; and, once across the Ganges at Benares, we in-
tended to push directly northwards, traversing the eastern
portion of the kingdoms of Oude and Rohilkund. McNeil
might after all be wrong in supposing that Sir Edward
Munro would wish to revisit Cawnpore; but if he proposed
to do so, we determined to offer no opposition.

As to Nana Sahib, if there had been any truth in the
report of his reappearance in the Bombay presidency, we
ought by this time to have heard something more of him.
But, on the contrary, all the intelligence we could gain on
our route led to the conclusion that the authorities had been
in error.

If Colonel Munro really had any ulterior design in mak-
ing this journey, it might have seemed more natural that
he should have confided his intentions to Banks, who was
his most intimate friend, rather than to Sergeant McNeil.
But the latter was no doubt preferred, because he would
urge his master to undertake what Banks would probably
consider perilous and imprudent enterprises.

At noon, on the 19th of May, we left the small town of
Chittra, 280 miles from Calcutta. Next day, at nightfall,
we arrived, after a day of fearful heat, in the neighborhood
of Gaya. The halt was made on the banks of a sacred
river, the Phalgou, well known to pilgrims.

Our two houses were drawn up on a pretty bank, shaded
by fine trees, within a couple of miles of the town. This
place, being extremely curious and interesting, we intended
to remain in it for thirty-six hours, that is to say for two
nights and a day. Starting about four o’clock next morn-
ing, in order .to avoid the midday heat, Banks, Captain
Hood and I left Colonel Munro, and took our way to
the town of Gaya.

It is stated that 150,000 devotees annually visit this center
of Brahminical institutions; and we found every road to
the place was swarming with men, women, old people, and
children, who were advancing from all directions across the
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country, having braved the thousand fatigues of a long pil-
grimage in order to fulfill their religious duties.

We could not have had a better guide than Banks, who
knew the neighborhood well, having previously been on a
survey in Behar, where a railroad was proposed, but not
yet constructed. (g

Just before entering the place, which is appropriately
called the Holy City, Banks stopped us near a sacred tree,
round which pilgrims of every age and sex were bowed in
the attitude of adoration. This tree was a peepul: the girth
of the trunk was enormous; but although many of its
branches were decayed and fallen, it was not more than
two or three hundred years old. This fact was ascertained
by M. Louis Rousselet, two years later, during his interest-
ing journey across the India of the Rajahs.

The “ Tree of Buddha,” as it is called, is the last of a
generation of sacred peepuls, which have for ages over-
shadowed the spot, the first having been planted there five
centuries before the Christian era; and probably the fanatics
kneeling before it believe this to be the original tree con-
secrated there by Buddha. It stands upon a ruined terrace
close to a temple built of brick, and evidently of great an-
tiquity.

The appearance of three Europeans, in the midst of these
swarming thousands of natives, was not regarded favor-
ably. Nothing was said, but we could not reach the terrace,
nor penetrate within the old temple: certainly it would have
been difficult to do so under any circumstances, on account
of the dense masses of pilgrims by whom the way was
blocked up.

“1 wish we could fall in with a Brahmin,” said Banks;
“ we might then inspect the temple, and feel we were doing
the thing thoroughly.”

“What!” cried I, “would a priest be less strict than
his followers?”

“ My dear Maucler,” answered Banks, “ the strictest rules
will give way before the offer of a few rupees! The Brah-
mins must live.”

“I don’t see why they should,” bluntly said Captain
Hood, who never professed toleration toward the Hin-
doos, nor held in respect, as his countrymen generally do,
their manners, customs, prejudices, and objects of venera-
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tion. In his eyes India was nothing but a vast hunting-
ground, and he felt a far deeper interest in the wild in-
habitants of the jungles than in the native population either
of town or country.

After remaining for some time at the foot of the sacred
tree, Banks led us on toward the town of Gaya, the crowd
of pilgrims increasing as we advanced. Very soon, through
a vista of verdure, the picturesque edifices of Gaya appeared
on the summit of a rock.

It is the temple of Vishnu which attracts travelers to this
place. The construction is modern, as it was rebuilt by the
Queen of Holcar only a few years ago. The great curiosity
of this temple is the marks left by Vishnu when he con-
descended to visit earth on purpose to contend with the
demon Maya. The struggle between a god and a fiend could
not long remain doubtful.

Maya succumbed, and a block of stone, visible within the
inclosure of Vishnu-Pad, bears witness, by the deep impress
of his adversary’s footprints, that the demon had to deal
with a formidable foe.

I said the block of stone was “ visible ”; I ought to have
said “visible to Hindoo natives only.” No European is
permitted to gaze upon these divine relics.

Perhaps a more robust faith than is to be found in West-
ern minds may be necessary in order to distinguish these
traces on the miraculous stone. Be that as it may, Banks’s
offer of money failed this time. No priest would accept
what would have been the price of a sacrilege; I dare not
venture to suppose that the sum offered was unequal to the
extent of the Brahminical conscience. Anyhow, we could
not get into the temple.

Captain Hood was furious. He seemed disposed to deal
summarily with the Brahmin who had turned us away.

Banks had to restrain him forcibly.

“ Are you mad, Hood? ” said he. “ Don’t you know that
the Hindoos regard their priests, the Brahmins, not merely
as a race of illustrious descent, but also as beings of alto-
gether superior and supernatural origin? ”

When we reached that part of the river Phalgou which
bathes the rock of Gaya, the prodigious assemblage of pil-
grims lay before us in its full extent. There, in indescribable
confusion, was a heaving, huddling, jostling crowd of men
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and women, old men and children, citizens and peasants, rich
baboos and poor ryots, of every imaginable degree. Some
came in palanquins, others in carriages drawn by large-
humped oxen. Some lie beside their camels, whose snake-
like heads are stretched out on the ground, while many travel
on foot from all parts of India. Here tents are set up; there
carts and wagons are unyoked, and numerous huts made of
branches are prepared as temporary shelter for the crowd.

“What a mob!” exclaimed Captain Hood.

“The water of the Phalgou will not be fit to drink this
evening,” observed Banks.

“ Why not? ” inquired I.

“ Because its waters are sacred, and this unsavory crowd
will go and bathe in them, as they do in the Ganges.”

“ Are we down stream?” cried Hood, pointing toward
our encampment.

“No! don’t be uneasy, captain
ing; “ we are up the river.”

“That’s all right! It would never do to water Behemoth
at an impure fountain!”

We passed on through thousands of natives massed to-
gether in comparatively small space. The ear was struck
by a discordant noise of chains and small bells. It was thus
that mendicants appealed to public charity. Infinitely varied
specimens of this vagrant brotherhood swarmed in all direc-
tions. Most of them displayed false wounds and deform-
ities, but although the professed beggars only pretend to be
sufferers, it is very different with the religious fanatics. In
fact it would be difficult to carry enthusiasm further than
they do.

Some of the fakirs, nearly naked, were covered with
ashes; one had his arm fixed in a painful position by pro-
longed tension; another had kept his hand closed until it
was pierced by the nails of his own fingers.

Some had measured the whole distance of their journey
by the length of their bodies. For hundreds of miles they
had continued incessantly to lie down, rise up, and lie down
again, as though acting the part of a surveyor’s chain.

Here some of the faithful, stupefied with bang (which is
liquid opium mixed with a decoction of hemp), were sus-
pended on branches of trees, by iron hooks plunged into
their shoulders. Hanging thus, they whirled round and

b
!

answered Banks, laugh-
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round until the flesh gave way, and they fell into the waters
of the Phalgou.

Others, in honor of Siva, had pierced their arms, legs, or
tongues through and through with little darts, and made
serpents lick the blood which flowed from the wounds.

Such a spectacle could not be otherwise than repugnant
to a European eye. I was passing on in haste, when Banks
suddenly stopped me, saying, ““ The hour of prayer!”

At the same instant a Brahmin appeared in the midst of
the crowd. He raised his right hand, and pointed toward
the rising sun, hitherto concealed behind the rocks of Gaya.

The first ray darted by the glorious luminary was the
signal. The all but naked crowd entered the sacred waters.
There were simple immersions, as in the early form of
baptism, but these soon changed into water parties of which
it was not easy to perceive the religious character. Per-
haps the initiated, who recited slocas or texts, which for
a given sum the priests dictated to them, thought no more
of the cleansing of their bodies than their souls. The truth
being that after having taken a little water in the hollow
of the hand, and sprinkled it toward the four cardinal points,
they merely threw up a few drops into their faces, like
bathers who amuse themselves on the beach as they enter
the shallow waves. I ought to add besides, that they never
forgot to pull out at least one hair for every sin they had
committed. A good many deserved to come forth bald from
the waters of the Phalgou!

So vehement were the watery gambols of the faithful,
as they plunged hither and thither, that the alligators in
terror fled to the opposite bank. There they remained in a
row, staring with their dull sea-green eyes at the noisy
crowd which had invaded their domain, and making the air
resound with the snapping of their formidable jaws. The
pilgrims paid no more attention to them than if they had
been harmless lizards.

It was time to leave these singular devotees, who were
getting ready to enter Kailas, which is the paradise of
Brahm; so we went up the river and returned to our en-
campment.

It might have been one o’clock the next morning when
I was roused from uneasy slumber by a dull murmuring
sound approaching along the banks of the Phalgou.
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My first idea was, that the atmosphere being charged with
electricity, a storm of wind was rising in the west, which
would displace the strata of air, and perhaps make it more
suitable for respiration. I was mistaken; the branches of
the trees above us remained motionless; not a leaf stirred.

I put my head out at my window and listened. I plainly
heard the distant murmur, but nothing was to be seen. The
surface of the river was calm and placid, and the sound
proceeded neither from the air nor from the water. Al-
though puzzled, I could perceive no cause for alarm, and
returning to bed, fatigue overcame my wakefulness, and I
became drowsy. At intervals I was conscious of the in-
explicable murmuring noise, but finally fell fast asleep.

In about two hours, just as the first rays of dawn broke
through the darkness, I awoke with a start. Some one in
the passage was calling the engineer. ‘‘ Mr. Banks!”

“ What is wanted?”

“Will you come here, sir?”

It was Storr the fireman who spoke to Banks. I rose
immediately, and joined them in the front veranda. Col-
onel Munro was already there, and Captain Hood came
soon after. ““ What’s the matter?”” I heard Banks say.

“ Just you look, sir,” replied Storr.

It was light enough for us to see the river banks and part
of the road which stretched away before us; and to our
great surprise these were encumbered by several hundred
Hindoos, who were lying about in groups.

““ Ah! those are some of the pilgrims we saw yesterday!”
said Captain Hood.

“ But what are they doing here? " said I.

“No doubt,” replied the captain, * they are waiting for
sunrise, that they may perform their ablutions.”

“No such thing,” said Banks; “ why should they leave
Gaya to do that? I suspect they have come here be-
cause——"

“ Because Behemoth has produced his usual effect,” in-
terrupted Captain Hood. “ They heard that a huge great
elephant—a colossus—bigger than the biggest they ever
saw, was in the neighborhood, and of course they came to
admire him.” ‘

“1If they keep to admiration, it will be all very well,”
returned the engineer, shaking his head.
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“ What do you fear, Banks? "’ asked Colonel Munro.

“Well, I am afraid these fanatics may get in the way
and impede our progress.”

“ Be prudent, whatever you do! One cannot act too
cautiously in dealing with such devotees.”

“ Kalouth! ” cried Banks, calling the stoker, “ are the fires
ready?”

“Yes, sir.”

“Well, light up.”

“Yes, light up by all means, Kalouth,” cried Captain
Hood; ““ blaze away, Kalouth; and let Behemoth puff smoke
and steam into the ugly faces of all this rabble!”

It was then half-past three in the morning. It would take
half an hour to .get up steam. The fires were in-
stantly lighted. The wood cracked in the furnaces, and
dense smoke issued from the gigantic trunk of the ele-
phant, which was uplifted high among the boughs of the
great trees.

Several parties of natives approached; then a general
movement took place in the crowd. The people pressed
closer round us. Those in the foremost rank threw up their
arms in the air, stretched them toward the elephant, bowed
down, knelt, cast themselves prostrate on the ground, and
distinctly manifested the most profound adoration.

There we stood beneath the veranda, very anxious to
know what this display of fanaticism would lead to. Mec-
Neil joined us, and looked on in silence. Banks took his
place with Storr in the howdah, from which he could direct
every movement of Behemoth.

By four o’clock steam was up. The noise made by the
engine was, of course, taken by the Hindoos for the angry
trumpeting of an elephant belonging to a supernatural race.
Storr allowed the steam to escape by the valves, and it ap-
peared to issue from the sides and through the skin of the
gigantic quadruped.

“We are at high pressure.”

“ Go ahead, Banks,” returned the colonel; ‘ but be care-
ful ; don’t let us crush anybody.”

It was almost day. The road along the river bank was
occupied by this great crowd of devotees, who seemed to
have no idea of making way for us, so that to go forward

and crush no one was anything but easy. The steam-whistle
V XII Verne
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gave forth two or three short piercing shrieks, to which
the pilgrims replied by frantic howls.

“Clear the way there!” shouted the engineer, telling
the stoker at the same time to open the regulator. The
steam bellowed as it rushed into the cylinders, the wheels
made half a revolution, and a huge jet of white smoke issued
from the trunk.

For an instant the crowd swerved aside. The regulator
was then half open; the trumpeting and snorting of Behe-
moth increased in vehemence, and our train began to ad-
vance between the serried ranks of the natives, who seemed
loath to give place to it.

‘“ Look out, Banks!” T suddenly exclaimed.

I was leaning over the veranda rails, and I beheld a dozen
of these fanatics cast themselves on the road, with the
evident wish to be crushed beneath the wheels of the mon-
strous machine.

‘ Stand back there! Attention!” shouted Colonel Munro,
signing to them to rise.

“ Oh, the idiots! ” cried Captain Hood ; *“ they take us for
the car of Juggernaut! They want to get pounded beneath
the feet of the sacred elephant!”

At a sign from Banks, the fireman shut off steam. The
pilgrims, lying across the road, seemed desirous not to move.
The fanatic crowd around them uttered loud cries, and ap-
peared by their gestures to encourage them to persevere.
The engine was at a standstill. Banks was excessively em-
barrassed.

All at once an idea struck him.

“Now we shall see!” he cried; and turning the tap of
the clearance pipes under the boiler, strong jets of steam
issued forth, and spread along the surface of the ground;
while the air was filled by the shrill, harsh screams of the
whistle.

“Hurrah! hurrah!” shouted Captain Hood. “ Give it
them, Banks! give it them well!”

The method proved successful. As the streams of vapor
reached the fanatics, they sprang up with loud cries of pain.
They were prepared and anxious to be run over, but not
to be scalded.

The crowd drew back. The way was clear. Steam was
put on in good earnest, and the wheels revolved steadily.
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“Forward!” exclaimed Captain Hood, clapping his hands
and laughing heartily.

And at a rapid rate Behemoth took his way along the
road, vanishing in a cloud of vapor, like some mysterious
visitant, from before the eyes of the wondering crowd.

CHAPTER VIII
A FEW HOURS AT BENARES

THE high road now lay open before our Steam House,
a road which, via Sasseram, would lead us along the right
bank of the Ganges, up to Benares.

A mile beyond the encampment our engine slackened its
speed, and we proceeded at the more moderate pace of about
seven miles and a half an hour. It was Banks’s intention
to camp that evening seventy-five miles from Gaya, and to
pass the night quietly in the neighborhood of the little town
of Sasseram.

In general, Indian roads avoid watercourses as much as
possible, for they necessitate bridges, which are very ex-
pensive affairs to erect on that alluvial soil. In many places
where it was found impossible to prevent a river or stream
from barring the path, there is no means of transit except
an ancient and clumsy ferry-boat, of no use for the con-
veyance of our train. Fortunately, however, we were in-
dependent.

We had that very day to cross an important river, the
Sone. This stream is fed above Rhotas by its affluents, the
Coput and the Coyle, and flows into the Ganges just between
Arrah and Dinapore.

Nothing could be easier than our passage. The elephant
took to the water quite naturally. It descended the gentle
slope of the bank straight into the river, rested on the sur-
face, and with its huge feet beating the water like a paddle-
wheel, it quietly drew our floating train to the opposite bank.

Captain Hood could not contain his delight.

“ A traveling house!” he would exclaim, “ a house which
is both a carriage and a steamboat. Now we only need
wings to enable us to fly through the air, and thus to cleave
space.”

“ That will be done some day or other, Hood,” rejoined
the engineer, quite seriously.



180 THE DEMON OF CAWNPORE

“1I believe it, Banks,” answered the captain, no less seri-
ously. “It will be done! But what can’t be done, is that
our life should be given back to us a couple of hundred
years hence to enable us to see all these marvels! Life is
not all sunshine, but yet I would willingly consent to live
ten centuries out of pure curiosity!”

That evening, twelve hours after leaving Gaya, we passed
under the magnificent tubular railway bridge, eighty feet
above the bed of the Sone, and encamped in the environs
of Sasseram. We merely wished to spend a night in this
spot, to replenish our stock of wood and water, and start
again at dawn of day.

This program we carried out, and next morning, before
the burning midday heat began, we were far on our way.

The landscape was still much the same; that is, very rich
and very cultivated. Such it appeared on approaching the
marvelous valley of the Ganges. I will not stop to describe
the numberless villages we passed lying in the midst of ex-
tensive rice-fields, nestling amid groves of palms, inter-
spersed with mangoes and other trees of magnificent growth
and foliage.

We never paused on our way; for even if the road was
blocked by a cart drawn by slow-paced zebus, two or three
shrieks from our whistle caused them to draw on one side,
and we dashed past, to the great amazement of the ryots.

I was delighted and charmed at the sight of a great num-
ber of fields of roses. We were indeed not far distant from
Ghazipore, the great center of production of the water, or
rather essence, made from these flowers.

That evening, having traversed a tolerably level country
between immense fields of poppies and tracts of rice marked
out like a chess-board, we camped on the right bank of the
Ganges, before the ancient Jerusalem of the Hindoos—the
sacred city of Benares.

“ Twenty-four hours’ halt here,” said Banks.

“ At what distance from Calcutta are we now? ” I asked
the engineer.

“ About three hundred and fifty miles,” he replied ; “ and
you acknowledge, my friend, do you not, that we have felt
nothing of the length of the way or the fatigue of the
journey?”

The Ganges! Is not that a name which calls up the most
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poetic legends, and does it not seem as if all India were
summed up in that word? Is there in the world a valley
to be compared to this, extending over a space of fifteen
hundred miles, and containing not less than a hundred mil-
lion inhabitants? Is there a spot on the globe where more
wonders have been heaped up since the appearance of the
Asiatic races?

When we looked out the next morning, the 23d of May,
the rising sun was shining on the sheet of water spread out
before our eyes. Several alligators of great size lay on
the white sand, as if drinking in the early sunlight. Mo-
tionless, they were turned toward the radiant orb, as if they
had been the most faithful votaries of Brahma. But the
sight of several corpses floating by aroused them from their
adoration.

It is said that these bodies float on the back when they
are men, and on the chest when they are women, but from
personal observation I can state that there is no truth in
this statement. In a moment the monsters had darted on
the prey, daily furnished to them on the waters of these
rivers, and with it plunged into the depths.

The Calcutta Railway, before branching off at Allahabad
‘to run toward Delhi, keeps close to the right bank of the
Ganges, although it does not follow the river in all its
numerous windings. At the Mogul-Serai station, from
which we were but a few miles distant, a small branch line
turns off, which passes Benares by crossing the river, and,
passing through the valley of the Goumtie, reaches Jaunpore
at a distance of about thirty-five miles.

Benares lies on the left bank. But it was at Allahabad,
and not here, that we were to cross the Ganges. Our Behe-
moth stood therefore in the encampment we had chosen
on the evening of the 22d of May. Several boats were
moored to the bank, ready to take us across to the sacred
town, which I was very desirous of exploring carefully.

These cities had been so often visited by Colonel Munro
that there was really nothing new to him to learn or see
in this one. He had, however, at first thought of accom-
panying us that day; but on reflection decided to make an
excursion along the banks of the river instead, with Sergeant
McNeil as his companion; so the two quitted Steam House
before we ourselves had started. Captain Hood had at one



182 THE DEMON OF CAWNPORE

time been quartered at Benares, and he was anxious to go
and see a few of his old friends there. Banks and I, there-
fore—the engineer having expressed a wish to be my guide
—were the only members of our party whom a feeling of
curiosity attracted to the city.

“ Benares,” said Banks, “is the most holy city of India.
It is the Hindoo Mecca, and whoever has lived in it, if only
for four-and-twenty hours, is assured of eternal happiness.
One can imagine, then, what an enormous crowd of pilgrims
such a belief would attract thither, and what a great pop-
ulation must reside in a city for which Brahma has reserved
blessings of such importance.”

Benares is supposed to have existed for more than thirty
centuries, and must therefore have been founded about the
time when Troy disappeared. It always exercised a great
influence—not political, but spiritual—over Hindoostan, and
was the authorized center of the Buddhist religion until the
ninth century. A religious revolution then occurred. Brah-
minism destroyed the ancient worship. Benares became the
Brahmin capital, the center of attraction to the faithful, and
it is said that 300,000 pilgrims visit it annually.

The Holy City still has its Rajah. Though he is a stipen-
diary of the British, and his salary is somewhat poor, he is
still a prince, and inhabits a magnificent residence at Ram-
nagur, on the Ganges. He is a veritable descendant of the
kings of Kaci, the ancient name of Benares, but has no real
influence ; though he would console himself for that if his
pension had not been reduced to a lac of rupees, which is
100,000 rupees, or 10,000l., only enough for the pocket-
money of a Nabob in the old times.

Benares, like all towns in the valley of the Ganges, took
part in the great insurrection of 1857. Its garrison was at
this time composed of the 37th regiment of native infantry,
a corps of irregular cavalry, and half a Sikh regiment. The
English troops consisted merely of a half battery of artillery.
This handful of men could not attempt to disarm the native
soldiers. The authorities therefore waited with impatience
for the arrival of Colonel Neil, who set out for Allahabad
with the 10th regiment. Colonel Neil entered Benares with
only two hundred and fifty men, and gave orders for a
parade on the drill-ground.

When all were assembled, the sepoys were told to give
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up their arms. They refused. A fight then ensued between
them and Colonel Neil’s infantry. The irregular cavalry
almost immediately joined the mutineers, as did the Sikhs,
who believed themselves betrayed.

The half battery, however, opened fire on them, and,
notwithstanding that they fought with valor and despera-
tion, all were put to the rout.

This fight took place outside the town. Inside there was
an attempt at insurrection on the part of the Mussul-
mans, who hoisted the green flag, but this was soon quelled.
From that time, and throughout the rest of the revolt,
Benares was troubled no more, even at the time when
the insurrection appeared triumphant in the province of
the west.

These details Banks gave me as our boat glided slowly
over the water of the Ganges.

“ My dear fellow,” he remarked, “ you are now going to
pay your first visit to Benares. But although this city is
so ancient, you must not expect to find in it any monument
more than three hundred years old. Don’t be astonished
at this. It is the consequence of those religious contests in
which fire and sword have played such a lamentable part.
But all the same, Benares is a very remarkable and curious
town, and you will not regret an excursion to it.”

We now stopped our boat at a suitable distance to allow
us to gaze across a bay as blue as that of Naples, at the
picturesque amphitheater of terraced houses and palaces
descending to the water’s edge, some of them projecting
over the river, so that the waves constantly washed their
base and appeared likely some day to undermine them. A
pagoda of Chinese architecture, consecrated to Buddha—
a perfect forest of towers, spires, and minarets—beautified
the city, studded as it is with mosques and temples, the
latter surmounted by the Lingam, one of the symbols of
Siva, while the lofty Mohammedan mosque built by Aurung-
zebe crowned the marvelous panorama.

Instead of disembarking at one of the ghdts, or flights of
stone steps leading from the banks of the river up to the
terraces, Banks directed the boatman to take us first past
the quay.
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